
Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District Five 

Brett Sanders 
V. Chairman, District Four

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 

John B. Wright, Jr. 
District One 

Glenn Davis 
District Two 

Ray Graham 
District Three 

Jimmy Davis 
District Six 

M. Cindy Wilson
District Seven 

Lacey Croegaert 
Clerk to Council 

Rusty Burns 
County Administrator 

AGENDA 
ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING 
Tuesday, August 17, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. 

Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. RESOLUTIONS/PROCLAMATION

a. R2021-035 A resolution to honor and recognize Kathy Hipp as the 2022 South Carolina Superintendent of the
year, and other matters related thereto.

b. R2021-038 A resolution to honor and recognize “The Peoples Bank for 70 years of service to the community,
and other matters related thereto.

c. R2021-039 A resolution to honor and recognize “Skin Hot Dogs for 75 years of service to the community, and
other matters thereto.

3. ADJOURNMENT

AGENDA 
ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 
Tuesday, August 17th  at 6:30 p.m. 

Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

 Anderson, South Carolina 

Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  Hon. Jimmy Davis 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES         July 20, 2021 
        August 3, 2021 Not Received 

4. CITIZENS COMMENTS       Agenda Matters Only 

5. SPECIAL PRESENTATION
a. Upstate SC Alliance  2021 Update “Slide presentation “ John Lummus   (allotted 10 minutes) 



Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, August 17, 2021 
Page 2 

6. ORDINANCE THIRD READING

a. 2021-046 An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement by and between
Anderson County, South Carolina and Plastic Omnium Auto Exteriors, LLC with respect to certain economic
development property in the county, whereby such property will be subject to certain payments in lieu of taxes,
including the provision of certain special source credits; and other matters related thereto. (Project Polly)
(PUBLIC HEARING-THREE MINUTE LIMIT)

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

b. 2021-050 An Ordinance authorizing a fee-in-lieu-of-tax arrangement on behalf of Top Edge Components, LLC
(the “Company”) pursuant to a fee-in-lieu-of-tax agreement between Anderson County, South Carolina (the
“County”) and the company; authorizing a 5-year extension of the investment period for all investments over the
minimum investment requirement; authorizing the granting of certain infrastructure credits to the company;
authorizing the creation of a joint county industrial and business park with Greenville County; and other matters
relating to the foregoing. (Project New)  (PUBLIC HEARING-THREE MINUTE LIMIT)

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

c. 2021-032 An ordinance to amend the zoning map to rezone +/- 1.03 acres from R-20 (Single-Family Residential)
to R-D (Residential Duplex) located at Jackson Circle. TMS#46-00-02-002 (Lot 1-A & Lot 2-A). (Council District
4) (PUBLIC HEARING — THREE (3) MINUTE TIME LIMIT)

Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

d. 2021-033 An ordinance to amend the zoning map to rezone +/- 1.25 acres from R-20 (Single-Family Residential)
to R-D (Residential Duplex) located at Jackson Circle. TMS#46-00-02-026 & -027. (Council District 4) (PUBLIC
HEARING — THREE (3) MINUTE TIME LIMIT)

Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

e. 2021-034 An ordinance to amend the zoning map to rezone +/- 1.08 acres from C-2 (Highway Commercial
District) to S-1 (Services District) located at 104 & 106 Chippewa Ln, Williamston. TMS#220-06-01-003, -004.
(Council District 7) (PUBLIC HEARING — THREE (3) MINUTE TIME LIMIT)

Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

f. 2021-035 An ordinance to amend the zoning map to rezone +/- 18.07 acres from PD (Planned Development) &
R-20 (Single-Family Residential) to R-A (Residential Agriculture) located at 702 Belton Hwy, Williamston.
TMS#222-00-03-007, 221-00-09-042, & 221-00-09-043. (Council District 7) (PUBLIC HEARING — THREE
(3) MINUTE TIME LIMIT)

Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

g. 2021-036 An ordinance to amend section 38-311 (e), section 38-313(3), and section 38-314(d) of the Code of
Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina so as to update the stormwater provisions of these ordinances; and
other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING — THREE (3) MINUTE TIME LIMIT)

Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 

h. 2021-031 An Ordinance to amend Section 38-353 of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina
so as to amend Section 38-353(a) and add a new Section 38-353(d) regarding private road standards; and other
matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING — THREE (3) MINUTE TIME LIMIT)

Hon. Jimmy Davis (allotted 5 minutes) 

i. 2021-029 An Ordinance authorizing pursuant to Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976,
as amended, the execution and delivery of one or more incentive agreements, by and between Anderson County,
South Carolina and Hartwell Solar, LLC (formerly identified by the county as Project Mullet), as sponsor, and one
or more existing or to-be-formed or acquired subsidiaries, or affiliated or related entities and certain sponsor



Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, August 17, 2021 
Page 3 

affiliates, to provide for a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes incentive and certain special source revenue credits; 
authorizing the expansion of the boundaries of a multi county park to include the project; to enter into any other 
necessary agreements with the sponsor to effect the intent of this ordinance; and other related matters. (PUBLIC 
HEARING-THREE (3) MINUTE TIME LIMIT)(PUBLIC HEARING-THREE (3) MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

7. ORDINANCE SECOND READING

a. 2021-039 An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted July
20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 11.23 acres from I-2 (Industrial
District) to S-1 (Services District) on a parcel of land on Welpine Rd, in the Denver-Sandy Springs Precinct shown
in Deed Book 14951 page 58. The parcel is further identified as TMS #93-00-04-004. (PUBLIC HEARING-
THREE MINUTE LIMIT)

Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

b. 2021-038 An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted July
20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 136.83 acres from R-20 (Single-
Family Residential) to IZD (Innovative Zoning District) on three parcels of land in the Mt. Tabor Precinct shown
in Deed Book 11262, 11262, and 12920 page 00024, 00024, and 00087 respectively; and including the Statement
of Intent for “Cornerstone” dated April 30, 2021. The parcels are further identified as TMS #043-00-01-006, 043-
00-01-020 and 043-00-11-021. (PUBLIC HEARING-THREE MINUTE LIMIT)

Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

c. 2021-037An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted July
20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 2.193 acres from C-1N
(Neighborhood Commercial) to R-20 (Single-Family Residential) on a parcel of land, identified as Tract 1-B Bowen 
Rd in the Hopewell Precinct shown in Deed Book S2763 page 00006. . The parcel is further identified as part of
TMS #145-07-01-010. (PUBLIC HEARING-THREE MINUTE LIMIT)

Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

8. ORDINANCE FIRST READING

a. 2021-051 An ordinance to amend the agreement for development of a joint county industrial and business park
by and between Greenville county and Anderson county, South Carolina, so as to include additional property in
Greenville County as part of the joint county industrial and business park, and other matters relating thereto.

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

b. 2021-052 An Ordinance authorizing a fee-in-lieu-of-tax arrangement on behalf of Project Woodmont (The
“Company”) pursuant to a fee-in-lieu-of-tax agreement between Anderson County, South Carolina (The  “County”)
and the company; authorizing a 5-year extension of the investment period for all investments or  the minimum
investment requirement; authorizing the granting of certain infrastructure credits to the company; and other matters
relating to the foregoing. (TITLE ONLY)

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

9. RESOLUTIONS:

a. R2021-040  Resolution to name Janie L. Turmon as Assistant Clerk to County Council to serve during
the absence of the Clerk to Council; and other matters related thereto.

10. ROAD ACCEPTANCE
a. Estateside Drive



Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, August 17, 2021 
Page 4 

11. BID APPROVAL
a. Wellington Park

12. EXECUTIVE SESSION
Legal advice regarding EMS contracts with MedShore Ambulance Services, LLC and AnMed Health
Council Action following Executive Session

13. APPOINTMENTS: None

14. REQUESTS BY COUNCIL
a. CESA Tri County---District #6
b. Friends of Broadway Lake –District #2
c. Town of West Pelzer---District #7

15. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT
a. Buildings and Codes
b. Special Projects
c. Transfers 
d. Paving

16. CITIZENS COMMENTS  Non-Agenda Matters 

17. REMARKS FROM COUNCIL

18. ADJOURNMENT

Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a 
modification of policies or procedures in order to participate in this program, service 

or activity please contact the office of the program, service or activity as soon as 
possible but no later than 24 hours before the scheduled event. For assistance, please 

contact the Clerk to Council at (864) 260-1036. 



RESOLUTION R2021-035 

A RESOLUTION TO HONOR AND RECOGNIZE KATHY HIPP AS THE 2022 SOUTH 
CAROLINA SUPERINTENDENT OF THE YEAR, AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO 

WHEREAS, Kathy Hipp has served as the Superintendent of Anderson School District Three since 2016 and 
has served the district for thirty-three years; and,  

WHEREAS, prior to being named superintendent, Mrs. Hipp served as a biology teacher, coach, guidance 
counselor, director, and administrator; and,   

WHEREAS, during her tenure as superintendent, the district adopted a penny sales tax which has funded 
projects such as the Anderson Institute of Technology, new athletic facilities, an FFA arena, and the district’s 
1 to 1 technology initiative; and, 

WHEREAS, under her leadership the district participated in the state’s eLearning pilot program, developed 
an integrated STEM program serving K5 through 8th grade, and expanded its Fine Arts program; and, 

WHEREAS, thanks largely to her efforts, Anderson School District Three is currently ranked 7th out of 83 
school districts in South Carolina; and, 

WHEREAS, Mrs. Hipp is an inductee of the Crescent High School Athletic Hall of Fame, an active member 
of the SCASA Superintendents’ Affiliate, and a participant in the Center for Executive Education Leadership 
(CEEL) Superintendents’ Program.  

WHEREAS, among her many accomplishments as superintendent are the expansion of technology in the 
classroom as well as the district’s overall capacity for technology-based teaching; and 

WHEREAS, in July 2021 Mrs. Hipp was named the 2022 South Carolina State Superintendent of the year by 
the South Carolina Association of School Administration (SCASA); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson County Council recognizes and honors 
Kathy Hipp for her passionate service to the children and families of our community. We appreciate your 
dedication, leadership, and personal commitment to our youth, and we celebrate your distinction 
as the South Carolina State Superintendent of the Year.    

RESOLVED in a meeting duly assembled this 17th day of August, 2021. 

FOR ANDERSON COUNTY    ATTEST 

____________________ ____________________ 
Tommy Dunn    Rusty Burns 
County Council District Five         County Administrator 

_______________________              ____________________ 
Ray Graham               Seth A. Riddley 
County Council District Three       Assistant Clerk to Council 



RESOLUTION R2021-038 

A RESOLUTION TO HONOR AND RECOGNIZE THE PEOPLES BANK ON THEIR  70th 
ANNIVERSARY OF SERVING THE LOCAL COMMUNITIES OF ANDERSON COUNTY,  

       SOUTH CAROLINA; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

WHEREAS, the Peoples Bank is a locally owned and operated financial institution providing complete 
financial services and products to Anderson County, SC, and the surrounding areas; and, 

WHEREAS, the Peoples Bank opened for business in 1951 in a one-story building located on Broad Street in 
downtown Iva, South Carolina; and,  

WHEREAS, in 1965, the bank purchased and renovated the old post office building in Iva. The building was 
later donated to the Iva Civic Center Improvement Association and is now the location of the Iva Museum; 
and,  

WHEREAS, in the Bicentennial Year of 1976, the bank constructed a new office building that continues to 
serve as a centerpiece in downtown Iva. The Peoples Bank main office is still located here and is home to over 
20 employees; and,  

WHEREAS, in 1981, The Peoples Bank expanded its services within Anderson County by opening a branch 
office in Anderson, South Carolina. Currently, the bank has seven full-service banking office locations in 
Anderson County; and, 

WHEREAS, in 2019, The Peoples Bank received the 2019 Small Business of the Year Award; and,       

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson County Council recognizes The Peoples 
Bank for providing 70 years of dedicated service to the local communities of Anderson County. We are 
appreciative of your contributions and willingness to serve the needs of our local citizens and business 
communities.  

RESOLVED in a meeting duly assembled this 17th day of August, 2021. 

FOR ANDERSON COUNTY ATTEST 

____________________ ____________________ 
Tommy Dunn    Rusty Burns 
County Council District Five         County Administrator 

_______________________         ____________________ 
Ray Graham               Seth A. Riddley 
County Council District Three       Assistant Clerk to Council 



       RESOLUTION R2021-039 

             A RESOLUTION TO HONOR AND CELEBRATE SKINS HOT DOGS ON THE   
             OCCASION OF THEIR 75th ANNIVERSARY; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
             THERETO. 

WHEREAS, Skins Hot Dogs was established in 1946 in Anderson, South Carolina by Loyd “Skin” Thrasher 
in a “pool hall” environment serving many different short-order meals. As time passed hot dogs were the item 
of choice for Skin’s patrons and the mill town folks’ so Skin decided to get rid of the pool tables and 
concentrate only on hotdogs; and,  

WHEREAS, by the 1980s Skins built a reputation across upstate South Carolina and in other states across the 
southeast. News outlets begin spreading the word about the tiny house hidden in the heart of Anderson. The 
Atlanta Journal, Charlotte Observer, Greenville News, Anderson Independent all told the tale of “Skin 
Thrashers Café” that is now referred to as “The Original”; and,  

WHEREAS, in 1985 Skin Thrasher hung up his apron and passed the business on to his two sons and a son-
in-law; and,  

WHEREAS, in 1988 Skins opened a second location on Clemson Boulevard in Anderson, South Carolina; 
and, 

WHEREAS, in the 1990s Skins expanded operations into Seneca, Clemson, Easley, Mauldin, and 28 bypass 
in Anderson. In 2000, Skins stepped into Greenville, South Carolina adding stores on Pelham Road and Mills 
Avenue. In 2006 Skins opened a new location in the Hopewell Community on Highway81in Anderson, and 
an additional location in Greenville on Congaree Road in 2012; and,    

WHEREAS, National Public Radio proclaimed Skins’ as one of the top 10 hotdogs in America. They were 
even invited to participate in a Washington, DC “Taste of the South” charity fundraiser with other nationally 
acclaimed restaurants; and, 

WHEREAS, Skins currently has 11 locations across the Upstate who continue to carry on the deep tradition 
of giving each customer quality service, a quality hotdog, and a clean environment- all for a reasonable family 
price; and,  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson County Council commends Skins Hot dogs 
for providing 75 years of quality service to the citizens of Anderson County. We are appreciative of your 
commitment to being a good neighbor in our restaurant community and preparing the best hot dog in 
Anderson County and the Carolinas.  

RESOLVED in a meeting duly assembled this 17th day of August, 2021. 

FOR ANDERSON COUNTY ATTEST 

____________________ ____________________ 
Tommy Dunn               Rusty Burns 
County Council District Five         County Administrator 

___________________         ____________________ 
Glenn Davis       Seth A. Riddley 
County Council District Two      Assistant Clerk to Council 



State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL
 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING

JULY 20, 2021

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
RAY GRAHAM
BRETT SANDERS
JOHN WRIGHT
CINDY WILSON
JIMMY DAVIS
GLENN DAVIS

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
SETH RIDDLEY
JANIE TURMON
    



Anderson County Council - County  Council Meeting - July 20, 2021
2

1 TOMMY DUNN:  At this time I would like
2 to call the special presentation meeting of July 20,
3 2021 to order.  I’d like to welcome each and every one
4 of you here today.  Thank y’all for coming out.  
5 First order of business is resolutions/
6 proclamations, 2(a), R2021-032.  Chairman Graham.
7 RAY GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
8 I bring this in the form of a resolution, R2021-
9 032:
10 A RESOLUTION TO HONOR AND RECOGNIZE THE CRESCENT
11 HIGH SCHOOL ANGLERS FOR THEIR RECENT EXTRAORDINARY
12 ACCOMPLISHMENTS; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.
13 WHEREAS, the Crescent High School Anglers were
14 established in 2013 as one of the first school teams in
15 the region and has grown to 20 middle school and high
16 school anglers from across the County, having competed
17 in the TBF World Finals in Wisconsin, the BASS National
18 Championships, and other events in and out of South
19 Carolina, in doing so helping pioneer what has become a
20 rapidly growing school sport across the country; and
21 WHEREAS, three teams from Crescent competed in the
22 2021 World Finals, which took place here in Anderson
23 County on Lake Hartwell, the pairing of team members
24 Lane Clark and Anna Kay being the top team from
25 Crescent; and
26  WHEREAS, Lane Clark and Anna Kay won the 2021 High
27 School World Finals Top Co-Ed Team and a scholarship of
28 $80,000 to Kentucky Christian University, and, as a
29 result, Ms. Kay also won the 2021 TBF World Finals
30 Top Female Angler and a scholarship to Simpson
31 University in Redding, California.
32 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson
33 County Council hereby congratulates the Crescent High
34 School Anglers team members and coaches for their
35 recent successes, expresses the community’s pride in
36 their accomplishments, and thanks them for representing
37 Anderson County so well on the national and
38 international stage.
39 LET THIS BE RESOLVED in a meeting duly assembled
40 this 20th day of July, 2021.
41 Mr. Chairman, I bring this in the form of a motion.
42 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
43 TOMMY DUNN:  Have a motion by Mr.
44 Graham; second Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  Any at
45 all?  I’d just like to say also on behalf of council, I
46 want to congratulate y’all and wish y’all much, much
47 more success.  Hope y’all do good.  And thank y’all for
48 representing not only Crescent High School, but also
49 Anderson County and doing an outstanding job.  Thank
50 you very, very much.  Anyone else?  All in favor of the



Anderson County Council - County  Council Meeting - July 20, 2021
3

1 motion show of hands.  Opposed like sign.  Show the
2 motion carries unanimously.
3 Mr. Graham.
4 RAY GRAHAM:  Mr. Chairman, if I could
5 get these two individuals to come up front and let us
6 recognize them.  And ask council to come forward.
7 PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION
8 ANNA KAY:    We’re super thankful for
9 Green Pond Landing and everything Anderson County has
10 done out there.  
11 APPLAUSE
12 RAY GRAHAM:  Great job, guys.  Thank
13 y’all so much.
14 TOMMY DUNN:  And this concludes this
15 part of our council meeting, the presentations.  We’ll
16 adjourn and reconvene back here at six thirty to start
17 our regular Anderson County council meeting. 
18
19 (SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING ADJOURNED AT 6:05 P.M.)



4

State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL
 

COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING

JULY 20, 2021

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
RAY GRAHAM
BRETT SANDERS
JOHN WRIGHT
CINDY WILSON
GLENN DAVIS
JIMMY DAVIS

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
SETH RIDDLEY
JANIE TURMON



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
5

1 (NOTE FROM TRANSCRIPTIONIST - THE BEGINNING OF THESE
2 MINUTES THROUGH SPEAKER MEREDITH TESKE WERE TRANSCRIBED
3 FROM THE NEWS MEDIA’S AUDIO, MUCH OF WHICH WAS VERY
4 DIFFICULT TO UNDERSTAND, SO MANY PARTS WERE
5 UNINTELLIGIBLE AND ARE NOTED IN THE MINUTES AS SUCH)
6
7 TOMMY DUNN:  At this time I’d like to
8 call the county council meeting of July 20th to order. 
9 I’d like to welcome each and every one of you here. 
10 Thank y’all for coming to participate in your local
11 government.  
12 At this time all rise for invocation and pledge of
13 allegiance, please.
14 INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE BY TOMMY DUNN
15 TOMMY DUNN:  Couple of housekeeping
16 matters before we get started.  I’d like to welcome our
17 clerk to council, Ms. Janie L. Turmon.
18 JANIE TURMON:  Turmon.
19 TOMMY DUNN:  Turmon.  Like to welcome
20 her aboard.  She’s already doing a fine job for us as
21 clerk to council.  Appreciate her very much and the job
22 she’s doing.
23 Also, I want to let everyone know, all the third
24 readings, 8(a) down to (g), none of the third readings
25 will be acted on tonight.  We advertised those to be
26 done at the courthouse and to keep everything
27 aboveboard, when we moved the meeting here, we want to
28 make sure everybody that’s coming can be here, so no
29 third readings will be voted on tonight.  That’ll be
30 done at our next -- at our second meeting in August to
31 give time on that.
32 Now, moving on to item number 3, approval of
33 minutes of June 14, 2021 council meeting.  Are there
34 any corrections to be made?  If there’s no corrections
35 to be made, do we have a motion to move this forward?
36 RAY GRAHAM:  So moved.
37 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Mr. Graham.  Have
38 a second?
39 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Sanders.  All
41 in favor of the motion raise your hands.  Opposed like
42 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
43 Moving on now to item number 4, citizens comments. 
44 When Mr. Harmon calls your name, step forward to the
45 mic there and for the record state your name and
46 district.  Address the chair.  You’ve got three
47 minutes.  And this is a county council meeting.  I want
48 to be perfectly clear about that.  It’s not a town hall
49 meeting.  So there ain’t going to be no back and forth
50 and no questions.  The time for that is not at a



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
6

1 council meeting.  This is a council meeting.  Make your
2 statements, feel free.  And if you’ve got questions
3 when it comes time for discussion on that item or at
4 the end of council meeting, the council member has the
5 right to answer that.  And please, again, direct the
6 chair.  Mr. Harmon.
7 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chair, first speaker
8 is Rita Gable.
9 TOMMY DUNN:  Ms. Gable.
10 RITA GABLE:  My name is Rita Gable.  I
11 was born and raised here in Anderson County, Iva
12 specifically.  On January the 14th, I had the
13 opportunity to hear Greg Shore on his phone at the
14 Corner Bagel and Deli.  I had not intended to speak at
15 this meeting until I recollected hearing a telephone
16 conversation, I felt it my duty to do so.
17 What Greg said about this issue, he said it was
18 political.  I have to inform him and all of you that
19 while this may be political to you, it’s personal to
20 me.  And I guarantee you that most of the people in
21 this room feel the same way.  I take the opportunity to
22 speak on professionalism or lack thereof of MedShore.  
23 My mom, Hazel Gable, several years ago had to be
24 transfer from AnMed Hospital to the AnMed Rehab
25 Facility.  And I drove my car and timed.  When I
26 arrived at the facility, MedShore put my mom on a
27 stretcher, put her chart on her pillow and left her in
28 the hall.  I went to the nurse’s station to find out
29 why my mother wasn’t in a room and they didn’t even
30 know she had arrived.  However, when I told the nurse
31 that MedShore had been the transport, they said they
32 weren’t surprised.  This is just one instance of my
33 family’s experience with MedShore.  
34 We began to ask that MedShore not transport my
35 mother anymore and that only our rescue squad for
36 either one of us.  When patients are transported during
37 critical times the family expects the transport service
38 to do their job.  Based on my experience with MedShore,
39 I don’t think Iva and Starr communities will get the
40 service that we get from Iva Rescue Squad.  This, of
41 course, is based on my family’s past experience with
42 MedShore.  
43 For those of you on this council who think this is
44 the type service a community should receive, I can tell
45 you it’s not.  As I said, I was born and raised here
46 and until recently I lived in Atlanta.  I worked and
47 trained at AnMed Hospital and I met Greg Shore from his
48 early days.  It is no surprise to me that patients are
49 treated the way my mom was by members of this
50 organization.  I can assure you that if HIPAA standards



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
7

1 that we have today were in place at the time of my
2 training at Anderson Hospital, Mr. Shore’s business may
3 have turned out differently.  If this county determines
4 that it will go with his proposal, then I would suggest
5 that terms, subjective terms need to be defined; such
6 as acceptable and/or good.  Penalties needs to be
7 applied when time lines are missed, and there needs to
8 be a period to define that if certain parameters are
9 not met, the contract becomes null and void. 
10 I thank you for taking time to hear my concerns and
11 ask that you take into account all the issues involved
12 in this decision.  Let’s not make a hasty and political
13 decision about something that is so important.  Thank
14 you.
15 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Harmon.
16 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Kathy
17 Nichols.
18 KATHY NICHOLS:  Hello.  My name is Kathy
19 Nichols.  I’m not as well versed as she is, but I’m
20 from Iva also.  And we are very, very upset about even
21 hearing that someone else is going to take over for our
22 rescue squad.  The news of losing it has just deeply
23 upset me and a lot of our Iva citizens that can’t be
24 here this evening.
25 Most of Iva is made up of senior citizens, as you
26 well know, and we need our rescue squad.  It makes no
27 common sense to me or all the people that I’ve
28 discussed this with tonight that MedShore could
29 possibly make it to Iva to some of the places on the
30 outskirts faster than our own rescue squad that knows
31 every road, every back road in our town.  We don’t use
32 it as a taxi.  If we had to call we are already in the
33 street.  And we cannot wait thirty to forty-five
34 minutes or maybe an hour for help.  What are you going
35 to say to us when one of our spouses pass away waiting
36 on MedShore to tell me how this is -- I need you to
37 tell me how you think this is fair.  Because I can’t
38 see it.  And to wait for someone else to make the
39 decision whether we need a paramedic or what.  Because
40 my husband is in bad shape.  I’m not in very good
41 health.  I know a lot of people that are the same way. 
42 And when we need help, we need help.  And they’re
43 there.  I drove a bus, and I was an assistant on a bus,
44 and if it hadn’t been for Iva, if we had to wait on
45 someone from MedShore to find their way down there or
46 find one of the little streets in our little town, that
47 man would have died right there in his wheelchair.  And
48 he was right in front of me and his granddaughter.  But
49 we need the Iva Rescue Squad.  
50 And I just want to know how you can save money when



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
8

1 you have to update equipment by seven teams, more
2 ambulances, hire more drivers.  You know, why can’t you
3 just spend that money to update Iva?  You know, why
4 don’t you just spend it and pay for them to get
5 updated?  It seems to us that you are more interested
6 in saving a dollar than saving lives.  And that’s
7 exactly how Iva is feeling right now.  And if someone
8 passes away, I want to know who I can hold responsible,
9 because honey, I will.  I will.  Because the people in
10 our town, we love each other and we care about each
11 other.  And we do what we can for each other.  And you
12 shouldn’t take our rescue squad away from us.  I feel
13 very strongly about this.  
14 I want to know -- Ray, you’re our council person,
15 and you should be voting for the town of Iva because we
16 put you there.  And you should be voting for what Iva
17 wants ---
18 APPLAUSE
19 KATHY NICHOLS:  --- not ---
20 LEON HARMON:  That’s time, Mr.
21 Chairman.
22 TOMMY DUNN:  Next.
23 LEON HARMON:  Next is Teresa Morgan.
24 TERESA MORGAN:  Good evening.  My name is
25 Teresa Locke Morgan.  I live in Ms. Wilson’s district
26 and have for most of my life.  My family has been in
27 the Belton Community for hundreds of years.  And we
28 have been very dedicated to the citizens of our
29 community.  My family -- my daddy was on the Board of
30 Directors for the fire department in Belton.  I’ve been
31 on the Board of Director for the EMS Commission since
32 1991 before I became the Commissioner for Anderson
33 County.  Ms. Wilson appointed me.  And the
34 (unintelligible) I think it was.  And I want y’all to
35 understand something.  You get out there on the fence. 
36 (Unintelligible).  I have worked my fanny off. 
37 Physically.  This is because I was lifting patients for
38 years.  I tore my rotator cuff and my (unintelligible). 
39 I spent five months in therapy.  Because that’s how
40 much I love people.  Apparently some of y’all don’t.
41 But also, in between all this, (unintelligible)
42 said on the radio this morning, 2016 y’all did some
43 kind of study.  I was on the board for the EMS
44 Commission in 2016.  The chairman.  I knew nothing
45 about it.  Mr. Graham, can you explain that to me? 
46 When it’s time for you to talk.  But I was not notified
47 nor was any of the commission.  I challenged you a
48 couple of years ago, I said, if you don’t need the
49 commission to be an oversight to what you’re doing, get
50 rid of us.  We maybe showed up at one committee meeting



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
9

1 because he never came back and gave us any direction.  
2 February, this past year, the subcommittee was
3 formed.  Nobody -- I was still the chairman in February
4 of the EMS Commission.  I was never notified, nor were
5 any of the other commissioners because I checked with
6 them.  And now we’re here.  We have been already been
7 dissolved.  And do y’all want to know how I found out? 
8 I came to a county council meeting, the first one at
9 the back of the courthouse, and I was told in that
10 meeting, which I came for a different reason, trying to
11 help the county, I was told that that committee, we
12 were just dissolved.  And now you’re going to trust the
13 people that have chosen to do this to our county? 
14 You’re going to trust them?  You’re going to trust
15 yourselves to make the wrong decision tonight?  You
16 better not.  All you can do to save face is -- because
17 none of y’all are intelligent enough, excuse my
18 language ---
19 LEON HARMON:  Time, Mr. Chairman.
20 TOMMY DUNN:  Next, please.
21 TERESA MORGAN:  Thank you.
22 APPLAUSE
23 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Dan
24 Durham.
25 DAN DURHAM:  Thank you for hearing us. 
26 My name is Dan Durham.  I live at 131 Gambrell Road. 
27 We were told at one of the Safety Committee meeting
28 that this thing was based on a program that was put
29 together comparing us to New Castle County, Delaware. 
30 I never have been there.  I did look it up to see.  If
31 we start comparing, New Castle County is the third
32 smallest one with capacity.  New Castle County is the
33 highest populated, less ground space than any of the
34 three counties in Delaware.  There’s only three
35 counties in the state.  This would include Wilmington,
36 Delaware.  Wilmington, Delaware’s headquarters
37 (unintelligible).  Wilmington, Delaware is the county
38 seat, but it’s also headquarters for Astra Zenica, a
39 major pharmaceutical corporation which just gave you
40 your COVID virus immunization.  It’s got more people
41 than the other two counties combined.  Land mass, if
42 you compare Anderson County to that particular county,
43 Anderson County has got seven hundred and fifteen
44 square miles.  New Castle County has got four ninety-
45 four.  Population density in Anderson County, two
46 hundred and sixty-two per square mile.  Eleven hundred
47 and thirty-one in New Castle County.  Population in
48 Anderson County is two oh two five fifty-eight. 
49 Population in New Castle County, five five eight seven
50 three.  Over sixty-five population, Anderson County,



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
10

1 18.3 percent.  New Castle County, 16.1.  
2 I’ve been on the board for Pelzer since, oh, the
3 turn of the century, and have seen a lot of
4 improvements after my beginning on this board.  We
5 started looking around, particularly after we had lost
6 his wife of one of our board members, we realized it
7 was too far for us to drive from Pelzer to West Church
8 Road, which was one of our sites.  We set about on our
9 own mission to find a substation, a location for it. 
10 We found it.  We purchased it.  We equipped it.  We
11 staffed it with a full time crew.  At Pelzer’s expense. 
12 No income from the county on that.  We ran it that way
13 for six years before we ever got anything from the
14 county.  
15 During that time we got a call from Gerald Shealy
16 one Friday afternoon at two o’clock that they needed to
17 have an ambulance fully staffed at Powdersville at six
18 o’clock that evening to assume the Powdersville
19 responsibility because that squad had placement.  We
20 did that.  We (unintelligible).  We finally found a
21 place to house us.  We purchased a place there to
22 physically locate our services ---
23 LEON HARMON:  Time, Mr. Chairman.
24 DAN DURHAM:  Anyhow, I’m not willing
25 to risk it.
26 TOMMY DUNN:  Next.
27 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Meredith
28 Teske.
29 MEREDITH TESKE:  Meredith Teske.  I’m the
30 Director of Belton EMS.  
31 My name is Meredith Teske and I’ve been at Belton
32 EMS since 1999, and I am currently the chief there.  I
33 am here to speak tonight on our position of the new
34 proposed EMS system.  The new system is supposed to
35 save the county, mind you on paper.  However, this
36 involves taking the (unintelligible).  It’s like taking
37 on (unintelligible) as a single of a poker game.  If it
38 works, great.  If it doesn’t, who loses?  The citizens
39 of Anderson County are going to lose in this deal. 
40 It’s their right to save.  It’s my family’s right to
41 save.  My friends.  Your loved ones.  Even more risky
42 to replace an EMS system that has worked for over fifty
43 plus years.  At least in the rescue squad area.  This
44 proposal (unintelligible) with problems throughout the
45 whole county.  Priority Ambulance Service is a
46 nationally and locally doing business as MedShore has
47 been having problems.  
48 For example, it appeared in an editorial in
49 Colorado Springs, Colorado newspaper, local officials
50 had concerns with the idea of doing business with



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
11

1 Priority Ambulance Service because CEOs have been
2 employed of Priority and have been associated with a
3 company that (unintelligible) to contract with
4 municipalities that have proven too good to be true. 
5 Some of the mentioned municipalities were left without
6 coverage when companies providing for the covered areas
7 were closed with no warning.  
8 In Bamberg, South Carolina, where MedShore had the
9 contract for 911 service, the newspaper article
10 appeared in the local paper earlier this year where
11 elected officials had concerns with the service that
12 they were receiving from MedShore.  The article stated
13 that some councilmen had concerns of response times
14 that MedShore was providing.  Even right here in
15 Anderson County the issues have been present.  
16 During a Public Safety Committee meeting in
17 December of 2019, it was noted that the county had been
18 very lenient with MedShore’s slow response times and
19 inability to respond.  Additionally, MedShore has a
20 history of having a (unintelligible) to this county for
21 providing EMS coverage.  In the minutes of the August
22 14, 2020 Public Safety Committee meeting, it was noted
23 that MedShore had given their contract that they had
24 entered back to Anderson County.  Priorities don’t stop
25 there.  If you listen to the Anderson County dispatch
26 on any given day, you will find that the county rescue
27 squads responding to the areas covered by MedShore
28 because they don’t have the units to respond.  
29 During a Public Safety Meeting in December of ‘16,
30 Mr. Dunn, you were quoted as saying, we’ve got a bad
31 misunderstanding here if we think Belton should be
32 covering the city of Anderson.  They shouldn’t have to
33 be.  How did you come to Belton -- how did Belton come
34 to the city to answer calls, we have a problem.  That
35 was you, Mr. Dunn.  
36 Mr. Dunn, other council, you do have a problem. 
37 Your problem ---
38 LEON HARMON:  Time, Mr. Chairman.
39 TOMMY DUNN:  Move on.
40 APPLAUSE 
41 SANDY SUTHERLAND:  I’m a member of -- I’m
42 Sandy Sutherland and I am not only a chief -- I’m going
43 to try to not get emotional -- chief of our Iva Rescue
44 Squad, but I’m a resident of Anderson County.  
45 During the bid process, all the bidders were told
46 that no communications could be taking place with any
47 representative of Anderson County or other -- Mr.
48 Robert Carroll, specifically.
49 Now, the RFP says, I quote the proposal agreement
50 that this agreement follows.  The issues of



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
12

1 solicitation prior to the final award of the contract,
2 the proposal shall not discuss this procurement with
3 any party except the contract officer.  Proposals shall
4 not attempt to negotiate with any other parties and are
5 not to discuss any aspect of the procurement without
6 prior written approval from the county officer.  End of
7 quote.  
8 My question is how did MedShore Ambulance Service
9 know the county would be willing to allow a proposal to
10 submit for a bill for this level of service only if the
11 communication did not take place with the county
12 officials violating the RFP.  If the county is willing
13 to set a proposal for BLS level ambulance system, the
14 information was not relayed to all the bidders.  This
15 also violates the language of the RFP.  Specifically
16 the RFP required that, I quote, any information given
17 for professionally proposed about the lease station and
18 shall prompt finish to other proposal -- proposal
19 amendment.  End of quote.  
20 Apparently behind-the-scenes communications took
21 place between the county office and MedShore
22 representative because no one else in the county wasn’t
23 able to bid the BLS ambulance service with Anderson
24 County and provide ALS and QRVs.  This information that
25 was not given to other bidders provided MedShore an
26 advantage during the bid process.  The result, their
27 bid being lower than anybody in the bid.  
28 I’ve lived in Iva all my life and Iva Rescue Square
29 is much more than a business.  It’s much more than an
30 ambulance service.  Now people out there clapping their
31 hands, them are the people that we help.  Them are the
32 people that come to knock on our door and tell us they
33 need help.  Not to save a life all the time.  Put eye
34 drops in their eyes, might need help putting a smoke
35 detector up.  I locked myself out.  I’m a diabetic. 
36 Them are the people that you’re going to hurt.  You
37 know, we’ll find a job, but the people in our counties
38 is the ones you’re going to hurt.  And I hope and I
39 pray, and there’s a lot of people praying, that y’all
40 will make the right choice and right decision.
41 APPLAUSE
42 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Harmon.
43 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Robert
44 Brown.
45 ROBERT BROWN:   Good afternoon, Mr.
46 Chairman, county council.  I’m Robert Brown.  Been in
47 EMS forty-two years.  
48 One of the reasons given for a new EMS system is
49 that it potentially saves the county three million
50 dollars.  I don’t think everyone is being told the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
13

1 whole story.  We’ve heard that MedShore will be
2 receiving 1.9 million annually for BLS ambulances and
3 then Anderson County will provide the ALS QRVs with the
4 paramedics that will be county employees.  Adding that
5 many county employees to the payroll of Anderson County
6 will cost a significant cost.  
7 For the sake of discussion, let’s assume that the
8 county will need fourteen paramedics per shift.  Forty-
9 five thousand dollars annual salary.  If the paramedics
10 are scheduled a twelve-hour shift or twenty-four-hour
11 shift, seventy-two off, that will mean the county will
12 have to have at least fifty-six paramedics.  Initial
13 cost at forty-five thousand dollars a paramedic is two
14 and a half million dollars.  
15 That was just a start.  Since the paramedics will
16 be county employees, that means the county will pay
17 16.4 percent of employees’ salary to state retirement. 
18 Additionally, the county will pay 7.6 for employees’
19 portion of payroll taxes.  With those two additional
20 factors, the county is now up to 3.1 million dollars. 
21 This is even before the cost of health insurance,
22 workers’ comp, annual leave, vacation, sick leave,
23 uniforms, etcetera.  
24 Then you have to have to have fifteen QRVs chasing
25 BLS ambulances all over the county.  You’ll have two
26 vehicles responding to a call instead of one.  In
27 addition to the cost of the vehicles themselves, there
28 is fuel which is nearing three dollars a gallon now,
29 insurance, maintenance, etcetera, etcetera.  It’s
30 apparent that the citizens of Anderson County are not
31 being told the whole story regarding the cost of this
32 new proposed system.
33 Thank you very much.
34 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  Mr. Harmon.
35 APPLAUSE
36 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Kenny
37 Ray.  Kenny Ray.
38 TOMMY DUNN:  He’s coming.  He’s
39 coming.
40 LEON HARMON:  Okay.  Sorry.
41 KENNY RAY:  Hey gentlemen.  My name
42 is Kenneth Ray.  I live in District 4.  I’m a lifelong
43 Anderson County resident.  I’m a paramedic.  I’ve been
44 a paramedic for eighteen years.  Been in EMS for
45 twenty.  
46 It’s the same thing over and over.  I left this
47 county to go to Greenville County because every few
48 years, we never knew how things were going to go. 
49 There’s entities in Greenville County right now getting
50 loads of applications.  Prisma got thirty-five



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
14

1 yesterday from Anderson County EMS employees.  
2 I have here the paper that you are all familiar
3 with.  This is from the lawyer’s office.  This was
4 delivered to Anderson County Procurement.  First,
5 without even examining the details of MedShore’s bid,
6 the bid is presumptively improper due to the inherent
7 conflict of interest.  The county code is clear, any
8 purchase or contract in which any officer, any officer
9 or employee of the county is financially interested
10 directly or indirectly, shall be void if the other
11 party knew or should have known of the interest of
12 conflict -- or of conflict.  That’s Anderson County
13 Code 2-609.
14 I’m not going to read all of this to you.  It’ll be
15 available on the media’s website.  It’ll be provided
16 afterwards.  There’s a clear conflict of interest in
17 this whole matter.  What some of you don’t understand,
18 and I’m going to just speak personally from my point of
19 view of it, is we’re the only care a lot of the
20 citizens in the outside of the county get.  By midday
21 every day, the hospital, the hospital, is going on full
22 and they start putting people in triage.  That means
23 breathing treatments, twelve leads, any kind of ALS
24 treatment, we’re the only treatment they’ll get for
25 hours once they go into triage.  They might sit there
26 an hour.  They might sit there ten hours.  It gets that
27 busy.  We’re it.  
28 And I can’t tell you how many times over twenty
29 years I’ve had somebody arrest in front of me.  Had I
30 not been there right in front of them at that moment,
31 they wouldn’t have had any chance.  Early
32 defibrillation is what you do.  
33 I think all this just to save a dollar is pretty
34 sad.  It’s 2021.  All the squads, I’ve heard it ---
35 LEON HARMON:  It’s time, Mr. Chairman.
36 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  Next, Mr.
37 Harmon.
38 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Charlene
39 Spelts.
40 APPLAUSE
41 CHARLENE SPELTS:  Chairman Dunn and members
42 of the council, I am Charlene Spelts and I reside in
43 District 6 in Piedmont, South Carolina.
44 And regarding the proposal for the county-wide EMS
45 consolidation, our area, the Piedmont area of the
46 county, has long been forgotten until recently, as most
47 residential and commercial developments are being
48 approved in Piedmont, Pelzer, West Pelzer and
49 Williamston.  People in businesses are moving to our
50 area because of the good things that they have found



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
15

1 that we have to offer along the Saluda River.  
2 One of the most important manmade resources we have
3 had to offer in this area has been the EMS service
4 offered by the Pelzer Rescue Squad since the 1960s. 
5 Now, as I read the information that has been published
6 for us, it seems that you’re going to be taking away
7 our most valuable tried and true safety force as an
8 attempt to fix something that is not broken in our
9 area.
10 I urge you to please vote no on this proposal or
11 for the moment table all votes, all discussions.  
12 And from District 6, I thank you very much.
13 APPLAUSE
14 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Jane
15 Jones.
16 JANE JONES:  I’m Jane Jones, District
17 6.  Thank you for allowing me to speak.  I’m not going
18 to be redundant and repeat what these people have said. 
19 I agree with what they’re saying.  They’ve done an
20 excellent job.  I’m served by the Pelzer EMS and they
21 do an excellent job.
22 I just want to ask you to please vote no on this. 
23 It will not in anyway save you money or decrease the
24 level of service on which so many people depend.  At
25 the very least, postpone this until you can answer some
26 of these questions.  But I would rather you just vote
27 no and let’s move on.  Thank you.
28 APPLAUSE
29 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Jay
30 Potter.
31 JAY POTTER:  Mr. Chairman, members of
32 council, my name is Jay Potter.  I’m a clinical manager
33 with Thorne Ambulance Service, who I represent today.  
34 First and foremost, we would like to thank you for
35 the opportunity to participate in this request for
36 proposal process.  We believe that the RFP clearly
37 outlined your expectations and intentions and we
38 believe that our organization fulfilled those requests
39 to the very best of our ability, and based upon our
40 interpretation of your needs.  
41 Unfortunately it appears that the true intentions
42 of Anderson County were not adequately conveyed in the
43 RFP packet and that only one bidder had the inside
44 track on what the county envisioned for their EMS
45 system.  Furthermore, we feel that the bid selected by
46 the Public Safety Committee failed to meet the
47 expectations and requirements set forth in the RFP and
48 should be disqualified as a result.
49 Please know our issue today is not with the
50 tentatively selected bidder.  Our issue lies with the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
16

1 process, the blatant conflicts of interest that existed
2 throughout the process and the misguided responses to
3 questions submitted during the process.  
4 One of the functions of government is to protect
5 and provide for the very citizens who pay taxes and
6 cast ballots for their elected officials.  We are
7 simply asking that you fulfil your obligation to
8 taxpayers by ensuring that this bidding process is
9 conducted in a manner that is fair and legal and
10 equitable to all interested and qualified parties.
11 Again, we want to thank you for the opportunity to
12 be a part of this process.  We hope that you will
13 consider amending your vote to do what is right and
14 just for Anderson County.  Please do not allow politics
15 or the notorious good ole boy system to cloud your
16 judgment in doing what is right.  No amount of
17 collusion or politics is worth the lives of those
18 within this community.  Tonight’s meeting and this
19 decision is not about EMS.  It’s about the integrity of
20 the process and those in command of that process. 
21 Tonight we ask you to think and vote from your heart
22 and not from your wallet.
23 APPLAUSE 
24 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Jill
25 O’Connor.
26 TOMMY DUNN:  You good?  Okay.  Pass.
27 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Lauren
28 Burdette.
29 LAUREN BURDETTE:  Yes, my name is Lauren
30 Burdette and I live in the District 3 area.  For the
31 record, my name is Lauren Burdette.  I live in Iva. 
32 I’ve been employed in the EMS field for fifteen years. 
33 I’m currently employed as an EMT at Belton EMS.  
34 I, along with most other folks in rural areas, have
35 grave concerns about the availability of an ambulance
36 being available if my family or others in my community
37 need emergency medical care.  It’s very well documented
38 that Priority MedShore constantly has problems keeping
39 ambulances available in their current call area, much
40 less the entire county.  It is my concern that
41 ambulances in the outlying communities lives and
42 available emergency medical care will be left in the
43 dark if this proposal goes through.
44 Councilman Graham, it was for this reason I reached
45 out to you by telephone on Sunday, July 18th.  In our
46 conversation you told me yourself that you would love
47 to have a meeting to discuss different solutions for
48 secondary solutions to the county’s proposal of having
49 Priority take the county contract.  You yourself in a
50 text message told me you felt like the county wasn’t



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
17

1 heading in the right direction with the proposal.  I
2 also have proof of this, is that conversation on my
3 phone.  Councilman Graham, please stand for the
4 citizens that live in the outlying communities and vote
5 no on this proposal.
6 APPLAUSE
7 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Suzanne
8 McNabb.  
9 JIMMY DAVIS:  Who was that, Leon?
10 FEMALE:    (Inaudible.)
11 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  
12 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Elizabeth
13 Fant.
14 ELIZABETH FANT:  Elizabeth Fant, District
15 3.  Anderson County is growing.  There are many things
16 that are great that are going on in Anderson County. 
17 But I find that government oftentimes does what is
18 expedient or how they want to spend money; not
19 necessarily how it does the most good.
20 Recent examples are, you all have been paying gas
21 tax now, for what, six years, additional gas tax.  And
22 instead of that fixing our roads, Christi Hall, who is
23 the Director of the DOT, got a whopping, what was it,
24 two hundred and fifteen thousand dollar raise. 
25 Something like that.  There have also been several
26 other officers in the state government that have gotten
27 huge raises like that.  I find that the DOT doesn’t
28 spend the money where they say they’re going to spend
29 it.  They don’t spend it on things that help people
30 save their lives.  They spend it on bureaucracy.  
31 I don’t know the answer to this question that is
32 proposed tonight, but I do know that the core of the
33 problem needs to be that the ambulances need to be
34 placed where they’re going to be able to help people. 
35 I understand that a lot of the ambulances that are in
36 the system that were Greg Shore’s, or whatever the name
37 is called now, are used for convalescent care.  That
38 means transporting somebody from AnMed to chemo therapy
39 or whatever.  Our ambulances need to be largely for
40 emergencies.  Somebody has a heart attack, that needs
41 to be dealt with promptly.  Somebody gets shot,
42 promptly. 
43 Another part of it is the educational component. 
44 If you look on the sheriff’s report and you see how
45 many 911 calls are called every month, it’s a huge
46 number.  But a lot of people who are calling 911 are
47 not calling for emergencies.  They’re calling because,
48 well, my cable is out.  Or so-and-so’s dog came over in
49 my yard.  These are not emergencies.  Somehow another
50 the county needs to figure out a way -- maybe there’s



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
18

1 another 11 number that we could use -- where people
2 when they have concerns can get their questions
3 answered, but it doesn’t bottle up the emergency
4 system.
5 I know from firsthand knowledge that the
6 Williamston Rescue Squad was jam-up on their duties
7 when I had my accident.  They were there in less than
8 four minutes.  And thankfully, because of them, I can
9 talk, I can walk, I can see, although limited, and I
10 credit them for what’s left of my body that I can
11 function.  
12 But this proposal doesn’t sound like that it ---
13 LEON HARMON:  Time, Mr. Chairman.
14 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you, Mr. Harmon. 
15 Next.
16 LEON HARMON:  No one else is signed up.
17 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you, Mr. Harmon.
18 Moving on to Item number 5, report from Public
19 Safety Committee, Chairman Graham, of July 6th.
20 RAY GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
21 Mr. Chairman, at this time I’m going to ask that --
22 Steve, are you doing the QRV or Don?  At this time I’m
23 going to ask that Don does the presentation concerning
24 the QRV.
25 DON MCCOWN:  Thank you, members of
26 council.  Mr. Graham, was you wanting to talk about the
27 contract first or go straight into my presentation?  We
28 have the AnMed contract as part of this presentation. 
29 It’s the first thing.
30 RAY GRAHAM:  Yes.
31 DON MCCOWN:   Members of council,
32 before you tonight you also have a contract or a letter
33 of intent for contract between AnMed Health and
34 Anderson County.  This is going to be a public/private
35 partnership in which the AnMed Health is going to
36 participate in supporting the paramedic quick response
37 vehicles throughout the county, both financially and
38 clinically.  This is where some of the savings we’ve
39 talked to the community about is going to come from. 
40 We’re going to have some involvement by the medical
41 community.  So that is one thing that is before you
42 tonight that you will need to look and vote on, I
43 assume, is that -- understanding that Anderson County
44 now wants to partner with AnMed Health to provide
45 financial support and clinical oversight of our
46 paramedic units in Anderson County.  
47 Any questions on that?
48 JIMMY DAVIS:  Where’s the contract?  
49 DON MCCOWN:  Yes, it’s a letter of
50 intent.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
19

1 JIMMY DAVIS:  Is it in our packet?
2 FEMALE:   (Inaudible.)
3 TOMMY DUNN:  Ma’am, sit down.  If
4 you’ve got a question -- you can stop with that right
5 there.
6 DON MCCOWN:  I apologize.  Can you
7 hear me better now?
8 FEMALE:   (Inaudible.)
9 DON MCCOWN:  Okay.  Hold on.  Is that
10 better?  
11 FEMALE:   Yes.
12 DON MCCOWN:  I maybe had my microphone
13 a little bit too close.  Any questions on the letter of
14 intent that I can clarify any information on there for
15 anybody.
16 RAY GRAHAM:  Just trying to clarify
17 just for everybody because we’ve got a lot here
18 tonight.  As far as the letter of intent, we’re
19 basically -- if we pass this tonight, we’re approving
20 to continue to basically come back with a contractual
21 agreement.
22 DON MCCOWN:  Correct.
23 RAY GRAHAM:  And at that time is when
24 the actual agreement would ---
25 DON MCCOWN:  The actual written
26 agreement.  Yeah.
27 RAY GRAHAM:  --- take place.  So all
28 we’ve doing tonight is moving forward with negotiating
29 the contractual agreement with the QRVs.  I just wanted
30 to make sure everybody understood that.
31 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you, Mr. Graham.
32 DON MCCOWN:  So are we good?  Any
33 questions on that, Mr. Graham?  Anybody?  
34 TOMMY DUNN:  You got something, Ray?
35 RAY GRAHAM:  Do we need to vote on it?
36 TOMMY DUNN:  Not yet.  That’s up to
37 you.
38 DON MCCOWN:  Yeah, y’all have to
39 decide before I move on.
40 RAY GRAHAM:  Do you have any
41 presentation for that, or is that it on ---
42 DON MCCOWN:  No.  You can move on with
43 that.  I’m going to move on with the QRV.
44 RAY GRAHAM:  With that being said,
45 Leon, do we need to vote on the letter of intent?
46 TOMMY DUNN:  That’s right.
47 RAY GRAHAM:  Due to this not being
48 ready at the Public Safety meeting, this does not come
49 from the Public Safety meeting.  So we’ll have to have
50 a first and a second.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
20

1 TOMMY DUNN:  That’s right.
2 RAY GRAHAM:  As far as moving forward
3 with this, I make a motion that we accept this letter
4 of intent.
5 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
6 TOMMY DUNN:  Have a motion by Mr.
7 Graham and second by Mr. Sanders to move forward with
8 negotiations and come back to council with a contract. 
9 Now, the floor is open for discussion.
10 CINDY WILSON:  May I ---
11 RAY GRAHAM:  Just to clarify, that is
12 for the QRV system.
13 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Graham, ---
14 CINDY WILSON:  May I make sure I’m
15 hearing this correctly.  In this letter of intent, it
16 proposes, among other things, to establish and approve
17 a medical oversight committee to oversee and manage the
18 activities of EMS, they will help subsidize the cost of
19 the quick response vehicle program by providing
20 financial assistance of up to 1.4 million dollars
21 annually or fifty percent of the cost for ten quick
22 response vehicles during the first year of
23 collaboration.  It doesn’t -- I don’t know where we’ll
24 go after that.  
25 In return, our county would allow its EMS and quick
26 response personnel uniforms and vehicles to be co-
27 branded with AnMed’s health logos in consideration for
28 the oversight and subsidies that it and MedShore is
29 providing.  
30 I just saw this, I guess a couple of days ago.  But
31 I’m concerned about questions regarding communications
32 and dispatch.  So the motion on the table now is to
33 allow our staff to negotiate further; is that correct? 
34 Did I understand that correctly?
35 RAY GRAHAM:  That is correct.  
36 CINDY WILSON:  Okay.  Thank you.
37 RAY GRAHAM:  There will be a full
38 contract brought back to clarify in front of full
39 council for later discussion and approval.  Currently
40 all this is, is to basically allow our personnel to go
41 forth with a contractual agreement to basically come up
42 with a contract to partner with AnMed.  And again, this
43 is for the QRV system only.
44 CINDY WILSON:  Okay.  So we’re not --
45 we’re just voting to give permission to negotiate on
46 the actual content of the letter of intent?
47 RAY GRAHAM:  That’s correct.
48 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you.
49 RAY GRAHAM:  And one other thing, in
50 the letter of intent, I think it states ten QRVs.  This



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
21

1 does not change the county’s direction of providing
2 fourteen QRVs in the event the other system is moved
3 forward with.  Our goal would still be to provide
4 fourteen QRVs.  This is just a partnership with AnMed.
5 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?  Seeing and
6 hearing none, all in favor of the motion show of hands. 
7 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
8 unanimously.
9 Mr. Chairman.
10 RAY GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
11 At this time, Don, are you going to do the
12 presentation on the committee for EMS ---
13 DON MCCOWN:  I am, sir.
14 RAY GRAHAM:  --- services, as well?  
15 Mr. Chairman, at this time Don is going to do that.
16 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  Thank you.
17 DON MCCOWN:  Member of council,
18 citizens of the community, tonight I’m going to make a
19 presentation to you of what the county is proposing for
20 EMS.  Everybody out here has heard a variety of
21 misconceptions, what we think we’re going to do, how
22 it’s going to be, what’s not going to happen, etcetera. 
23 These are the facts of what we’re going to put forth
24 and why we’re going to improve EMS in Anderson County.  
25 First of all, our whole goal for Anderson County is
26 to enhance the quality of care in our system here. 
27 We’ve got to make steps forward in order for that
28 happen.  We’re going to have to develop a system. 
29 Right now we have seven different individual providers
30 in this county that provide EMS services.
31 So let’s start off with the highlights because I
32 wrote down a number of questions over here that people
33 made during their presentations, and I really
34 appreciate people stepping forward and saying some of
35 these things.  But let’s clarify some things.  
36 First of all, the current contract for Anderson
37 County right now is 16.5 ambulances and three QRVs
38 throughout our county, for forty-four thousand calls a
39 year.  Our current plan at any given time, there’s
40 nineteen capable responders in our county.  Nineteen
41 medical responder units.  That’s the first process.
42 The new plan is to increase the coverage in
43 Anderson County.  There’s a contract to provider under
44 the RFP will have to provide seventeen ambulances
45 throughout the county.  Anderson County, in turn, is
46 going to put fourteen paramedic QRVs out there.  That
47 will allow a total combination of thirty-one emergency
48 response vehicles.  Thirty-one.  That’s going to be
49 twelve additional units throughout our county.  That’s
50 pretty significant considering what we’ve heard



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
22

1 everybody talking about tonight about making sure we
2 get response times, making sure that we can get to the
3 people in a timely manner.  We’re going to increase
4 that by twelve with this new plan.
5 I’ve heard about people worried about where the
6 ambulances are going to come from.  Well, according to
7 the contractual obligations and to the plan that the
8 council -- being proposed tonight, is all of the
9 ambulances are going to be stationed in the same areas
10 as they are now.  It’s not going to be no different. 
11 They’re going to be sitting in the same areas.  So
12 they’ll be stationed in the exact same places.  Now if
13 they choose not to use that station there, that’s up to
14 the ambulance.  But they have to be in that same
15 general area.  
16 The paramedic response units will be also
17 facilitated throughout the area.  They’re going to be
18 placed in areas that allow them to respond within a
19 nine fifty-nine response time, which means I’m not
20 going to put my ambulance here at this station and put
21 the paramedic unit right beside it.  We’re going to put
22 the ambulance here and then about nine minutes away,
23 we’re going to put that paramedic unit.  So now we’re
24 increased the amount of coverage throughout the county. 
25 We have paramedics that can respond to provide
26 assistance until an ambulance can arrive.  We have an
27 ambulance that can respond and provide assistance until
28 the paramedic arrives.
29 COMMOTION IN AUDIENCE
30 TOMMY DUNN:  Hold it down.  Now, we
31 quietly listened to all of y’all.  This guy right here
32 has got a presentation.  Let’s keep it ...
33 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman, if I may,
34 you’re at ten minutes.
35 TOMMY DUNN:  I make the motion we
36 extend this ten minutes.
37 RAY GRAHAM:  I second that.
38 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Graham.  All
39 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed. 
40 Okay.
41 DON MCCOWN:  The ambulances will be
42 dispatched to all 911 requests for ambulance.  The
43 ambulances are going to be dispatched at every 911
44 request.  No different than what happens right now.  An
45 ambulance and a paramedic unit will be responding to
46 any life-threatening emergency.  You heard a couple of
47 responders say earlier that -- or a couple of citizens
48 say earlier that some of the times we dispatch
49 ambulances to things that really don’t need an
50 ambulance.  But they definitely might not need a



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
23

1 paramedic.  The vast majority of EMS responses across
2 the United States can be handled by emergency medical
3 technicians.  The vast majority.  So the emergency
4 medical technicians can provide care as well as the
5 paramedic until it meets certain criteria.  
6 Some of the things people don’t realize is how well
7 trained our emergency medical technicians are.  They’re
8 not ambulance drivers.  They have qualifications just
9 like anybody else.  Anybody that’s been in this field
10 for any given time understands that.  If you’ve not
11 been doing this long, then you’ll know that.
12 The vast majority of the medical emergencies can be
13 handled by emergency medical ...  This will free the
14 paramedic units up for the more critical calls. 
15 They’ll be able to respond.  You know, one thing
16 citizens ask me is, if somebody responds out of my area
17 and I’m transporting the patient, who’s going to cover
18 my area?  I said, that’s exactly the point.  If you’re
19 sending somebody to the hospital because they have leg
20 pain and they can’t really walk, then the EMTs can
21 transport.  The paramedic will stay and cover that
22 area.  So it gives them an additional coverage.
23 Paramedics will become Anderson County employees. 
24 One of the things we’ve fought with for years is how to
25 retain paramedics in our county?  Okay.  There’s a
26 paramedic and emergency medical technical shortage
27 across the United States right now.  Everywhere we turn
28 around, they’re attempting everything they can to
29 attract paramedics and attract EMTs.  Paramedics tend
30 to gravitate to these types of systems where they’re
31 only required to provide paramedic level care.  They’re
32 not getting hung up on the seventeen or eighteen calls. 
33 They’re handling calls that require only the paramedic
34 level care.  
35 Anderson County now will be responsible for all
36 patient care.  No private sector is going to be
37 responsible for patient care anymore.  That comes back
38 to the Anderson County paramedics under the Anderson
39 County Medical Control Board and the Anderson County
40 Medical Director.  So we control the paramedic care
41 now.  
42 Anderson County paramedics will be able to provide
43 enhanced medical care with our partnership with the
44 hospital.  We’re going to be looking at telemedicine,
45 telehelp, community paramedicine and vaccination
46 programs.  Paramedics will be able to go to a house
47 now, provide telehelp communications, and you know
48 what, maybe we don’t have to take the patient to the
49 hospital.  Maybe they can get them seen there, get them
50 set up for a clinic appointment, get them taken to a



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
24

1 doctor, versus having to go to the emergency room. 
2 That’s just another avenue of the enhancement that
3 Anderson County is going to be going through.  
4 Paramedics will operate under control of a medical
5 control position and a medical control board.  This is
6 an important component.  Because now it will allow for
7 better training and it will allow quality control of
8 the activities of the paramedics.  So there won’t be no
9 more freelancing.  Right now we have seven different
10 components in our county.  So we’re going to eliminate
11 that to the paramedics all work under Anderson County.
12 MALE:  (Inaudible.)
13 DON MCCOWN:  Let me get to that in
14 just a minute.  Enhanced medical care.  This will not
15 only involve the pre-hospital care, but will involve
16 the medical community in a partnership now.  We have
17 not really had a good component of medical partnership
18 in our community.  The hospital has been here, each
19 individual private agency has been out here.  And
20 that’s how care is kind of decided.  Now we’re going to
21 have the hospital involved in the patient care.
22 All EMS employees that want a job in this county
23 have a job.  Nobody is going to be without a job.  EMTs
24 may have to work with the contract provider.  All
25 paramedics will come to work for Anderson County. 
26 They’re guaranteed that position.  All they’ve got to
27 do is come on board.  We have already even started
28 receiving a number of applications from paramedics in
29 other areas that are interested in this system.  And
30 that’s kind of highlighting to me because that means
31 they’re interested in trying to make betterment for the
32 community.  They’re going to be able to come in and
33 provide only paramedic-level care.  
34 We won’t over-utilize paramedics.  In other words,
35 we will try out best to reduce their workload and their
36 stress.  Hopefully this will retain paramedics in our
37 area.  A lot of guys sitting around this room, they may
38 not notice, but we don’t have a lot of young people
39 coming into this field right now.  So a lot of our
40 paramedics are veteran medics.  Granted, we’ve got to
41 have people that are going to be able to replace us at
42 some point.
43 We will increase the number of trained personnel on
44 the scene.  Right now in a critical situation, with the
45 exception of fire service helping, most of the time
46 it’s the paramedic and the EMT handling the call; the
47 paramedic and the EMT.  With the new system, it puts a
48 paramedic on the scene with two emergency medical
49 technicians.  So that’s three people that will be able
50 to handle the call.  So that gives them the additional



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
25

1 help they will need in order to provide care to the
2 patient.
3 Here’s the biggest one.  As we listened to people
4 talk tonight, members of council, we heard a lot about
5 boundaries, about coming out of areas, about having to
6 call.  This is where the system approach changes
7 because now there’s no boundaries.  There’s no zones. 
8 You’re stationed in an area, but you’ve got to go to
9 where the call is needed.  Right now in our county we
10 have seven different chiefs, seven different management
11 structures, seven different policies and procedure
12 manuals, seven different company philosophies, seven
13 different patient care ideas and seven different
14 business objectives.  No matter how we slice that,
15 that’s what it is. 
16 What we’re talking about doing is putting that all
17 under one.  The paramedic care will be handled by the
18 county.  The transport system and the emergency medical
19 technicians will be handled by the contracted provided. 
20 The system works across the United States.  Everywhere
21 across the United States. 
22 We’ll eliminate the turf wars.  And that’s
23 something that’s been a part of the county we’ve had to
24 endure.  Is we don’t want to seem to help each other. 
25 We’ve got to if we plan to move forth in establishing a
26 system in our county.  To where if I drop in cardiac
27 arrest in Belton and the Belton unit is tied up, then I
28 should have somebody else already sitting there to take
29 care of the call.  If I drop in cardiac arrest in
30 downtown Anderson and all the Anderson units are tied
31 up, Belton should be able to respond to that call.  Now
32 that we’ve got that, we will have that in a systematic
33 approach.
34 COMMOTION IN AUDIENCE
35 DON MCCOWN:  I ain’t going to go
36 there.
37 TOMMY DUNN:  Hold it down.  Hold it
38 down.  I said hold it down.  Listen, if y’all don’t
39 want to act civil, we can fix that.  
40 DON MCCOWN:  This will allow the
41 county to conduct business -- this is one of the issues
42 we have now.  The county conducts business with seven
43 different agencies.
44 MALE:  And it works.
45 DON MCCOWN:  And it doesn’t.  If it
46 was we wouldn’t be standing here.  That’s why now we’ll
47 be able to deal with one single provider.  We won’t
48 have people telling us who’s going to respond, who’s
49 not going to respond, what’s in the best interest of
50 them and what’s in the best interest of the county. 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
26

1 We’re going to determine what’s in the best interest of
2 the county.
3 We will reduce the subsidy by doing this.  That was
4 actually put out in the RFP.  With our partnership with
5 the hospital, which everybody was surprised about, I
6 know, is that they’re going to help offset the
7 financial initiatives that help fund the QRVs.  I heard
8 Mr. Dunn and he gave some very good statistics on New
9 Castle County.  But New Castle County, also he failed
10 to mention, responds to a hundred thousand responses
11 with basically nineteen paramedic units.  And those are
12 all paramedic QRVs.  So they will actually allow them
13 to get back in service faster, be able to cover the
14 area more readily, and provide the transport service
15 that gets the patients to the hospital when the
16 paramedic is not needed.  
17 In summary, the new contract and the new system
18 approach of Anderson County is planning for the future. 
19 And some people might not want to admit this is
20 planning for the future, but it is planning for the
21 future.  
22 We did a study in 2016 that said that we need to
23 make changes to the system.  We still haven’t made
24 those changes.  This puts those changes in place.  This
25 puts us towards meeting the goals of what those changes
26 were saying.  More EMS coverage.  We’ve increasing the
27 amount of units out there.  No loss of jobs.  Nobody
28 loses their job.  Enhanced medical care.  Increased
29 accountability.  If you don’t meet the contractual
30 requirements, then that’s things that will come down to
31 being either fines or the fact that they even get
32 terminated from their contract.
33 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman, ---
34 DON MCCOWN:  Partnership with the
35 medical community.  We now have a partnership ---
36 TOMMY DUNN:  Excuse me, Mr. McCown.  I
37 make the motion we extend fifteen more minutes.
38 RAY GRAHAM:  Mr. Chairman, I second
39 that.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  We’ve got a motion and a
41 second.  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
42 Opposed like -- hang on one second.  I’m telling y’all
43 for the last time, y’all act civil.  The reason we’re
44 doing this, we’ve got to vote one way or the other in a
45 minute.  We’ve got a time to vote, too, and discuss
46 this thing.  So we might have to extend this time
47 again.  Don’t raise your hand.  You’ve had your chance. 
48 This is it.  Move on.
49 MALE:   Will we have a discussion
50 about this afterwards?



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
27

1 TOMMY DUNN:  Nope.  Nope.  Go ahead.
2 DON MCCOWN:  We have increased
3 accountability because now the county controls the
4 contract.  We have enhanced medical care.  We have a
5 partnership for medical care.  And we reduce the cost
6 to provide the service.  This is a win/win for our
7 community.  I don’t see how we can say it’s not.  We’re
8 going to increase the number of units and we’re going
9 to provide better quality service.  
10 This is not about protecting each individual’s own
11 little area.  This is about what’s best for our
12 community.  And I’m confirmed that this plan is the
13 best for our community. 
14 That’s all I have, councilmen.  Do any members of
15 council have anything that they would like to ask?
16 TOMMY DUNN:  Anybody got any questions
17 for Mr. McCown?  Ms. Wilson.
18 DON MCCOWN:  Yes, Ms. Wilson.
19 CINDY WILSON:  Just a few questions. 
20 First of all, the comment that the seven squads all
21 agree to the same contract, that that needs to be
22 established.  But if a patient requests to be
23 transported, particularly in the northern part of the
24 county to Bon Secours, St. Francis or Greenville
25 Memorial where they have their doctors, say they have a
26 preexisting condition, would this new model allow for
27 transport on request to there?
28 DON MCCOWN:  Yes, ma’am.  This doesn’t
29 change the law.  The law says that the patient must be
30 transported to the most appropriate facility.  So it
31 would be very hard for the people in the Pelzer area
32 and River Street and some of those -- River Road and
33 some of those areas, to say they might want to not come
34 back to AnMed.  They can go to Greenville Memorial.  
35 And plus you have a lot of people up in that area that
36 have their physicians there.  So they’re going to want
37 to go to those hospitals.  But you may also have people
38 that want to come back to AnMed.
39 CINDY WILSON:  We’ve had concerns in the
40 past for the patients who made that request and they
41 were denied.  
42 DON MCCOWN:  I do know that will be
43 our guideline.
44 CINDY WILSON:  And if we go to one
45 source, what becomes of the seven squads? 
46 Unfortunately, I’m like the old horse that’s getting
47 long in the tooth.  I have a long memory.  And I
48 remember twenty years ago when we had a five-member
49 council and MedShore sold to outfit, I think in
50 Louisiana, and those fellow came trooping into the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
28

1 county council meeting one night requesting, begging
2 for more money.  They could not run what they had.  And
3 it was a for-profit company.  They were denied.  And of
4 course, Mr. Shore being a very brilliant businessman
5 bought back.  
6 The next thing was that people who lived in, I
7 think it’s zone one, were paying two taxes for the same
8 service, which is questionable legally.  I saw entries
9 where Medshore was being paid for supplies.  And I
10 didn’t notice other squads getting that help.  
11 And then more recently we’ve had the situation
12 where Priority One, which is now the official name for
13 MedShore, was selected or put units at Ebenezer and
14 Rock Springs.  Unfortunately, no sooner -- and they
15 were prescribed hours daily.  They were not apparently
16 able to meet that need.  Other squads had to meet the
17 calls in that area.  Then when they were getting calls
18 in their respective areas, they were out taking care of
19 Priority One.  
20 I have real concerns about going to one provider. 
21 I think that the AnMed and quick response vehicle
22 program has great promise.  
23 And I have more questions because all of this
24 really was brought forth in one week’s time.  So it’s a
25 life and death situation in many areas.  And to
26 MedShore’s credit, they came to our farm a few times. 
27 Wonderful service.  But we have issues in outlying
28 areas that are very, very concerning to me.  
29 I really hope we can slow down and study this to
30 come up with a really good program; one that we know
31 works well.  Because if you’re an under-bidder and then
32 you fail to perform, that’s a real serious
33 consideration.  And I think that’s what everyone here
34 is worried out.  Because if you go to one source ---
35 APPLAUSE
36 CINDY WILSON:  If you go to one source
37 beyond this quick response vehicle program, the others
38 go out of business, what prevents Priority One from
39 trouping in like they did years ago demanding more
40 money for what they cover.  That’s a big concern.  I
41 don’t think that the three million dollar savings may
42 be a realistic measure.
43 DON MCCOWN:  And I understand.  One
44 thing I think is important is this new contract that
45 county’s going to be going to is a pretty robust
46 contract.  The current time right now, we actually have
47 seven contracts.  We have seven private agencies.  So
48 they’re all getting paid by the county to provide a
49 service.  So with the new, going to a one single
50 provider, we will have a robust contract in place that



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
29

1 pretty much holds them accountable. 
2 Now, the question is -- a lot of people say what is
3 our backup plan?  Your backup plan is your paramedics
4 for the county.  That’s our backup plan.
5 COMMOTION FROM AUDIENCE
6 CINDY WILSON:  Well, I have concerns --
7 I know Mr. Wright is in the real estate business as I
8 am.  How many contracts have you seen broke in your
9 career?  I had one this week that failed.  So contracts
10 may not be worth what -- the paper they’re written on. 
11 That is a concern.
12 APPLAUSE
13 CINDY WILSON:  The paramedics make the
14 service our country provides more nimble, I believe
15 that quite truly.  But an ambulance transport is
16 necessary in a number of calls.  I do have -- I’m quite
17 happy to work through this with all of us.  I think
18 it’s time that we do look at other programs for the
19 county and work together.  
20 The emergency medical services in such a vast area
21 of concern.  There are so many working parts and there
22 are so many things that change so quickly.  DHEC issues
23 their edicts, insurance companies, medical protocols. 
24 There’s so much that has to be factored in.  Thank you
25 for your hard work.  I appreciate it.
26 TOMMY DUNN:  Chairman Graham, do you
27 want to proceed on?
28 RAY GRAHAM:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  This
29 comes with support; two voted yes, one voted no, from
30 Public Safety Committee.  And this is presented to full
31 council.
32 TOMMY DUNN:  Coming from the Public
33 Safety Committee, doesn’t need a second.  Now I open
34 the floor up for discussion.
35 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair?
36 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Davis.
37 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair, thank you for
38 the time.  District 6 has still got a lot of questions
39 that are unanswered and a lot of concerns with this
40 plan, primarily with the history that I’ve seen since
41 I’ve been on council, since I was sworn in on January
42 8th of 2019.  
43 You know, there’s just so much that is just kind of
44 thrown out there that I don’t see how we can put some
45 of this stuff together and the savings still be there. 
46 There’s a lot of questions.  I have one hundred percent
47 respect for my fellow council folks, but I have serious
48 concerns with what we’re going forward with and what
49 we’re doing.  I believe this is probably the most
50 important topic or vote or motion that I’ve ever spoken



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
30

1 on or will have the opportunity to vote on, since I’ve
2 joined council.
3 I, therefore, at this time, Mr. Chair, would like
4 to make a motion that we table this vote for the ---
5 APPLAUSE
6 JIMMY DAVIS:  Please hold it down. 
7 Please hold it down.  We have to get through this.  Be
8 patient with us.  I agree that the system is broken. 
9 It’s broken in a bad way.  And we’ve got to come up
10 with the best solution for all of Anderson County.  
11 That being said, I make a motion that we table this
12 vote for a period of thirty days.
13 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a motion on the
14 floor to table this for thirty days.  Do we have a
15 second?
16 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
17 TOMMY DUNN:  Second by Ms. Wilson.
18 APPLAUSE
19 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion to table is non-
20 debatable.  All in favor of the motion show of hands.  
21 RAY GRAHAM:  Is it not open for
22 discussion?
23 TOMMY DUNN:  No.  It’s non-debatable. 
24 That’s Robert’s Rules of Order.  And also it’s in our
25 ordinance.  It’s not debatable.  All in favor of the
26 motion show of hands.  All opposed.  Show the motion
27 fails.  Any more discussion?
28 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair?
29 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Davis.
30 JIMMY DAVIS:  If I could continue.  A
31 couple of things.  There are some things I’m worried
32 about if we’re going forward for a full vote or where
33 we are.  We had a big discussion this past year in
34 Public Safety Committee with franchise agreements.  If
35 we’re going to do this and go to a sole provider with
36 Priority, and I do call them Priority, because they’re
37 Priority, then I have -- we’re going to effectively do
38 harm and kill some great providers.  And West Pelzer
39 covers District 6, and I’m eternally grateful for the
40 fine folks at West Pelzer.  They do a wonderful job and
41 have for many years.  So I have a serious concern with
42 the franchise agreements and if they can maybe, maybe
43 somehow hang on until Priority fails, which I know they
44 will, ---
45 APPLAUSE
46 JIMMY DAVIS:  --- because we’re going
47 to have to have some type of backup plan.  And when I
48 asked, when I asked Mr. McCown when he presented his
49 plan, I said what’s your backup plan?  And his words to
50 me were, well we’ll drop back and punt and bring



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
31

1 somebody else in.  Well, these are people’s lives. 
2 We’ve not dropping back and punting.  That was the
3 wrong statement to make to me.
4 APPLAUSE
5 JIMMY DAVIS:  Once again, I say the
6 system is broken and it’s going to change.  Not
7 everybody is going to be happy.  That’s the bottom
8 line.  Not everybody is going to be happy.  The system
9 is going to change.  But that was -- you know, we’ve
10 got to have some type of plan going forward.  I’ve said
11 it in committee, I would support a -- I support the QRV
12 process one hundred percent because I believe in it. 
13 But I don’t support a sole provider for transport
14 across the county because I believe it fails.  I’ve
15 been involved in sole provider contracts before and
16 they very rarely ever work.
17 Also I have a great concern, as Ms. Wilson noted,
18 between AnMed and Greenville.  AnMed is forking out a
19 million and a half dollars a year to this QRV program,
20 and you don’t think they’re not going to want people
21 coming to Anderson?  But I’m telling you right now, the
22 people of District 6 and primarily people north of
23 Highway 8, they’re going to Greenville.  I’m going to
24 Greenville.  That’s where we go.  So I have a serious
25 concern on that.
26 You know, the thought that we’re going to get all
27 the paramedics, I’m an employer and that’s a brash
28 statement.  I don’t think we’ll get all the paramedics. 
29 I think we’re going to have challenges getting the
30 paramedics.  We have challenges getting good employees
31 now, and I don’t know that we’ll do that.  I know that
32 Greenville County is picking us off left and right.  So
33 I have serious concerns with that.  I’m just listing my
34 concerns out here.
35 Another thing I believe, as I looked back over the
36 RFP, I do not believe that the RFP was done correctly. 
37 I do not believe that the RFP was -- I believe what we
38 sent out was not what we got.  And so I really think at
39 the end of the day this whole bid process needs to be
40 thrown out and redone the correct way.
41 APPLAUSE
42 JIMMY DAVIS:  Last but not least, and
43 Mr. McCown, don’t take this the wrong way, but I
44 believe you’ve got a conflict of interest.
45 APPLAUSE
46 JIMMY DAVIS:  When we decided to do
47 this process with the RFP -- and this is something that
48 every municipality does -- once that was sent out, kind
49 of a subcommittee was formed with Mr. McCown, Steve
50 Kelly and Rita Davis.  Well, it came out -- it was



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
32

1 decided that Steve Kelly may have a conflict of
2 interest because he flies part-time on the AMR
3 helicopter.  He’s still serving and saving people.  But
4 Mr. McCown, it is in my heart that there’s a conflict
5 of interest because of your employee/employer
6 relationship with Mr. Greg Shore.  That’s my opinion.  
7 APPLAUSE
8 JIMMY DAVIS:  And that is the way I
9 feel about it.  It’s nothing against you or Mr. Shore. 
10 But that’s the way I feel about it.
11 Last but not least, not too long ago we sat in the
12 conference room at the old historic courthouse county
13 conference room and we were reading Priority the riot
14 act.  We had fined them.  We brought them in.  The CEO
15 came in from Priority.  The CEO is not Mr. Greg Shore
16 or anybody in his family.  It was another gentleman.  I
17 don’t remember his name.  But at the end of the day he
18 made a lot of promises to us.  And he promised to be
19 back every month.  Haven’t seen the man since.  Nor
20 have I heard from him.  Haven’t got an email, haven’t
21 got a phone call.  And none of those promises were ever
22 lived up to.  
23 So what we’re looking at here is we’re looking at a
24 bid proposal or bid approval or whatever you want to
25 call it, going with a company who has repeatedly failed
26 Anderson County and lied to us to our faces.
27 APPLAUSE
28 JIMMY DAVIS:  And I will not vote for
29 it.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
30 APPLAUSE
31 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?
32 CINDY WILSON:  Mr. Chairman, may I?
33 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?
34 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
35 TOMMY DUNN:  Hang on a minute.  Time’s
36 up on this.  Any more discussion we’ll have to extend
37 the time.  I make a motion to extend the time five
38 minutes.
39 RAY GRAHAM:  I second that.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Graham.
41 RAY GRAHAM:  I would say ten minutes,
42 please, Mr. Chairman.
43 TOMMY DUNN:  Ten minutes.  We’ll
44 extend it ten minutes.  I make the motion for ten
45 minutes.  Mr. Graham seconds it.  All in favor of the
46 motion show of hands.  Opposed like sign.  Show the
47 motion carries unanimously.  Ms. Wilson.
48 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
49 To change our entire model on the basis of one bid
50 would seem to me so radical that it would require a



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
33

1 much greater amount of time, not only educating
2 ourselves but educating our public and moving forward
3 together.  I’m very concerned that it should have been
4 done, in addition to a bid, to an ordinance with three
5 readings so we could make sure we did it properly.  I
6 know we do that in other measures that the county
7 considers.
8 The thing that’s most staring to me in the face
9 right now is Priority One has a terrible track record.
10 APPLAUSE
11 CINDY WILSON:  They have violated a bid
12 where they underbid here in the county, causing great
13 difficulties for the other squads.  They have problems
14 in other areas that have been noted, even in Bamberg
15 County, if you can imagine that.  And I think some
16 other places around the state.  
17 How do we trust that when they have basically
18 reneged on one contract that they’ll go forward in our
19 county and the track record they have elsewhere, that
20 they’ll do any better?  Do we have any guarantee?  A
21 contract is only worth -- it may not be worth the paper
22 it’s written on.  That has been proven time and again.
23 There’s an old saying out in the country when
24 someone wrongs me, the first time you wrong me, shame
25 on you; the second time you wrong me, shame on me.  I
26 mean, how stupid can we be?
27 APPLAUSE
28 CINDY WILSON:  I would like to make one
29 more effort to slow this very destructive situation
30 down and give us some breathing room to make sure we’re
31 doing right with everybody working together.  I would
32 like to make a motion to postpone indefinitely these
33 considerations until we can get it together, and
34 hopefully wouldn’t be indefinitely but maybe a couple
35 of weeks.  I put that in the form of a motion.
36 JIMMY DAVIS:  I’ll second that motion
37 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Harmon, I’m going to
38 refer to you as our parliamentarian, is that motion in
39 order?
40 LEON HARMON:  Yes, sir, I believe it
41 is.  As you know we have parliamentary procedures in
42 our ordinance.  We refer to Robert’s Rules when
43 something is not covered in our ordinance.  This
44 appears to me to be covered in our ordinance, section
45 2-37(g)(2) reads, all motions except motions to
46 adjourn, to continue, to postpone indefinitely or to a
47 date certain, to depart from the agenda for the
48 previous question, to recess, and to lay on the table. 
49 Other than those, motions would be debatable.  So this
50 motion would not be debatable, but it would be in



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
34

1 order.
2 TOMMY DUNN:  My question is, is there
3 enough difference in it from the first motion we voted
4 on?
5 LEON HARMON:  I believe it would be;
6 yes, sir.
7 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  You heard the
8 motion to postpone indefinitely by Ms. Wilson.  Second
9 by Mr. Davis.  All in favor of the motion show of
10 hands.  All opposed.  Show the motion fails.  Any more
11 discussion?
12 RAY GRAHAM:  Yes.
13 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Graham.
14 RAY GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
15 I want to make sure I’m clear on a couple of things
16 here.  Number one, I do support this system.  I support
17 the QRVs one hundred percent.  We have done nothing but
18 -- over the past month during this process other than
19 point fingers, criticize everyone.  I mean it’s
20 absolutely ridiculous that our county has stepped to
21 the level that we have.  It’s my turn.  Every provider,
22 chiefs, members, that I’ve spoken to agrees we have a
23 problem.  
24 At no point in that conversation does it state that
25 our providers is not providing for our people.  At no
26 point has county council made a statement in a public
27 safety meeting or in a county council meeting that our
28 providers are not providing the best care -- the best
29 level of care to our citizens.  
30 But guys, if you do not think there is room for
31 improvement, you need to get your head out of the sand.
32 MALE:  (Inaudible.)
33 TOMMY DUNN:  Hey, watch it there.
34 RAY GRAHAM:  It’s my turn.  I’m
35 telling you, you need to get your head out of the sand. 
36 There’s a lot of information that the providers has to
37 show you.  I’m not going to go out and show you their
38 books.  And I’m not sitting up here saying that every
39 provider here is filing bankruptcy tomorrow.  Don’t
40 read into something that’s not there.  
41 What I am saying is we need to improve our system. 
42 And when I say that, we need to improve the benefits we
43 give to our providers, our public safety folks.  We
44 just done it with law enforcement.  It just passed with
45 fire service.  Tag, you’re it.  It’s time to pay
46 attention to EMS.  
47 Is this the right thing we need to do?  I don’t
48 know.  But I am saying we need to change.  We need to
49 continue to change every single day to be better than
50 we were yesterday.  Guys, it’s not going to be one



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
35

1 group.  It’s not going to be one individual.  It’s
2 going to take every single one of us to make this
3 happen.  
4 You’re damn right I’m passionate about public
5 safety.  I’ve been in it my entire life.  I’ve been a
6 public servant my entire life.  And I’m going to
7 continue tomorrow.  District 3, if you choose not to
8 put me back on council, that’s your choice.  That’s
9 your choice.
10 APPLAUSE
11 RAY GRAHAM:  I’m going to still work
12 for the community I live in, the community I serve. 
13 And if you honestly think that we do not need to
14 improve our system, you’re wrong. 
15 As far as the QRV system, yes, I think it will be
16 an addition to Anderson County.  I think it will
17 improve our service to Anderson County.  Single
18 provider, why would you not have a single provider?  A
19 single provider is only moving the system forward.  Did
20 we go about it the right way?  I’ve got hesitate on
21 that.  
22 Don, I’ve got the most respect for you, sir.  We
23 put you in a heck of a spot by doing that.  We should
24 have removed you just like we did Steve Kelly.  Shame
25 on us as council members.
26 APPLAUSE
27 RAY GRAHAM:  Shame on us.
28 And as far as, you know, everybody getting their
29 head out of the sand, that includes the fellow council
30 members sitting up here with me right now.  I said it’s
31 my turn.  With all due respect, I listened to
32 everything you had to say.  I’ve answered every call
33 that’s been made to me.  We’ve got an issue and we’ve
34 got to move it forward, guys.  It’s time to quit
35 pointing fingers and figure out what can we do to fix
36 it?  
37 Greg, I’ve known you a long time.  But with all due
38 respect, I personally don’t care if it’s Priority or
39 who it is.  I want somebody that’s going to serve our
40 county, serve our citizens, and give them the level of
41 care that we need.  
42 Again, I think that one system is the way to go. 
43 My heartburn right here tonight, because I did listen
44 to the people that put me here, regardless of what your
45 thoughts are, and I do have a concern with some of the
46 decisions we made.  Again, one of them was to allow Mr.
47 McCown to be on that committee.  We should have never
48 put him in that position.  We set him up and set this
49 up for failure from day one.
50 The other thing, we didn’t include the chiefs on



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
36

1 this.  The chiefs pretty much has invested their lives
2 in Anderson County.  At no point did we give them a
3 complete direction on what we wanted on this RFP.
4 APPLAUSE
5 RAY GRAHAM:  Again, as chairman of
6 Public Safety, I’ll take that.  I’ll take that.
7 FEMALE:   (Inaudible.)
8 RAY GRAHAM:  Ma’am, the commission has
9 nothing to do with this.  The commission was disbanded. 
10 Again, nothing to do with this system.  The commission
11 never met -- you’re right, you were chairman.  The
12 chairman has a right to call meetings.  So I’m sorry,
13 I’m not going to take the blame for that.  It was a
14 committee that was no longer meeting is the reason it
15 was disbanded.
16 FEMALE:   (Inaudible.)
17 RAY GRAHAM:  It’s not up for
18 discussion.
19 The other things, again, we’ve got to continue --
20 guys, y’all have worked your entire lives -- and I’m
21 fifty-one and some of you are older than I am that’s
22 been doing it a heck of a lot longer than I’ve been
23 around -- your entire lives to put our system where it
24 is today to serve these people.  And now all of a
25 sudden, we’re hating every single one of us.  We’re
26 hating on every single one of us.  
27 MALE:  (Inaudible.)
28 RAY GRAHAM:  No, it ain’t just y’all. 
29 Shame on every one of you for stooping to that level. 
30 If you want to fix the problem, let’s come to a
31 solution.  Let’s come -- it’s not for discussion, guys. 
32 The point I’m saying, we’ve got to come up with a
33 solution.  We’ve got to be willing to change to make
34 the system better.  
35 TALKING FROM AUDIENCE
36 TOMMY DUNN:  Hold it down.  This ain’t
37 no -- how many time -- how many times y’all having
38 trouble understanding something.  This ain’t debatable. 
39 It’s over with.  The council is discussing now.  
40 FEMALE:    What about ---
41 TOMMY DUNN:  The council is discussing
42 now.
43 RAY GRAHAM:  Mr. Chairman, with all
44 due respect, I understand there was two motions already
45 on the floor.  And I’m going to be that one individual
46 that makes another motion that’s just somewhat
47 different enough to try to get this passed.  Before I
48 do that, because I know once it’s done, there’s no
49 debating of it.  
50 I’d just ask each and every one of the council



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
37

1 members up here today, number one, what is the harm of
2 giving two more weeks?  
3 APPLAUSE
4 RAY GRAHAM:  Number two, we make
5 decisions.  We’re put in this position up here every
6 day to make decisions.  And along with that -- guys,
7 there’s many times that you don’t have a clue the
8 information that’s onboard.  The same thing with
9 businesses.  Everybody don’t have all the information
10 when a CEO makes a decision or when the board members
11 makes a decision.  But at the end of the day, we’ve got
12 to make the best decision to move forward.  
13 I agree with one provider.  I agree with the QRV
14 system.  I don’t agree with the way we’ve done this
15 RFP.  And again, that’s shame on us as council.  
16 I ask my fellow council members before I make this
17 motion to please look inside your heart and determine
18 what is best for your individual district and what is
19 truly at stake here in Anderson County tonight.  
20 Mr. Chairman, I bring forth in the form of a motion
21 that we allow fifteen days to table this that’s before
22 us tonight to basically determine what further action
23 we need to move in and basically how to fix what we
24 wronged.  That’s what my motion is.
25 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a motion by Mr.
26 Graham to postpone for fifteen days -- to table for
27 fifteen days.  Do we have a second?
28 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
29 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
30 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  All in
31 favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed.  Show
32 the motion fails.  Any more discussion?
33 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
34 BRETT SANDERS:  Mr. Chairman.
35 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Sanders.
36 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman, your time
37 has expired again.  I don’t know if you want to extend
38 it or not?
39 TOMMY DUNN:  I make a motion to extend
40 three minutes for Mr. Sanders’ remarks.  
41 RAY GRAHAM:  I second that.
42 TOMMY DUNN:  Everybody else has had a
43 chance.
44 RAY GRAHAM:  Second.
45 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Graham seconds that. 
46 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
47 like sign.  Show the motion carries.  Mr. Sanders.
48 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you, sir.  I
49 understand the emotions and the things that’s going on
50 ---



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
38

1 FEMALE:  Speak in the mic, please.
2 BRETT SANDERS:  Is that better?  Thank
3 you.  I understand the emotions and things that’s going
4 on.  There is fifteen days, thirty days, we’re still
5 going to be in the same situation we are now.  I see
6 people out here laughing and carrying on like this is a
7 joke.  This isn’t a joke.  Do you know that twenty-
8 eight percent of our EMS providers right now, they’re
9 probably not going to be here in the next year or two
10 years.  Sixty-three percent of you have bad financials. 
11 We sit in the chiefs’ meeting, you guys said, hey, just
12 give us more money, give us more money.  That was said. 
13 The thing is, seven different chiefs, squads, going
14 in seven different directions isn’t going to cut it any
15 more.  2016, I keep -- I answered every call, too. 
16 I’ve been cussed.  I’ve been said this is a great idea. 
17 But I’m sitting here tonight, the thing is, this system
18 has been screwed up prior to 2016.  I wasn’t here in
19 2016.  But it was bad enough for the county to spend
20 I’ve heard two hundred and fifty thousand; I’ve heard
21 eighty thousand, on a study.  I don’t know.  But from
22 eighty to two hundred and fifty thousand dollars.  That
23 same study, every squad got a copy of.  It listed every
24 -- it identified current problems, future problems,
25 ways to address these problems.  You know what was
26 done?  Absolutely nothing.  And do you know why it was
27 done?  There was only two reasons why nothing was done. 
28 And that’s either poor management or they weren’t
29 financially able.  And I tend to think toward the
30 latter, it was the financial side of it.  
31 We can keep moving forward.  All we -- hey, y’all
32 want -- we’ll just keep raising taxes, keep wasting
33 money.  I think one system is the way to go.  It’s
34 going to provide increased quality of care, increase in
35 the number of ambulances, increase in accountability. 
36 This isn’t a political thing for me.  And I’m not up
37 here grandstanding because of buddies.  I took an oath
38 of office and that oath stated that I was going to do
39 what was -- let’s see -- defend the Constitution,
40 preserve and protect the Constitution and the citizens
41 of this county.  And I think that’s what I’m doing. 
42 That’s why I voted here.  Hey, it is what it is.  And
43 the facts speak for themselves.  Priority gets the
44 contract, they’re obligated under a contract.  I want
45 to see council have a committee set up to look at this
46 thing on a weekly basis.  They mess up, fine their ass.
47 COMMOTION FROM AUDIENCE
48 BRETT SANDERS:  They’ve been fined.  And
49 what I say, I want a committee.  You guys haven’t been
50 fined.  I keep hearing I had to go over to this area. 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
39

1 This is Anderson County.  And I heard, oh, I helped
2 Priority seventeen times.  Well, I’ve got all the data. 
3 I don’t know if everybody up here has went through the
4 hundreds and hundreds of pages of stuff that I’ve went
5 through, the financials, stacks this high.  I went
6 every last one of them.  I’m telling you, there’s a
7 problem.  There is a major problem.
8 FEMALE:  (Inaudible.)
9 BRETT SANDERS:  I can’t hear.  But the
10 thing is, like Mr. Graham said, this is my turn to
11 talk.  This is my turn to talk.  I’m not going to sit
12 here and let us be bashed.  I am here tonight.  I’m
13 going to do what I was elected to do.  And I’m going to
14 vote yes for one system.  And I’m going to hold them
15 accountable.  If it’s not held accountable, we’ll get
16 someone in here that is.  We will fine them.  We’ll
17 stay on it on a weekly -- you guys had your
18 opportunity.  Like I said, y’all have been twenty
19 something years, I’m telling you when you get back look
20 at your squads.  Look at your financials.  And say, how
21 are we going to make it?
22 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Sanders, that’s time.
23 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you.
24 TOMMY DUNN:  Appreciate it.
25 Call for the question.  All in favor of the
26 recommendation from the Public Safety Committee, show
27 of hands.
28 CINDY WILSON:  Say that again.
29 TOMMY DUNN:  All in favor of the
30 proposal from the -- recommendation from the Public
31 Safety Committee, show of hands.  All opposed.  Show
32 the motion carries four to three.  
33 Anything else, Mr. Graham?
34 RAY GRAHAM:  No, sir, Mr. Chairman. 
35 Thank you.
36 TOMMY DUNN:  Moving on to item number
37 7, naming of Broadway Lake facility.  Mr. Glenn Davis.
38 CINDY WILSON:  No, you missed one.
39 GLENN DAVIS:  Number 6.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  I’m sorry.  I thought
41 that was the same one.  Hang on a minute.  We’re just
42 going to hang on and let people get out of here.
43 RAY GRAHAM:  I need a recess.  Just
44 for a minute.
45 TOMMY DUNN:  We’re going to take about
46 a two minute recess until everybody gets out of the
47 room.
48 RECESS
49 CINDY WILSON:  Mr. Chairman.
50 TOMMY DUNN:  We ain’t ready yet.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
40

1 CINDY WILSON:  Make I make a point of
2 privilege to recognize someone here tonight?
3 TOMMY DUNN:  Let’s get everybody here.
4 Okay.  Let’s call the meeting back into order.  
5 Ms. Wilson has asked for the floor for a few
6 minutes.  Ms. Wilson.
7 CINDY WILSON:  Just wanted to give a
8 moment of recognition to one of our former county
9 interns who has just done an exemplary job of educating
10 himself and now serving as a teacher at Varennes
11 Elementary School.  We are so proud of him.  And just
12 so you’ll know, back during the first presidential
13 campaign, he impressed Dr. Ben Carson so much that he
14 was flown to Washington, D.C. for a leadership program. 
15 So we’re so proud of you, Justin.
16 TOMMY DUNN:  Stand up, Justin.
17 APPLAUSE
18 TOMMY DUNN:  Now, Mr. Graham.
19 RAY GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
20 I’m going to call him out.  He’s down there on his
21 phone, I think.  Patrick Jackson.  Patrick Jackson is
22 over Starr-Iva Water District.  Has done an
23 exceptionally great job since he has taken that
24 position.  Got a great working relationship with the
25 county.  Patrick, it’s always a pleasure working with
26 you guys.  I appreciate everything you do.  All the
27 forward thinking and insight that y’all have.  Y’all
28 are doing a great job down there.  Definitely
29 appreciate it.  And appreciate you being here tonight. 
30 Thank you.
31 APPLAUSE 
32 TOMMY DUNN:  I know we’ve got
33 something on the agenda later on, but I want to also
34 give a shout out and welcome the mayor of Williamston
35 here, Mr. Burgess.  Mayor Burgess, appreciate you.
36 BRETT SANDERS:  Mr. Chairman, I think he
37 has a couple of his council members here, too.
38 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Mayor, you got a
39 couple of council members here?
40 CINDY WILSON:  And Mr. Alexander.
41 MAYOR BURGESS:  (Inaudible.)
42 APPLAUSE
43 CINDY WILSON:  Thank y’all for being
44 here.
45 TOMMY DUNN:  We’re moving on now to
46 item number 7, Honorable Councilman Glenn Davis.
47 CINDY WILSON:  Wait a minute.
48 TOMMY DUNN:  I’m sorry.  I keep -- I’m
49 sorry.  We’re going to Item number 6, report from
50 Planning and Public Works Committee meeting held



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
41

1 Thursday, July 15th.  And I’m sorry about that,
2 Chairman Wilson.  Go ahead.
3 CINDY WILSON:  Very quickly.  At our
4 July 15th meeting last week, we welcomed approximately
5 twenty-five attendees to our conservation development
6 design discourse.  There were many important points
7 made by our citizens, development and real estate
8 community, planning staff and elected people.  A local
9 group made a PowerPoint presentation which covered
10 measured they wished to see implemented and provided
11 sample ordinances from counties in North Carolina and
12 Georgia that have been in place and seem to be working
13 well there.
14 It is our plan to get together in a workshop type
15 meeting with the various parties to hash out measures
16 for a proposed ordinance for second reading.  Maybe we
17 can get together in a couple of weeks and have kind of
18 a round table.  This will allow -- the ordinance which
19 our county would propose gives developers some
20 flexibility and incentive to develop in a more
21 attractive manner that fits well into our various
22 communities across the county.  We’ll set a date for
23 that for the second week in August.  And if y’all will
24 look at your calendars, we’ll try to get something set
25 up for the next meeting soon.  
26 And we’re doing this in a step-by-step measure. 
27 What seems to be a commonsense approach to land
28 development that keeps it looking nice and fitting well
29 into communities and has all kinds of great attributes
30 in that it reduces stormwater runoff, makes it more
31 liveable there for people, there’s more connectivity,
32 so to speak.  People in general are willing to pay a
33 little more to live in a place like that.  But we have
34 a lot of working parts to make that work.  And we’re
35 going forward step by step, educating ourselves and our
36 community and the different folks that are involved in
37 this, and we hope to have a product for second reading
38 by the end of August.  And as always it may have some
39 adjustments that should be made.  Thank you very much.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you, Ms. Wilson.
41 Now, for the third time -- hope the third time’s
42 the charm -- we’re going to move on to Item number 7,
43 Honorable Glenn Davis.  Councilman.
44 GLENN DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
45 As you all know Ms. Gracie Floyd was a pillar of our
46 community.  And since I’m filling her shoes, or trying
47 to, the building -- the events center that’s at McFalls
48 Landing, I would like to rename that building Gracie
49 Floyd Event Center at McFalls Landing.  
50 TOMMY DUNN:  Put that in the form of a



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
42

1 motion?
2 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
3 TOMMY DUNN:  Got a motion Mr. Davis;
4 second Ms. Wilson.  Now any discussion?
5 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair.
6 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Jimmy Davis.
7 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair. 
8 Mr. Glenn Davis, I thank you for bringing that to us. 
9 You know, I only got to serve with Ms. Floyd just for a
10 few years.  And while we didn’t always see eye to eye,
11 I had the utmost respect for her and I thank you for
12 bringing this forward.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
13 RAY GRAHAM:  Mr. Chair.
14 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Graham.
15 RAY GRAHAM:  I want to kind of tap off
16 of what Mr. Davis -- I apologize.  Go ahead.  
17 TOMMY DUNN:  You’ve got the floor.
18 RAY GRAHAM:  I look back when I was on
19 the sheriff’s department with Broadway Lake patrol and
20 I attended all the meetings down there at Broadway
21 Lake.  That community just truly loved Ms. Floyd.  She
22 was always there for them and always taking care of
23 their needs.  And even to this day, I mean they still
24 speak very highly of her.  And it’s definitely well
25 deserved changing the name for that venue.  Definitely
26 glad you brought that, as well, Mr. Davis.  Thank you.
27 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  Mr. Sanders.
28 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
29 I just wanted to thank Mr. Davis for bringing that up. 
30 Ms. Floyd was a true friend of mine.  I loved Ms.
31 Floyd.  We didn’t see eye to eye on a lot of things. 
32 But we agreed to disagree, just like Councilman Davis
33 and I on this EMS thing.  But I think Mr. Glenn Davis
34 is going to do a great job.  I think Ms. Floyd is
35 looking down and she’s proud that he is in her seat. 
36 And I’m here to support him and help him in any way. 
37 And I’m just glad to see that the Broadway Lake
38 facility is getting renamed.  Thank you.  Thank you,
39 Mr. Davis.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.
41 GLENN DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman.
42 TOMMY DUNN:  Yes, sir.
43 GLENN DAVIS:  One more important thing
44 that I left out, I have the blessing of her sons.  I
45 forgot about that, but I don’t want to leave it out.  I
46 talked with them and I do have their blessing.
47 TOMMY DUNN:  I appreciate that, Mr.
48 Davis.  And that’s good information to know.  That’s
49 very good for the family at this time.  I know they’re
50 having some difficult times.  I’m sure the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
43

1 administrator and you will get together and do this at
2 the appropriate time when the family can be here. 
3 Appreciate that.  Anyone else?  All in favor of Mr.
4 Davis’s motion, show of hands.  All opposed like sign. 
5 Show the motion carries unanimously.  
6 APPLAUSE
7 TOMMY DUNN:  Now we’re going to be
8 moving on to number 8(a), third reading.  As I said
9 earlier, all the third readings 8(a) through 8(g) has
10 been stricken.  Going to be taken up at the second
11 meeting in August.
12 We’re going to go now to Item number 9(a), 2021-40,
13 an Ordinance to amend Chapter 2, Article V
14 (Purchasing), Sections 2-631, 2-634, 2-638, 2-639, 2-
15 640, 2-643, 2-649, and 2-654 of the Code of Ordinances,
16 Anderson County, South Carolina.  This is our second
17 reading.  We went through this before.  And this is
18 changing our procurement policy as far as the limits on
19 purchasing -- on money where we have to go before bids
20 and what comes out through the procurement thing.  Mr.
21 Carroll, have you got anything you’d like to add?
22 ROBERT CARROLL:  No, sir, not at this
23 time.
24 TOMMY DUNN:  Do we have a motion to
25 put this on the floor?
26 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
27 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Mr. Davis.  Do we
28 have a second?
29 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
30 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Ms. Wilson.  Now
31 any discussion?  Hearing none, all in favor of the
32 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
33 motion carries.  I appreciate the committee working on
34 this, and I appreciate Mr. Carroll’s input on this. 
35 Hope this will streamline and make us get a better
36 product for the citizens of Anderson County and more
37 efficient.
38 Now we’re going to be moving to Item number
39 (b),2021-042, an Ordinance authorizing the execution
40 and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement by and
41 between Anderson County, South Carolina and [Project
42 Amelia] with respect to certain economic development
43 property in the County, whereby such property will be
44 subject to certain payments in lieu of taxes, including
45 the provision of certain special source credits; and
46 other matters related thereto.  As I said, this is a
47 second reading.  Do we have a motion to put this on the
48 floor?
49 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
50 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Mr. Sanders.  Do



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
44

1 we have a second?
2 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
3 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Ms. Wilson.  Now,
4 any discussion?  Mr. Nelson, do you have anything?
5 BURRISS NELSON:  Mr. Chairman, this is an
6 expansion of one of our existing spec building
7 operations, another thirteen million dollar, two
8 hundred thousand square foot plus building being added
9 to our spec building inventory.  And it comes to
10 council with a recommendation from the staff as well as
11 the Economic Development Advisory Board.
12 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?  All in
13 favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
14 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
15 Moving on to Item number (c), 9(c), 2021-043, an
16 Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a
17 fee in lieu of tax agreement by and between Anderson
18 County, South Carolina and [Project Limestone] with
19 respect to certain economic development property in the
20 County, whereby such property will be subject to
21 certain payments in lieu of taxes, including the
22 provision of certain special source credits; and other
23 matters related thereto.  Again, this is a second
24 reading.  Do we have a motion to move this forward?
25 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
26 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Ms. Wilson.  Do we
27 have a second?
28 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
29 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  Any
30 discussion?  Mr. Nelson.
31 BURRISS NELSON:  Mr. Chairman, this is
32 another spec building operation, eight hundred thousand
33 square feet of building, thirty-one million in capital
34 investment for additional opportunities for Anderson
35 County.
36 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?  Do we have
37 a motion to move this forward?
38 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
39 TOMMY DUNN:  I’m sorry.  We’ve voting. 
40 All in favor of the vote show of hands.  All opposed
41 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
42 Moving on now to number 9(d), 2021-044, an
43 Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a
44 fee in lieu of tax agreement by and between Anderson
45 County, South Carolina and [Project Flay] with respect
46 to certain economic development property in the county,
47 whereby such property will be subject to certain
48 payments in lieu of taxes, including the provision of
49 certain special source credits; and other matters
50 related thereto.  Again, this is a second reading.  Do



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
45

1 we have a motion on the floor?
2 JOHN WRIGHT:  So moved.
3 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Mr. Wright.  Do we
4 have a second?
5 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
6 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  Any
7 discussion?  Mr. Nelson.
8 BURRISS NELSON:  Mr. Chairman, this is a
9 project -- pretty specialized operation, twenty-nine
10 million dollars in capital investment, creating forty-
11 one jobs with an average pay of twenty dollars an hour,
12 adding to the county’s annual payroll 1.69 million
13 dollars.  This comes to council with a recommendation
14 from staff, as well as the Economic Development
15 Advisory Board.
16 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?  We have a
17 motion on the floor.  All in favor of it show of hands. 
18 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
19 unanimously.
20 9(e), 2021-045, an Ordinance to amend an agreement
21 for the development of a joint county industrial and
22 business park (2010 park) of Anderson and Greenville
23 counties so as to enlarge the park to add Fitesa
24 Simpsonville, Inc. to the business park; and other
25 matters related thereto.  Do we have a motion to move
26 this forward?
27 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
28 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
29 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Mr. Davis; second
30 Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  Mr. Nelson.
31 BURRISS NELSON:  Mr. Chairman, this is an
32 opportunity for Greenville County expansion, adding
33 this project to our county agreement with Greenville. 
34 And Greenville sends its thanks for this opportunity
35 and appreciation for your consideration of this
36 addition.
37 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  All in favor
38 of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign. 
39 Show the motion unanimously.
40 Moving on to item number 10(a), first reading, this
41 will be 2021-046, an Ordinance authorizing the
42 execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax
43 agreement by and between Anderson County, South
44 Carolina and [Project Polly] with respect to certain
45 economic development property in the county, whereby
46 such property will be subject to certain payments in
47 lieu of taxes, including the provision of certain
48 special source credits; and other matters related
49 thereto.  Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
50 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
46

1 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Ms. Wilson.  Do we
2 have a second?
3 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
4 TOMMY DUNN:  Second by Mr. Davis.  And
5 that’s Glenn Davis.  Any discussion?  Mr. Nelson.
6 BURRISS NELSON:  Mr. Chairman, this is an
7 opportunity with one of our existing industries
8 expanding almost eighteen million dollars in capital
9 investment, seventy-six jobs with an average pay of
10 twenty-nine dollars and nineteen cents an hour, annual
11 payroll 4.4 million dollars added to their almost a
12 hundred and fifty jobs they already have in the county. 
13 This comes to council with a recommendation from staff,
14 as well as from the Economic Development Advisory
15 Board.
16 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?  All in
17 favor of the motion show of hands.  Opposed like sign. 
18 Show the motion carries unanimously.
19 We’re going to be moving on now to item number
20 10(b), 2021-047, an ordinance to amend an agreement for
21 the development of a joint county industrial and
22 business park (2010 park) of Anderson and Greenville
23 counties so as to enlarge the park. (Project Stella). 
24 Do we have a motion to move this forward?  
25 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
26 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Ms. Wilson.  Do we
27 have a second?
28 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
29 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Glenn Davis. 
30 Any discussion?  All in favor of the -- I mean Mr.
31 Burriss, Mr. Nelson.
32 BURRISS NELSON:  Yes, sir.  Thank you, Mr.
33 Chairman.  This is an opportunity for us to add an
34 additional project from Greenville County, unannounced,
35 and it gives them the opportunity to access economic
36 development benefits for that project from the
37 Department of Commerce.  This comes with a
38 recommendation from staff and recommendation from the
39 Advisory Board.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a motion. 
41 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of
42 hands.  Opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
43 unanimously.
44 We’re going to move on now to item number 10(c),
45 that’s 2021-048, an Ordinance authorizing the sale of
46 Anderson County owned capacity in the Town of
47 Williamston Wastewater Treatment Plant and Anderson
48 County sewer infrastructure to serve the Forest Hills
49 subdivision; and other matters related thereto.  I
50 think this is some capacity that we’re not needing that



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
47

1 our sewer department is recommending.  The town of
2 Williamston does need it.  They’ve agreed to a price,
3 and I’ll let Mr. Burns carry on.
4 RUSTY BURNS:  Mr. Chairman, a long time
5 ago Anderson County participated with the town of
6 Williamston to do work on their sewer treatment plant. 
7 This is a project near and dear to Ms. Wilson’s heart. 
8 And Williamston is growing rapidly.  They have new
9 housing developments.  They’ve been a great partner
10 with Anderson County.  We partner with them on several
11 things.  And the mayor and Ms. Wilson have worked out
12 this deal.  And will be in exchange for three hundred
13 thousand, which will save Williamston millions of
14 dollars and allow their growth to proceed.  Is that
15 correct, mayor?
16 MAYOR BURGESS:  That’s correct, Mr.
17 Burns.
18 RUSTY BURNS:  Ms. Wilson?
19 CINDY WILSON:  Well, it’s just
20 incredible to see the rapid growth over in the
21 Williamston area.  We took folks over to All About
22 Fabrics last week.  There were people from all over the
23 United States over there shopping.  Williamston is
24 moving along so well.  And this is a great opportunity
25 to help support that.  And I’m sure if we have a
26 business that located outside the city limits that
27 needs capacity, that the good mayor and council of
28 Williamston would be willing to help.  So we’re glad --
29 I’m glad to make the motion that we do that.
30 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a motion by Ms.
31 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
32 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
33 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  Any
34 discussion?  I’d just like to say for the record, Mr. 
35 ---
36 RUSTY BURNS:  The mayor wants to say
37 something.
38 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  I just want to
39 say, for the record, Mr. Burns, this is just getting
40 our money back what we paid to have this originally;
41 right?
42 RUSTY BURNS:  Yes, sir, at a discounted
43 rate, Mr. Chairman.
44 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  Mayor, would you
45 like to say a few words?
46 MAYOR BURGESS:  Mr. Chairman, I certainly
47 would.  Number one, I want to tell you -- our chairman
48 and also our council -- particularly our Council Lady
49 Ms. Wilson, this provides an opportunity for us.  We’re
50 looking long term.  In the next five years in



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
48

1 Williamston if you guys retain that capacity, we would
2 have to look at expanding the plant, which would be
3 tremendously costly.  We’re currently under a bond. 
4 There’s no way we could do that without tripling our
5 rates, at least tripling our rates to our residents or
6 putting a moratorium on growth.  That’s not good for
7 Williamston and that’s not good for the county.  That’s
8 not good for anybody.  So I appreciate you guys being
9 willing to work with us on this.  I know it’s been a
10 political football since the eighties.  And I’m glad to
11 be able to have -- put this to rest. 
12 I failed to mention, too, a while ago.  We have our
13 new fire chief here, too, if y’all don’t mind me
14 introducing him, Chief David Huff.  I failed to
15 recognize him a while ago.
16 Thank y’all very much.  And we appreciate the
17 partnership that we have with the county.  You guys do
18 us well.  And we’re here, likewise, if you guys need
19 something, please call us.  We stand ready to help.
20 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank y’all.  Anyone
21 else?
22 CINDY WILSON:  It just must be said that
23 our county works really hard with our municipalities. 
24 We believe in the fact that the rising tide floats all
25 boats.  Thank you.
26 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  I really
27 appreciate the partnership we have with Williamston. 
28 Look forward to some more endeavors.  Anyway we help
29 them.  I know y’all couldn’t have picked a better night
30 to come to council meeting.  That’s a good thing, too. 
31 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
32 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
33 unanimously.  Again, appreciate y’all.
34 Okay.  We’re going to be moving on now to item
35 number 10(d), 2021-049, an Ordinance authorizing the
36 execution and delivery of a special source credit
37 agreement between Anderson County, South Carolina and
38 Robert Bosch LLC; and other matters relating thereto. 
39 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?  
40 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
41 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Ms. Wilson.  Do we
42 have a second.
43 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
44 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Wright.  Now,
45 Mr. Nelson.
46 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
47 members of council.  If you’ll remember in December of
48 2017 and then again in 2018, Bosch had major expansions
49 and announcements for Anderson County, totaling almost
50 two hundred million, and creating almost an additional



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
49

1 hundred and ninety-five employees, adding to what they
2 now have is about eleven hundred employees, with an
3 annual payroll of fifty-four million dollars annual
4 payroll.  This is a true-up of some infrastructure
5 needs that they had requested in each of those 2017,
6 2018 agreements that we failed to capture in those fee
7 agreements.  This is a true-up.  We’re three years
8 behind in actually addressing this.  And this gives us
9 an opportunity over a three-year period and this is an
10 SSRC, which is a reduction of the property taxes --
11 this is not cash -- to set aside two hundred fourteen
12 thousand seven hundred eighty-one dollars and thirty-
13 four cents each year for the next three years to
14 satisfy this shortfall in the incentive that we had
15 hoped that we would be able to address earlier and to
16 be able to address all of their infrastructure needs. 
17 This comes to council with a recommendation from staff,
18 as well as from the Economic Development Advisory
19 Board.
20 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone?  Questions,
21 comments?  Hearing none, all in favor of the motion
22 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
23 carries unanimously.
24 Moving on to item number 10(e), 2021-050, an
25 Ordinance authorizing a fee-in-lieu-of-tax arrangement
26 on behalf of Project New (the “Company”) pursuant to a
27 Fee-in-Lieu-of-Tax Agreement between Anderson County,
28 South Carolina (the “County”) and the company;
29 authorizing a 5-year extension of the investment period
30 for all investments over the minimum investment
31 requirement; authorizing the granting of certain
32 infrastructure credits to the company; authorizing the
33 creation of a joint county industrial and business park
34 with Greenville County; and other matters relating to
35 the foregoing.  Do we have a motion to put this on the
36 floor?
37 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
38 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Ms. Wilson.  Do we
39 have a second?
40 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
41 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  Now
42 discussion?  Mr. Nelson.
43 BURRISS NELSON:  Mr. Chairman, members of
44 council, this is a project going into a rural area of
45 Anderson County.  It’s a family-owned very honorable
46 company and business in the wood products, engineered
47 wood products industry, investing 2.9 million dollars
48 over the next five years, creating twenty-five jobs in
49 an area that really needs the jobs creation, with an
50 average page of twenty dollars and seven cents an hour,



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
50

1 with new annual payroll of one million dollars.  This
2 comes to County Council as a recommendation from staff,
3 as well as the Economic Advisory Board.
4 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?  All in
5 favor of the motion show of hands.  Opposed like sign. 
6 Show the motion carries unanimously.
7 Moving on to item number 11(a), resolutions,
8 Resolution R2021-033, a resolution approving a request
9 for C-Funds from the Anderson County Transportation
10 Committee for the paving of certain Anderson County
11 maintained roads; and other matters related thereto. 
12 This is to put them before that committee.  I think
13 y’all had a list of them.  Do we have a motion to move
14 this forward?
15 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
16 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Ms. Wilson.  Do we
17 have a second?
18 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
19 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  Do we
20 have any discussion?  Mr. Burns, you have anything?
21 RUSTY BURNS:  No, sir, that’s it.
22 TOMMY DUNN:  Hearing none, all in
23 favor of the motion show of hands.  Opposed like sign. 
24 Show the motion carries unanimously.
25 11(b), R2021-034.  This is just an inducement
26 agreement going back to the project we done with
27 Project Polly.  Do we have a motion to move this
28 forward?
29 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
30 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion ms. Wilson.  Do we
31 have a second?
32 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
33 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  Now
34 discussion.  You don’t have nothing on this, do you? 
35 It’s all cut and dried?  We were talking about this a
36 while ago.
37 BURRISS NELSON:  We covered it earlier;
38 yes, sir.
39 TOMMY DUNN:  Anybody got anything
40 else?  All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
41 opposed like sign. 
42 Can I receive a motion that we go into executive
43 session for legal matters regarding matters of protocol
44 related to the insurance and law enforcement property
45 transfer, also legal advice involving the Preston
46 matters, also receive legal advice concerning the
47 Beeson cases and Falcon Development case in circuit
48 court involving the Planning Commission.
49 RAY GRAHAM:  Motion.
50 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Graham makes the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
51

1 motion we go into executive session.  Do we have a
2 second?
3 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
4 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Ms. Wilson.  All
5 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
6 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
7 We’ll be right back.
8 EXECUTIVE SESSION
9 TOMMY DUNN:  Call the council meeting
10 back in order.  
11 CINDY WILSON:  Mr. Chairman, may I make
12 the motion that we come out of executive session,
13 having received legal advice regarding matters of
14 protocol related to insurance and law enforcement
15 property transfer.  We received legal advice involving
16 Preston matters.  We received legal advice concerning
17 Beeson cases and Falcon Development case in circuit
18 court involving the Planning Commission.  And with no
19 decisions made behind doors.
20 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a motion by Ms.
21 Wilson to come back out of executive session, taking no
22 action on those matters she named.  Do we have a
23 second?
24 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
25 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  All in
26 favor of the motion show of hands.  Opposed like sign. 
27 Show the motion carries unanimously.
28 Moving on, we have a motion from Mr. Graham.
29 RAY GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
30 I make the motion to transfer title from the sheriff’s
31 office back to the original owner of a 2014 Ford
32 Fusion.  The vehicle is no longer in use at the
33 sheriff’s department.
34 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a motion by Mr.
35 Graham.
36 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
37 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Ms. Wilson.  Any
38 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
39 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
40 unanimously. 
41 Moving on, we have a motion by Mr. Wright.
42 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
43 I make a motion to approve the mediated settlement
44 agreement regarding the Insurance Reserve Fund, prepaid
45 legal case and Preston state court case and the Preston
46 Federal Bankruptcy Court matters discussed in executive
47 session.
48 CINDY WILSON:  I’ll second that.
49 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a motion Mr.
50 Wright and second Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
52

1 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
2 TOMMY DUNN:  Yes, ma’am.
3 CINDY WILSON:  Very briefly.  It does
4 preserve the county’s position in the bankruptcy
5 matter.  This is the insurance matter.  Thank you.
6 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  Anyone else? 
7 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
8 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.  
9 We’re going to move on to item number 14, Walker’s
10 Point Subdivision -- bid approvals.  Okay.  If we must.
11 Bid approval, number 13, that will be bid number
12 21-063, Dolly Cooper Park fuel tank and component
13 installation.  Mr. Carroll.
14 ROBERT CARROLL:  This is for the Dolly
15 Cooper Park fuel tank and component installation up in
16 Mr. Jimmy Davis’s District 6.  Recommend award to I
17 believe it’s pronounced Meco of Greenville, one hundred
18 eight thousand six hundred eighteen dollars.  And I’ve
19 got a caveat to that.  Plus I left off -- this was my
20 typo -- the payment performance bonds on that is three
21 and a half percent.  And that’s an additional thirty-
22 eight hundred dollars.  
23 TOMMY DUNN:  Do we have a motion to
24 move this forward?
25 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
26 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
27 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Mr. Davis; second
28 Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?
29 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair?
30 TOMMY DUNN:  Yes, sir.
31 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Hogan, are you going
32 to be doing the paving up there for that?
33 MR. HOGAN:  Yes, sir, we are.
34 JIMMY DAVIS:  All right.  So this has
35 been a long time in the making.  This will actually
36 help us with security in Dolly Cooper Park.  It’ll help
37 the sheriff’s deputies in the upper end of the county
38 to be able to stay on beat longer.  They won’t have to
39 come back to Anderson to fuel.  So this is a win-win. 
40 And with the new numbers, I haven’t figured the return
41 on investment, but the last time we looked at it, which
42 was a long time ago, prices have gone up a lot since
43 then, the ROI was about eighteen months on this.  So
44 this will be a win-win for the county.  Thank you, Mr.
45 Chair.
46 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else?  All in
47 favor of the motion show of hands.  Opposed like sign. 
48 Show the motion carries unanimously.
49 Now we’re try to move on to item number 14, road
50 acceptance, Walkers Pointe Subdivision: Apex Ct.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
53

1 (P-10-0368), Timothy Ct. (P-10-0369), Summerall Rd.
2 (P-10-0370-1).  I put that in the form of a motion.
3 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
4 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Ms. Wilson.  And
5 I’m sure that meets all county specifications?
6 RUSTY BURNS:  Yes, sir, they meet all
7 county specs.  Yes, sir.
8 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  Anymore
9 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
10 Opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
11 unanimously.
12 Moving on to appointments, number 15.  Mr. Davis,
13 District 6.
14 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  At
15 this time I would like to appoint Mr. Brad Swilling of
16 District 6 to the Zoning Board of Appeals.  I make that
17 in the form of a motion.
18 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
19 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
20 TOMMY DUNN:  Have a motion by Mr.
21 Davis and second by Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  I
22 know the chairman of the Appeals Board will be very
23 happy, Mr. Davis.  Thank you.  All in favor of the
24 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
25 motion carries unanimously.
26 Moving on now to requests by council members.  Mr.
27 Davis?
28 JIMMY DAVIS:  Nothing, sir.
29 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Sanders?
30 BRETT SANDERS:  Nothing at this time,
31 sir.
32 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Glenn Davis?
33 GLENN DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman, I’d like
34 for the record to show that I gave Homeland Park Fire
35 Department three thousand dollars, Anderson Jets Track
36 Team, fourteen hundred dollars.
37 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  Any one of these
38 other ones on here?
39 GLENN DAVIS:  And Friends of Broadway
40 Lake, I’ll give five hundred dollars.
41 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  
42 GLENN DAVIS:  And the Westside
43 Community Center, five hundred dollars.
44 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Davis makes that in
45 the form of a motion.  Do we have a second?
46 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
47 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Sanders.  Any
48 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
49 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
50 unanimously.  Mr. Graham.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
54

1 RAY GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
2 I’m going to do both of these together if that’s okay 
3 ---
4 TOMMY DUNN:  Yes, sir.
5 RAY GRAHAM:  --- with council.  I
6 bring forth in the form of a motion Crescent Elite
7 Cheers, fifteen hundred dollars; American Legion Post
8 44, four thousand dollars.  That’s in the form of a
9 motion.
10 TOMMY DUNN:  Have a motion by Mr.
11 Graham.  Have a second?
12 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
13 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
14 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Sanders.  Any
15 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
16 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
17 unanimously.  Mr. Wright.
18 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
19 I’d like to put in the form of a motion fifteen hundred
20 dollars from District 1's special rec account to HOPE
21 Missions Upstate.  I had an opportunity to tour this
22 facility with Mr. Steve Newton and Councilman Glenn
23 Davis yesterday, and see the wonderful work that they
24 do here in Anderson County for the homeless population. 
25 And I’m proud to be able to support that organization. 
26 Put that in the form of a motion.
27 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
28 TOMMY DUNN:  Have a motion by Mr.
29 Wright and second Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  All in
30 favor of the motion show of hands.  Opposed like sign. 
31 Show the motion carries unanimously.  Ms. Wilson.
32 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
33 District 7's rec account needs to make an appropriation
34 for the Watkins Community Center in Honea Path for
35 their service to the citizens there of fifteen hundred
36 dollars.
37 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a motion from Ms.
38 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
39 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Mr. Davis.  Any
41 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
42 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
43 unanimously.
44 District 5's special appropriations account, I’d
45 like to recommend five hundred dollars to the Westside
46 Community Center.  Put that in the form of a motion.
47 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
48 TOMMY DUNN:  Second Ms. Wilson.  Any
49 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
50 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
55

1 unanimously.
2 Moving on, administrator’s report.
3 RUSTY BURNS:  Nothing at this time, Mr.
4 Chairman.
5 TOMMY DUNN:  Moving on now to citizens
6 comments.  When Mr. Harmon calls your name, please step
7 forward, state your name and district for the record. 
8 You’ve got three minutes.  Please address the chair.
9 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman, first
10 speaker is Teresa Morgan.
11 TERESA MORGAN:  Thank you.  My name is
12 Teresa Locke Morgan.  I live in District 7.  And I’m
13 proud to say that Ms. Wilson is my council person.
14 I’ve got one question.  Y’all keep talking about
15 this three million dollar savings we’ve going to make. 
16 My question is, y’all -- the county does not own any of
17 the EMS providers’ buildings, any of the equipment,
18 none of the personnel.  So y’all -- Mr. McCown was on
19 the radio starting that you’re going to be in the same
20 location, same paramedics, same equipment.  Y’all going
21 to tell me how y’all are going to afford to buy all of
22 the seven out and put the QRVs there?  Because the
23 squads are not going to sell out to the county.  I can
24 promise you that much.  So that’s just a question I
25 need for y’all to think about.  Taxes will go up. 
26 Quality of care will go down.  Y’all have been promised
27 the moon and back, which has been done several times in
28 this county.  
29 And Ms. Rita Davis, can you tell me exactly how
30 we’re going to save this money?  Because, you know, you
31 figured it all out.  I’m proud to say that I’m an
32 alumni from Anderson University or Anderson College
33 when I went.  And I had an amazing statistics
34 professor.  And the first day of class, he walked in,
35 he said -- and he was a young guy.  He was really cute
36 by the way -- and he stepped in the first day of class
37 and he said, I’m going to tell y’all something and I
38 want y’all to always remember this.  Liars can figure
39 and figures can lie.  Is that possible, Ms. Davis? 
40 Yes.  And on every test we got five extra points if we
41 wrote down exactly what he said that first day of
42 class.  
43 Y’all need to figure out how are you going to pay
44 for this?  Because I’m telling you, liars can figure,
45 figures can lie.  You can be lied to and think you’re
46 being told the truth.  If somebody with enough
47 credentials can sit in front of you and say this is
48 what’s supposed to happen. 
49 So I need for all of y’all, when y’all -- before
50 you lay your head down tonight, think about the B.S.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
56

1 y’all have been given.  Think about where it’s coming
2 from.  Think about the players here.  I’ve always been
3 told, follow the money trail.  Follow the money trail
4 and think about where it’s going.  It’s going to AnMed. 
5 It’s going to Priority.  It’s going to MedShore. 
6 That’s where your money trail is.  Lock it and load it. 
7 And you guys just need to step up to the plate and
8 understand, y’all have been used.  Most of you have
9 been used.  We have two that haven’t.  But the rest of
10 you have been used.  Thank you for your time.
11 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Dan
12 Durham.
13 DAN DURHAM:  My name is Dan Durham and
14 I reside in Mr. Sanders’ district.  I’ve got to tell
15 you, I do appreciate you not tabling this tonight.  A
16 permanent postponement would have been good.  But to
17 table was not the answer, because that would have left
18 us in questions of well where do we go from here?  
19 You gave us the answer tonight, where do we go from
20 here?  And I think in Pelzer’s case, that’s probably
21 going to be to convert -- or to put two of our
22 facilities up for sale, knock out the remainder of our
23 debt, and then figure out what we want to do with the
24 main building.  I don’t know, we may be a landlord to a
25 dog kennel or something.
26 But nonetheless, we are where we are.  We’ve got a
27 contract with the county through 31 August.  So that
28 tells me, some 1 September y’all are going to be ready. 
29 I don’t know where you’re going to get the vehicles,
30 because we had one on order.  It was going to be six
31 months.  And when this thing came about, we pulled the
32 plug on that one.  It cost us a penalty to cancel that
33 order, but so be it.  We now figure out we did right.
34 I do compliment you, though, because you certainly
35 solved part of the shortage of paramedics for
36 Greenville and Pickens Counties.  We’ve already had
37 paramedics leaving.  I just hope we’ve got enough staff
38 on hand to handle our responsibilities through 31
39 August.  
40 In any event, though, it is what it is.  We’ll deal
41 with it.  But when we dispose of our assets, you can
42 never count on any of these rescue squads again coming
43 back because we won’t have the fixtures, the
44 facilities, the equipment or the personnel to pull
45 Anderson County’s fat out of the fire.  Thank you.
46 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Jill
47 O’Connor.
48 FEMALE:   (Inaudible.)
49 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.  Next.
50 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is Elizabeth



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
57

1 Fant.
2 TOMMY DUNN:  Uh-oh, something
3 happened.
4 LEON HARMON:  Final speaker is David
5 Long.
6 TOMMY DUNN:  David Long?  Next.
7 LEON HARMON:  No one is signed up, Mr.
8 Chair.
9 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you, Mr. Harmon.
10 Moving on to comments from council members.  Ms.
11 Wilson.
12 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
13 I just pray that this decision on EMS proves me wrong. 
14 I truly hope that I’m wrong here because being right is
15 no consolation, especially when you’re dealing with
16 folks’ lives.  Thank you.
17 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  Mr. Wright.
18 JOHN WRIGHT:  No, sir.
19 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  Mr. Graham.
20 RAY GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
21 I know we had a very heated topic tonight.  I just pray
22 that from this point our county will move forward.  I’m
23 sure there’s going to be hiccups in the road.  There’s
24 going to be bumps.  At the end of the day, the people
25 that’s been serving our county hopefully will continue
26 serving our county and the citizens in it.  We’ve got a
27 long ways to go.  
28 Mr. Durham, I agree, just to the 30th or 31st,
29 there’s a concern on whether or not we’re going to have
30 the coverage for that.  I pray at the end of the day
31 people make the right decisions in their heart to
32 continue serving the people.  At the end of the day
33 that is the direction on what we needed to be doing
34 anyway.  And that’s what we’ve done for years.  That’s
35 what you guys have done for years.  I hope we can look
36 back on this day and know we’ve made the right
37 decision.  Thank you.
38 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  Mr. Davis.
39 GLENN DAVIS:  No, sir.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  That was Glenn Davis. 
41 I’m sorry.  Mr. Sanders.
42 BRETT SANDERS:  Nothing at this time,
43 sir.
44 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Jimmy Davis.
45 JIMMY DAVIS:  No, sir.
46 TOMMY DUNN:  And it’s a long night. 
47 I’ve got several things I’d like to say about this
48 tonight but I’m going to wait and save them for another
49 time.  Let people go home.  Thank y’all for coming. 
50 Meeting adjourned.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - July  20, 2021
58

1 (MEETING ADJOURNED AT APPROXIMATELY 8:43 P.M.)



NPGVL1:2075726.3  

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-046 
 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND PLASTIC OMNIUM AUTO EXTERIORS, 
LLC WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 
IN THE COUNTY, WHEREBY SUCH PROPERTY WILL BE SUBJECT TO 
CERTAIN PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES, INCLUDING THE PROVISION OF 
CERTAIN SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), acting by and 

through its County Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to 
the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park 
Act”), and Title 4, Chapter 29, of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, to enter into 
agreements with industry whereby the industry would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified 
projects; to provide infrastructure credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of 
investment in certain infrastructure enhancing the economic development of the County; through all such 
powers the industrial development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade 
developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus 
utilize and employ the manpower, products and resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare 
of the County by providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided 
locally; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT Act, and in order to induce investment in the County, the 
County Council adopted on July 20, 2021 an inducement resolution (the “Inducement Resolution”) with 
respect to certain proposed investment by PLASTIC OMNIUM AUTO EXTERIORS, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company (the “Company”) (which was known to the County at the time as “Project 
Polly”), with respect to the acquisition, construction, and installation of land, buildings, improvements, 
fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real and/or tangible personal property to constitute a 
new distribution/manufacturing facility in the County (collectively, the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has represented that the Project will involve an investment of 
approximately $17,907,000 in the County and the expected creation by the Company’s tenant of 76 new, 
full-time jobs at the Project, all  the Investment Period (as such term is defined in the hereinafter defined Fee 
Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County has determined on the basis of the information supplied to it by the 
Company that the Project would be a “project” and “economic development property” as such terms are 
defined in the FILOT Act, and that the Project would serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the Project, to the extent 
not already therein located, to be placed in a joint county industrial and business park such that the Project 
will receive the benefits of the Multi-County Park Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Inducement Agreement, the County has agreed to, among other 
things, (a) enter into a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement with the Company (the 
“Fee Agreement”), whereby the County would provide therein for a payment of a fee-in-lieu-of taxes by 
the Company with respect to the Project, and (b) provide for certain infrastructure credits to be claimed by 



2 
NPGVL1:2075726.3  

the Company against its payments of fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to the Project pursuant to Section 4-
1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the County Council has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the form 
of the Fee Agreement which the County proposes to execute and deliver; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it appears that the documents above referred to, which are now before this meeting, 
are in appropriate form and are an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or approved by the 
County for the purposes intended;   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows: 
 

Section 1. Based on information supplied by the Company, it is hereby found, determined and 
declared by the County Council, as follows: 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” and “economic development property” as said terms 
are referred to and defined in the FILOT Act, and the County’s actions herein will subserve the purposes 
and in all respects conform to the provisions and requirements of the FILOT Act; 

(b) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

(c) The Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; 

(d) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, creation of 
jobs and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

(e) The benefits of the Project are anticipated to be greater than the costs. 

Section 2. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement presented to this meeting are 
hereby approved and all of the terms and provisions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if 
the Fee Agreement was set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chairman of County Council is hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver the Fee Agreement in the name of 
and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized and directed to attest the 
same, and thereupon to cause the Fee Agreement to be delivered to the Company and cause a copy of the 
same to be delivered to the Anderson County Auditor, Assessor and Treasurer. The Fee Agreement is to be 
in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby approved, or with such minor changes therein 
as shall be approved by the Chairman of County Council, upon advice of counsel, his execution thereof to 
constitute conclusive evidence of his approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the form of 
Fee Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 3. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk to 
County Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things 
necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Fee Agreement and the performance of all obligations 
of the County thereunder. 

Section 4. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases and provisions hereunder. 



3 
NPGVL1:2075726.3  

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent 
of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its 
passage by the County Council. 

 
 ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this 17th day of August, 2021.  
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
By:       
 Tommy Dunn, Chairman 

Anderson County Council 
 

Attest: 
 
 
By:       
            Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
By:       
            Janie L. Turmon, Assistant Clerk to Council 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
By:       
 Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
First Reading: July 20, 2021  
Second Reading August 3, 2021 
Third Reading: August 17, 2021 
Public Hearing: August 17, 2021 
 
 



NPGVL1:2075726.3  

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of July 20, 2021, August 3, 2021, and 
August 17, 2021, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and 
an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
 
 ___________________________________________ 
 Janie L. Turmon, Assistant Clerk to County Council, 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
Dated: August 17, 2021 
 
 
 



 

NPGVL1:2075727.4  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 
 

Between 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 

and 
 
 

PLASTIC OMNIUM AUTO EXTERIORS, LLC 
 
 
 

 
Dated as of August 17, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

i 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01 DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................................ 3 
SECTION 1.02 PROJECT-RELATED INVESTMENTS ........................................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 2.01 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COUNTY.................................................. 7 
SECTION 2.02 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COMPANY ............................................... 7 

ARTICLE III 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 

SECTION 3.01 THE PROJECT ........................................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 3.02 DILIGENT COMPLETION ........................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 3.03 FILINGS AND REPORTS ............................................................................................................................. 8 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

SECTION 4.01 FILOT PAYMENTS ................................................................................................................................. 10 
SECTION 4.02 SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS ..................................................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 4.03 FAILURE TO ACHIEVE MINIMUM INVESTMENT AND JOBS CREATION REQUIREMENTS ........................... 12 
SECTION 4.04 REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT ...................................................................................................................... 12 
SECTION 4.05 FILOT PAYMENTS ON REPLACEMENT PROPERTY .................................................................................. 13 
SECTION 4.06 REDUCTIONS IN PAYMENT OF TAXES UPON DIMINUTION IN VALUE; INVESTMENT MAINTENANCE 

REQUIREMENT ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE V 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 5.01 CESSATION OF OPERATIONS ................................................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 5.02 RIGHTS TO INSPECT ................................................................................................................................ 14 
SECTION 5.03 CONFIDENTIALITY ................................................................................................................................. 14 
SECTION 5.04 LIMITATION OF COUNTY’S LIABILITY .................................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 5.05 MERGERS, REORGANIZATIONS AND EQUITY TRANSFERS....................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.06 INDEMNIFICATION COVENANTS ............................................................................................................. 15 
SECTION 5.07 QUALIFICATION IN STATE ...................................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 5.08 NO LIABILITY OF COUNTY’S PERSONNEL .............................................................................................. 16 
SECTION 5.09 ASSIGNMENT, LEASES OR TRANSFERS ................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 5.10 ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES ................................................................................................................. 17 
SECTION 5.11 PRIORITY LIEN STATUS .......................................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.12 INTEREST; PENALTIES ............................................................................................................................ 17 
SECTION 5.13 SPONSOR AFFILIATES ............................................................................................................................. 17 



 

ii 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

ARTICLE VI 

DEFAULT 

SECTION 6.01 EVENTS OF DEFAULT ............................................................................................................................. 19 
SECTION 6.02 REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT .................................................................................................................... 19 
SECTION 6.03 REIMBURSEMENT OF LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES ............................................ 20 
SECTION 6.04 NO WAIVER ........................................................................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 7.01 NOTICES ................................................................................................................................................. 21 
SECTION 7.02 BINDING EFFECT .................................................................................................................................... 21 
SECTION 7.03 COUNTERPARTS ..................................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.04 GOVERNING LAW ................................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.05 HEADINGS .............................................................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.06 AMENDMENTS ........................................................................................................................................ 22 
SECTION 7.07 FURTHER ASSURANCE ........................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.08 INVALIDITY; CHANGE IN LAWS .............................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.09 TERMINATION BY COMPANY .................................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.10 ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING ...................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.11 WAIVER ................................................................................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 7.12 BUSINESS DAY ....................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.13 FASCIMILE/SCANNED SIGNATURES………………………………………………………………………. 25 
 
EXHIBIT A – DESCRIPTION OF LAND 
EXHIBIT B – INVESTMENT AND JOBS CREATION CERTIFICATION 
EXHIBIT C – INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 



 

iii 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 

 
 

As permitted under Section 12-44-55(B), Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the 
“Code”), the parties have agreed to waive the requirements of Section 12-44-55 of the Code.  The 
following is a summary of the key provisions of this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit 
Agreement.  This summary is inserted for convenience only and does not constitute a part of this Fee in 
Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement or a summary compliant with Section 12-44-55 of the 
Code.  
 
 

Company Name: [PROJECT POLLY] Project Name: Project Polly 
Projected Investment: $17,907,000 Projected Jobs: 76 over base of 149 
Location (street): Pearman Dairy Road and Phil 

Watson Road, Anderson Co., SC 
Tax Map No.: 940003017 

    
1. FILOT    
 Required Investment: $17,907,000   
 Investment Period: 5 years Ordinance No./Date: 2021-046/Aug. 17, 2021 
 Assessment Ratio: 6% Term (years): 30 years 
 Fixed Millage: 320.5 mills 

 
Net Present Value (if 
yes, discount rate): 

 
 

 Clawback information:  
2. MCIP  
 Included in an MCIP: To be included in Anderson/Greenville Park (2010) 
 If yes, Name & Date:  
  
3. SSC  
 Total Amount:  
 No. of Years 20 years 
    Yearly Increments: 70% years 1 – 5; 50% years 6 – 10; 30% years 11 - 20 
 Clawback information: If the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs 

Creation Requirement are both not made during the Standard Investment Period, the SSC 
is reduced to 30%; if the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract 
Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement are both made by the 7th year, the SSC will return to 
50% for years 8 – 10 and then 30%  for years 11-20  

4. Other information  
 
 

 
 



 

 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT (the “Fee 
Agreement”) is made and entered into as of August 17, 2021 by and between ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State 
of South Carolina (the “State”), acting by and through the Anderson County Council (the “County 
Council”) as the governing body of the County, and PLASTIC OMNIUM AUTO EXTERIORS, LLC a 
limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Company”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

1. Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 
amended (the “Code”), authorizes the County to (a) induce industries to locate in the State; (b) encourage 
industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and employ manpower, 
products, and other resources of the State; and (c) enter into a fee agreement with entities meeting the 
requirements of the FILOT Act, which identifies certain property of such entities as economic development 
property and provides for the payment of a fee in lieu of tax with respect to such property. 

2. Sections 4-1-170 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide special source 
revenue credit (“Special Source Revenue Credit”) financing secured by and payable solely from revenues 
of the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes for the purposes set forth in Section 4-29-68 of the 
Code, namely:  the defraying of the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the 
infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal property, 
including but not limited to machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County (collectively, 
“Infrastructure”). 

3. The Company (as a Sponsor, within the meaning of the FILOT Act) desires to provide for 
the acquisition and construction of the Project (as defined herein) to constitute a manufacturing facility in 
the County for automotive parts. 

4. Based on information supplied by the Company, the County Council has evaluated the 
Project based on relevant criteria that include, but are not limited to, the purposes the Project is to 
accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created or 
maintained, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County. Pursuant to Section 12-44-40(H)(1) of the 
FILOT Act, the County finds that: (a) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately 
provided locally; (b) the Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality therein and to no charge against their general credit or taxing powers; (c) the purposes to be 
accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (d) the benefits of the 
Project are greater than the costs. 

5. The Project is located, or if not so located as of the date of this Fee Agreement the County 
intends to use its best efforts to so locate the Project, in a joint county industrial or business park created 
with an adjoining county in the State pursuant to agreement entered into pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of the 
Code and Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution. 

6. By enactment of an Ordinance on August 17, 2021, the County Council has authorized the 
County to enter into this Fee Agreement with the Company which classifies the Project as Economic 
Development Property under the FILOT Act and provides for the payment of fees in lieu of taxes and the 



 

2 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

provision of Special Source Credits to reimburse the Company for payment of the cost of certain 
Infrastructure in connection with the Project, all as further described herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 



 

3 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
Section 1.01  Definitions 
 

The terms that this Article defines shall for all purposes of this Fee Agreement have the meanings 
herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 
 
 “Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by the 
County with respect to this Fee Agreement, including without limitation reasonable attorney fees; 
provided, however, that no such expense shall be considered an Administration Expense until the County 
has furnished to the Company a statement in writing indicating the amount of such expense and the 
reason it has been or will be incurred. 
 
 “Affiliate” shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity 
which owns all or part of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate) or 
which is owned in whole or in part by the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor 
Affiliate) or by any partner, shareholder or owner of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, 
such Sponsor Affiliate), as well as any subsidiary, affiliate, individual or entity who bears a relationship 
to the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate), as described in Section 
267(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 
 “Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended.   
 

“Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the property tax year during which the Project 
or the first Phase thereof is placed in service, which date shall not be later than the last day of the property 
tax year which is three (3) years from the year in which the County and the Company enter into this Fee 
Agreement. 

“Company” shall mean Plastic Omnium Auto Exteriors, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation, or transfer of 
assets; or any other person or entity which may succeed to the rights and duties of the Company. 

 “Condemnation Event” shall mean any act of taking by a public or quasi-public authority 
through condemnation, reverse condemnation or eminent domain. 
 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, 
investment by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates of at least $17,907,000 in Economic 
Development Property subject (non-exempt) to ad valorem taxation (in the absence of this Fee 
Agreement). 

“Contract Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, 
seventy-six (76) new full-time jobs (with benefits) with average wages at or exceeding $29.19 per hour; 
such jobs being in addition to the current one hundred forty-nine (149) full-time jobs at the facility. 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as 
the governing body of the County. 



 

4 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

“County Administrator” shall mean the Anderson County Administrator, or the person holding 
any successor office of the County. 

“County Assessor” shall mean the Anderson County Assessor, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

“County Auditor” shall mean the Anderson County Auditor, or the person holding any successor 
office of the County. 

“County Council” shall mean Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“County Treasurer” shall mean the Anderson County Treasurer, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

“Defaulting Entity” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 6.02(a) hereof. 

“Deficiency Amount” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 4.03(a) hereof. 

“Department” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” in respect of the Project shall mean any reduction in the value, using the 
original fair market value (without regard to depreciation) as determined in Step 1 of Section 4.01 of this 
Fee Agreement, of the items which constitute a part of the Project and which are subject to FILOT 
Payments which may be caused by the Company’s or any Sponsor Affiliate’s removal and/or disposal of 
equipment pursuant to Section 4.04 hereof, or by its election to remove components of the Project as a 
result of any damage or destruction or any Condemnation Event with respect thereto. 

“Economic Development Property” shall mean those items of real and tangible personal property 
of the Project which are eligible for inclusion as economic development property under the FILOT Act 
and this Fee Agreement, and selected and identified by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its 
annual filing of a SCDOR PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be 
amended from time to time) for each year within the Investment Period. 

“Equipment” shall mean machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and other tangible 
personal property, together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions thereto 
or therefor. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any event of default specified in Section 6.01 hereof. 

“Exemption Period” shall mean the period beginning on the first day of the property tax year 
after the property tax year in which an applicable portion of Economic Development Property is placed in 
service and ending on the Termination Date.  In case there are Phases of the Project, the Exemption 
Period applies to each year’s investment made during the Investment Period. 

“Fee Agreement” shall mean this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement. 

“FILOT” or “FILOT Payments” shall mean the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem 
property taxes as provided herein. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 



 

5 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

“FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, an 
investment of at least $2,500,000 by the Company, or of at least $5,000,000 by the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates in the aggregate, in Economic Development Property. 

“Improvements” shall mean improvements to the Land, including buildings, building additions, 
roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with any and all additions, fixtures, accessions, 
replacements, and substitutions thereto or therefor. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real 
estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, 
within the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Investment Period” shall mean, and shall be equal to, the Standard Investment Period. 

“Land” means the land upon which the Project will be located, as described in Exhibit A attached 
hereto, as Exhibit A may be supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section 3.01(c) hereof. 

“MCIP” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the 
MCIP Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement 
delivered by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the MCIP Act, or any 
successor provision, with respect to the Project. 

“MCIP Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

“MCIP Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial 
and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, between the County and 
Greenville County, South Carolina, as the same may be further amended or supplemented from time to 
time, or such other agreement as the County may enter with respect to the Project to offer the benefits of 
the Special Source Credits to the Company hereunder. 

 “Phase” or “Phases” in respect of the Project shall mean that the components of the Project are 
placed in service during more than one year during the Investment Period, and the word “Phase” shall 
therefore refer to the applicable portion of the Project placed in service in a given year during the 
Investment Period. 

“Project” shall mean the Land and all the Equipment and Improvements that the Company 
determines to be necessary, suitable or useful for the purposes described in Section 2.02(b) hereof, to the 
extent determined by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate to be a part of the Project and placed in 
service during the Investment Period, and any Replacement Property.  Notwithstanding anything in this 
Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Project shall not include property which will not qualify for the 
FILOT pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the FILOT Act, including without limitation property which has 
been subject to ad valorem taxation in the State prior to commencement of the Investment Period; 
provided, however, the Project may include (a) modifications which constitute an expansion of the real 
property portion of the Project and (b) the property allowed pursuant to Section 12-44-110(2) of the 
FILOT Act. 

“Removed Components” shall mean components of the Project or portions thereof which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its sole discretion, elects to remove from the Project pursuant to 
Section 4.04 hereof or as a result of any Condemnation Event. 



 

6 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

“Replacement Property” shall mean any property which is placed in service as a replacement for 
any item of Equipment or any Improvement previously subject to this Fee Agreement regardless of 
whether such property serves the same functions as the property it is replacing and regardless of whether 
more than one piece of property replaces any item of Equipment or any Improvement to the fullest extent 
that the FILOT Act permits. 

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the annual special source credits provided to the Company 
pursuant to Section 4.02 hereof. 

“Sponsor Affiliate” shall mean an entity that joins with the Company and that participates in the 
investment in, or financing of, the Project and which meets the requirements under the FILOT Act to be 
entitled to the benefits of this Fee Agreement with respect to its participation in the Project, all as set forth 
in Section 5.13 hereof. 

“Standard Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the first day of any purchase 
or acquisition of Economic Development Property and ending five (5) years after the Commencement 
Date.   

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Termination Date” shall mean, with respect to each Phase of the Project, the end of the last day 
of the property tax year which is the 29th year following the first property tax year in which such Phase of 
the Project is placed in service; provided, that the intention of the parties is that the Company will make at 
least 30 annual FILOT Payments under Article IV hereof with respect to each Phase of the Project; and 
provided further, that if this Fee Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance with the terms hereof, the 
Termination Date shall mean the date of such termination. 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the FILOT Act, as 
amended or supplemented from time to time, concerning, among other things, the necessity of obtaining 
County consent to certain transfers. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 
shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 
document. 

Section 1.02  Project-Related Investments 
 
 The term “investment” or “invest” as used herein shall include not only investments made by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments 
made by or for the benefit of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate with respect to the Project through 
federal, state, or local grants, to the extent such investments are subject to ad valorem taxes or FILOT 
Payments by the Company. 

 
[End of Article I] 



 

7 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 2.01  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County 
 
 The County hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and 
acts through the County Council as its governing body. The County has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Fee Agreement and any and all other agreements described herein or therein and has 
obtained all consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its 
obligations hereunder. 

(b) Based upon representations by the Company, the Project constitutes a “project” within 
the meaning of the FILOT Act. 

(c) The County has agreed that each item of real and tangible personal property comprising 
the Project which is eligible to be economic development property under the FILOT Act and that the 
Company selects shall be considered Economic Development Property and is thereby exempt from ad 
valorem taxation in the State. 

(d) The millage rate set forth in Step 3 of Section 4.01(a) hereof is 320.5 mills, which is the 
millage rate in effect with respect to the location of the proposed Project as of June 30, 2021, as permitted 
under Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(d) of the FILOT Act. 

(e) The County will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Project to be located in a 
MCIP for a term extending at least until the end of the period of FILOT Payments against which a Special 
Source Credit is to be provided under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 2.02  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Company 
 

The Company hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The Company is organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, 
is duly authorized to transact business in the State, has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, and has 
duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company intends to operate the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the 
FILOT Act as in effect on the date hereof. The Company intends to operate the Project for the purpose of 
manufacturing automotive systems and for such other purposes that the FILOT Act permits as the 
Company may deem appropriate. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County has been instrumental in 
inducing the Company to locate the Project in the County. 

(d) The Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, will use commercially reasonable 
efforts to meet, or cause to be met the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment 
Period. 

[End of Article II] 



 

8 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

ARTICLE III 
 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 
 
Section 3.01  The Project 
 

(a) The Company intends and expects, together with any Sponsor Affiliate, to (i) construct 
and acquire the Project, (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement, and (iii) meet the 
Contract Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement, all within the Investment Period. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the Contract Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement shall be met by attaining two hundred twenty-
five (225) total jobs at the Project facility with seventy-six (76) of the jobs being created after July 20, 
2021, date of the Inducement Agreement by and between the County and the Company, and those 
seventy-six (76) jobs being new full-time jobs (with benefits) with average wages at or exceeding $29.19 
per hour.  The Company anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will be placed in service during the 
calendar year ending December 31, 2022. 

(b) Pursuant to the FILOT Act and subject to Section 4.03 hereof, the Company and the 
County hereby agree that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall identify annually those assets 
which are eligible for FILOT Payments under the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement, and which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate selects for such treatment by listing such assets in its annual PT-300S 
form (or comparable form) to be filed with the Department (as such may be amended from time to time) 
and that by listing such assets, such assets shall automatically become Economic Development Property 
and therefore be exempt from all ad valorem taxation during the Exemption Period. Anything contained 
in this Fee Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall not 
be obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project. However, if the Company, together with any 
Sponsor Affiliates, does not meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment 
Period, the provisions of Section 4.03 hereof shall control. 

(c) The Company may add to the Land such real property, located in the same taxing District 
in the County as the original Land, as the Company, in its discretion, deems useful or desirable. In such 
event, the Company, at its expense, shall deliver an appropriately revised Exhibit A to this Fee 
Agreement, in form reasonably acceptable to the County. 

Section 3.02  Diligent Completion 
 

The Company agrees to use its reasonable efforts to cause the completion of the Project as soon 
as practicable, but in any event on or prior to the end of the Investment Period. 

Section 3.03  Filings and Reports 
 

(a) Each year during the term of the Fee Agreement, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates shall deliver to the County, the County Auditor, the County Assessor and the County Treasurer 
a copy of their most recent annual filings with the Department with respect to the Project, not later than 
thirty (30) days following delivery thereof to the Department. 

(b) The Company shall cause a copy of this Fee Agreement, as well as a copy of the 
completed Form PT-443 of the Department, to be filed with the County Auditor and the County Assessor, 
and to their counterparts in the partner county to the MCIP Agreement, the County Administrator and the 
Department within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by all 
parties hereto. 



 

9 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

(c) Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree to maintain complete books and 
records accounting for the acquisition, financing, construction, and operation of the Project.  Such books 
and records shall (i) permit ready identification of the various Phases and components thereof; (ii) 
confirm the dates on which each Phase was placed in service; and (iii) include copies of all filings made 
by the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates in accordance with Section 3.03(a) or (b) above with 
respect to property placed in service as part of the Project. 

[End of Article III] 



 

10 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

ARTICLE IV 
 

FILOT PAYMENTS 
 
Section 4.01  FILOT Payments 
 

(a) Pursuant to Section 12-44-50 of the FILOT Act, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates, as applicable, are required to make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes to the County with 
respect to the Economic Development Property. Inasmuch as the Company anticipates an initial 
investment of sums sufficient for the Project to qualify for a fee in lieu of tax arrangement under Section 
12-44-50(A)(1) of the FILOT Act, the County and the Company have negotiated the amount of the 
FILOT Payments in accordance therewith. The Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall 
make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes on all Economic Development Property which comprises the 
Project and is placed in service, as follows: the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall 
make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes during the Exemption Period with respect to the Economic 
Development Property or, if there are Phases of the Economic Development Property, with respect to 
each Phase of the Economic Development Property, said payments to be made annually and to be due and 
payable and subject to penalty assessments on the same dates and in the same manner as prescribed by the 
County for ad valorem taxes. The determination of the amount of such annual FILOT Payments shall be 
in accordance with the following procedure (subject, in any event, to the procedures required by the 
FILOT Act): 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Economic Development Property (or Phase of the 
Economic Development Property) placed in service during the Exemption Period using original income 
tax basis for State income tax purposes for any real property and Improvements without regard to 
depreciation (provided, the fair market value of real property, as the FILOT Act defines such term, that 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates obtains by construction or purchase in an arms-length 
transaction is equal to the original income tax basis, and otherwise, the determination of the fair market 
value is by appraisal) and original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for any personal 
property less depreciation for each year allowable for property tax purposes, except that no extraordinary 
obsolescence shall be allowable.  The fair market value of the real property for the first year of the 
Exemption Period remains the fair market value of the real property and Improvements for the life of the 
Exemption Period.  The determination of these values shall take into account all applicable property tax 
exemptions that State law would allow to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates if the property were 
taxable, except those exemptions that Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the FILOT Act specifically disallows. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of six percent (6%) to the fair market value in Step 1 to 
establish the taxable value of the Economic Development Property (or each Phase of the Economic 
Development Property) in the year it is placed in service and in each of the 29 years thereafter or such 
longer period of years in which the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement permit the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates to make annual FILOT Payments. 

Step 3: Use a millage rate of 320.5 mills during the Exemption Period against the taxable value to 
determine the amount of the FILOT Payments due during the Exemption Period on the applicable 
payment dates. 



 

11 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

(b) In the event that a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further 
appeal is allowable declares the FILOT Act and/or the herein-described FILOT Payments invalid or 
unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express their intentions to reform such 
payments so as to effectuate most closely the intent thereof (without increasing the amount of incentives 
being afforded herein) and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits to be 
derived herefrom, the intention of the County being to offer the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates a 
strong inducement to locate the Project in the County.  If the Economic Development Property is deemed 
to be subject to ad valorem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, but with 
appropriate reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions which are afforded to the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates.  Any amount determined to be due and owing to the County from the Company and 
such Sponsor Affiliates, with respect to a year or years for which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates 
previously remitted FILOT Payments to the County hereunder, shall (i) take into account all applicable 
tax exemptions to which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled if the Economic 
Development Property was not and had not been Economic Development Property under the Act; and 
(ii) be reduced by the total amount of FILOT Payments the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates had 
made with respect to the Project pursuant to the terms hereof.  

Section 4.02  Special Source Credits 
 

(a) In accordance with and pursuant to Section 12-44-70 of the FILOT Act and Section 4-1-
175 of the MCIP Act, in order to reimburse the Company for qualifying capital expenditures incurred for 
costs of the Infrastructure during the Standard Investment Period, the Company shall be entitled to 
receive, and the County agrees to provide, annual Special Source Credits against the Company’s FILOT 
Payments for a period of thirty (30) consecutive years in an amount equal to ninety-five percent (95%) of 
that portion of FILOT Payments payable by the Company with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to 
investment made by the Company in the Project during the Standard Investment Period), calculated and 
applied after payment of the amount due the non-host county under the MCIP Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Company 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken. 

(c) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the 
Company exceed the amount expended with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. The Company 
shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the provisions of the 
preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
C.  

(d) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source Credit is taken 
against fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project 
at any time during the term of this Fee Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), 
the amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property 
was removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal. 

(e) Each annual Special Source Credit shall be reflected by the County Auditor or other 
authorized County official or representative on each bill for FILOT Payments sent to the Company by the 
County for each applicable property tax year, by reducing such FILOT Payments otherwise due by the 
amount of the Special Source Credit to be provided to the Company for such property tax year. 



 

12 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

(f) The Special Source Credits are payable solely from the FILOT Payments, are not secured 
by, or in any way entitled to, a pledge of the full faith, credit or taxing power of the County, are not an 
indebtedness of the County within the meaning of any State constitutional provision or statutory 
limitation, are payable solely from a special source that does not include revenues from any tax or license, 
and are not a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the 
County. 

(g) All fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes pursuant to the agreement received by the County for 
MCIP premises located in the County attributable to current MCIP property shall be distributed in 
accordance with Section 3 of Ordinance 2010-026 and Paragraph 7 of the MCIP Agreement.  All fee-in 
lieu of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the agreement received by the County for MCIP premises located in 
the County attributable to MCIP property added on and after November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net 
of special source credits provided by the County pursuant to Section 4-1-175 (“Net Park Fees”) as 
follows: First, 15% of Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 and 
used as required or permitted thereby, Second, 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under 
Ordinance 2018-042, shall be deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County, and 
Third, remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in the County which levy 
an old ad valorem property tax in any of the areas comprising the County’s portion of the MCIP in the 
same percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of 
operating and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes. 

Section 4.03  Failure to Achieve Minimum Investment and Jobs Creation Requirements 
 

(a) Should the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement or the Contract Minimum Jobs 
Creation Requirement not be met by the Company by the end of the Standard Investment Period, any 
subsequent Special Source Credits shall be reduced to thirty percent (30%) of that portion of FILOT 
Payments payable by the Company with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the 
Company in the Project during the Investment Period), calculated and applied after payment of the amount 
due the non-host county under the MCIP Agreement; except, however, if the Contract Minimum 
Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement are both met by the end 
of the seventh (7th) tax year following the Commencement Date, then the Special Source Credits going 
forward shall return to fifty percent (50%) for years 8 through 10 and thirty percent (30%) for years 11 
through 20.  Any portion of Special Source Credits lost because of a failure to meet the Contract 
Minimum Investment Requirement or the Contract Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement by the end of 
the Standard Investment Period shall not be recoverable by the Company or its Sponsor Affiliates. 

 (b)  As a condition to the FILOT benefit provided herein, the Company agrees to provide the 
County Administrator, the County Assessor, the County Auditor and the County Treasurer with an annual 
certification as to investment in the Project. Such certification shall be in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit B, and shall be due no later than the May 1 following the immediately preceding 
December 31 of each year during the Investment Period. 

Section 4.04  Removal of Equipment 
 

Subject, always, to the other terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project from the Project 
in its sole discretion with the result that said components shall no longer be considered a part of the 
Project and, to the extent such constitute Economic Development Property, shall no longer be subject to 
the terms of this Fee Agreement.  Economic Development Property is disposed of only when it is 
scrapped or sold or removed from the Project. If it is removed from the Project, it is subject to ad valorem 



 

13 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

property taxes to the extent the Property remains in the State and is otherwise subject to ad valorem 
property taxes. 

Section 4.05  FILOT Payments on Replacement Property 
 

If the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate elects to replace any Removed Components and to 
substitute such Removed Components with Replacement Property as a part of the Economic 
Development Property, or the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate otherwise utilizes Replacement 
Property, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act, the 
Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall make statutory payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with regard 
to such Replacement Property in accordance with the following: 

(i) Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the 
Economic Development Property it is replacing.  Replacement Property is deemed to replace the 
oldest Economic Development Property subject to the FILOT, whether real or personal, which is 
disposed of in the same property tax year in which the Replacement Property is placed in service.  
Replacement Property qualifies as Economic Development Property only to the extent of the 
original income tax basis of Economic Development Property which is being disposed of in the 
same property tax year.  More than one piece of property can replace a single piece of Economic 
Development Property.  To the extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property 
exceeds the original income tax basis of the Economic Development Property which it is 
replacing, the excess amount is subject to annual payments calculated as if the exemption for 
Economic Development Property were not allowable.  Replacement Property is entitled to 
treatment under the Fee Agreement for the period of time remaining during the Exemption Period 
for the Economic Development Property which it is replacing; and 

(ii) The new Replacement Property which qualifies for the FILOT shall be 
recorded using its income tax basis, and the calculation of the FILOT shall utilize the millage rate 
and assessment ratio in effect with regard to the original property subject to the FILOT. 

Section 4.06  Reductions in Payment of Taxes Upon Diminution in Value; Investment Maintenance 
Requirement 

 
In the event of a Diminution in Value of the Economic Development Property, the FILOT 

Payment in Lieu of Taxes with regard to the Economic Development Property shall be reduced in the 
same proportion as the amount of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market value of the 
Economic Development Property as determined pursuant to Step 1 of Section 4.01(a) hereof; provided, 
however, that if at any time subsequent to the end of the Investment Period, the total value of the Project 
remaining in the County based on the original income tax basis thereof (that is, without regard to 
depreciation), is less than the FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement, then beginning with the 
first payment thereafter due hereunder and continuing until the Termination Date, the Project shall no 
longer be entitled to the incentive provided in Section 4.01, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate 
shall therefore commence to pay regular ad valorem taxes thereon, calculated as set forth in Section 
4.01(b) hereof.   

[End of Article IV] 



 

14 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

ARTICLE V 
 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 5.01  Cessation of Operations 
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Fee Agreement, each of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide the FILOT incentive may 
end, and this Fee Agreement may be terminated by the County, at the County’s sole discretion, if the 
Company ceases operations at the Project.  For purposes of this Section, “ceases operations” means 
closure of the facility or the cessation of production and shipment of products to customers for a 
continuous period of twelve (12) months.  The provisions of Section 4.03 hereof relating to retroactive 
payments shall apply, if applicable, if this Fee Agreement is terminated in accordance with this Section 
prior to the end of the Investment Period.  Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agrees that if 
this Fee Agreement is terminated pursuant to this subsection, that under no circumstance shall the County 
be required to refund or pay any monies to the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates. 

Section 5.02  Rights to Inspect 
 

The Company agrees that the County and its authorized agents shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice to enter upon and examine and inspect the Project. The 
County and its authorized agents shall also be permitted, at all reasonable times and upon prior reasonable 
notice, to have access to examine and inspect the Company’s South Carolina property tax returns, as filed. 
The aforesaid rights of examination and inspection shall be exercised only upon such reasonable and 
necessary terms and conditions as the Company shall prescribe, and shall be subject to the provisions of 
Section 5.03 hereof. 

Section 5.03  Confidentiality 
 

The County acknowledges and understands that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may 
utilize confidential and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and 
techniques (herein “Confidential Information”). In this regard, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates 
may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County “Confidential Information.”  The 
County agrees that, except as required by law, neither the County nor any employee, agent, or contractor 
of the County shall disclose or otherwise divulge any such clearly labeled Confidential Information to any 
other person, firm, governmental body or agency, or any other entity unless specifically required to do so 
by law.  Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledge that the County is subject to the 
South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and 
information on request, absent an exemption. In the event that the County is required to disclose any 
Confidential Information obtained from the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates to any third party, the 
County agrees to provide the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates with as much advance notice as is 
reasonably possible of such requirement before making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with 
any attempts by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates to obtain judicial or other relief from such 
disclosure requirement. 

Section 5.04  Limitation of County’s Liability 
 

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any financial obligation the County may incur 
hereunder, including for the payment of money, shall not be deemed to constitute a pecuniary liability or 
a debt or general obligation of the County (it being intended herein that any obligations of the County 
with respect to the Special Source Credits shall be payable only from FILOT Payments received from or 



 

15 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

payable by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates); provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent 
the Company from enforcing its rights hereunder by suit for mandamus or specific performance. 

Section 5.05  Mergers, Reorganizations and Equity Transfers 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that any mergers, reorganizations 
or consolidations of the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates may cause the Project to become ineligible 
for negotiated fees in lieu of taxes under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions; provided that, to the extent provided by Section 12-44-
120 of the FILOT Act or any successor provision, any financing arrangements entered into by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliates with respect to the Project and any security interests granted by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliates in connection therewith shall not be construed as a transfer for 
purposes of the Transfer Provisions.  Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, it 
is not intended in this Fee Agreement that the County shall impose transfer restrictions with respect to the 
Company, any Sponsor Affiliates or the Project as are any more restrictive than the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 5.06  Indemnification Covenants 
 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Fee Agreement or in any other agreements 
with the County, the Company agrees to indemnify, defend and save the County, its County Council 
members, elected officials, officers, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified 
Parties”) harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising 
from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the Project or the Land by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, their members, officers, shareholders, employees, servants, 
contractors, and agents during the term of this Fee Agreement, and, the Company further, shall indemnify, 
defend and save the Indemnified Parties harmless against and from all claims arising during the term of 
this Fee Agreement from (i) entering into and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (ii) 
any condition of the Project, (iii) any breach or default on the part of the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate in the performance of any of its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (iv) any act of negligence 
of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, (v) 
any act of negligence of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or of any agents, 
contractors, servants, employees or licensees of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, or (vi) any environmental violation, condition, or effect with respect to the Project.  The 
Company shall indemnify, defend and save the County harmless from and against all costs and expenses 
incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising as aforesaid or in connection with any action or 
proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice from the County, the Company shall defend it in any such 
action, prosecution or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County (the approval of which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld). 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified Parties 
shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Fee Agreement, or the undertakings 
required of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the FILOT, by reason of the execution of 
this Fee Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate, or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the 
Project by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in 
connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the 
County or any of the other Indemnified Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such 
event the Company shall indemnify, defend and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of 
any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection 
with any such claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the 
Company shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County 



 

16 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

(the approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall 
not apply to the extent that any such claim is attributable to (i) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or 
willful misconduct of the County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this Fee 
Agreement by the County. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 
covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party 
resulting from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, shall survive any termination of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 5.07  Qualification in State 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates warrant that it is duly qualified to do business in 
the State, and covenants that it will continue to be so qualified so long as it operates any portion of the 
Project. 

Section 5.08  No Liability of County’s Personnel 
 

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County contained herein 
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County and 
shall be binding upon any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or 
employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and 
no recourse shall be had for the payment of any moneys hereunder against any member of the governing 
body of the County or any elected official, officer, agent, servants or employee of the County and no 
recourse shall be had against any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, 
servant or employee of the County for the performance of any of the covenants and agreements of the 
County herein contained or for any claims based thereon except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 5.09  Assignment, Leases or Transfers 
 

The County agrees that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may at any time (a) transfer all 
or any of their rights and interests under this Fee Agreement or with respect to all or any part of the 
Project, or (b) enter into any lending, financing, leasing, security, or similar arrangement or succession of 
such arrangements with any financing or other entity with respect to this Fee Agreement or all or any part 
of the Project, including without limitation any sale-leaseback, equipment lease, build-to-suit lease, 
synthetic lease, nordic lease, defeased tax benefit or transfer lease, assignment, sublease or similar 
arrangement or succession of such arrangements, regardless of the identity of the income tax owner of 
such portion of the Project, whereby the transferee in any such arrangement leases the portion of the 
Project in question to the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or operates such assets for the Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliate or is leasing the portion of the Project in question from the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate.  In order to preserve the FILOT benefit afforded hereunder with respect to any portion 
of the Project so transferred, leased, financed, or otherwise affected: (i) except in connection with any 
transfer to an Affiliate of the Company or of any Sponsor Affiliate, or transfers, leases, or financing 
arrangements pursuant to clause (b) above (as to which such transfers the County hereby consents), the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall obtain the prior consent or subsequent 
ratification of the County which consent or subsequent ratification may be granted by the County in its 
sole discretion and as evidenced by resolution passed by the County Council; (ii) except when a financing 
entity which is the income tax owner of all or part of the Project is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) 
above and such financing entity assumes in writing the obligations of the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, as the case may be, hereunder, or when the County consents in writing, no such transfer shall 
affect or reduce any of the obligations of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates hereunder; (iii) to the 



 

17 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

extent the transferee or financing entity shall become obligated to make FILOT Payments hereunder, the 
transferee shall assume the then current basis of, as the case may be, the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliates (or prior transferee) in the portion of the Project transferred; (iv) the Company or applicable 
Sponsor Affiliate, transferee or financing entity shall, within sixty (60) days thereof, furnish or cause to 
be furnished to the County and the Department a true and complete copy of any such transfer agreement; 
and (v) the Company, the Sponsor Affiliates and the transferee shall comply with all other requirements 
of the Transfer Provisions. 

Subject to County consent when required under this Section, and at the expense of the Company 
or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, the County agrees to take such further action or execute such 
further agreements, documents, and instruments as may be reasonably required to effectuate the 
assumption by any such transferee of all or part of the rights of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
under this Fee Agreement and/or any release of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to this 
Section.   

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that such a transfer of an interest 
under this Fee Agreement or in the Project may cause all or part of the Project to become ineligible for the 
FILOT benefit afforded hereunder or result in penalties under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions.   

Section 5.10  Administration Expenses 
 

The Company agrees to pay any Administration Expenses to the County when and as they shall 
become due, but in no event later than the date which is the earlier of any payment date expressly 
provided for in this Fee Agreement or the date which is forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice 
from the County, accompanied by such supporting documentation as may be necessary to evidence the 
County’s or Indemnified Party’s right to receive such payment, specifying the nature of such expense and 
requesting payment of same. 

Section 5.11  Priority Lien Status 
 

The County’s right to receive FILOT Payments hereunder shall have a first priority lien status 
pursuant to Sections 12-44-90(E) and (F) of the FILOT Act and Chapters 4, 49, 51, 53, and 54 of Title 12 
of the Code. 

Section 5.12  Interest; Penalties 
 

In the event the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments to the 
County required under this Fee Agreement, then the item or installment so in default shall continue as an 
obligation of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate until the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall 
have fully paid the amount, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree, as applicable, to pay the 
same with interest thereon at a rate, unless expressly provided otherwise herein and in the case of FILOT 
Payments, of 5% per annum, compounded monthly, to accrue from the date on which the payment was 
due and, in the case of FILOT Payments, at the rate for non-payment of ad valorem taxes under State law 
and subject to the penalties the law provides until payment. 
 
Section 5.13  Sponsor Affiliates 
 

The Company may designate from time to time any Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions 
of Sections 12-44-30(20) and 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which Sponsor Affiliates shall join with the 
Company and make investments with respect to the Project, or participate in the financing of such 



 

18 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

investments, and shall agree to be bound by the terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement pursuant to 
the terms of a written joinder agreement with the County and the Company, in form reasonably 
acceptable to the County.  The Company shall provide the County and the Department with written notice 
of any Sponsor Affiliate designated pursuant to this Section within ninety (90) days after the end of the 
calendar year during which any such Sponsor Affiliate has placed in service any portion of the Project, in 
accordance with Section 12-44-130(B) of the FILOT Act. 
 

[End of Article V] 



 

19 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

ARTICLE VI 
 

DEFAULT 
 
Section 6.01  Events of Default 
 

The following shall be “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement, and the term “Event of 
Default” shall mean, whenever used with reference to this Fee Agreement, any one or more of the 
following occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to make the FILOT Payments described 
in Section 4.01 hereof, or any other amounts payable to the County under this Fee Agreement when due, 
which failure shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice thereof 
from the County; provided, however, that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to all 
redemption rights granted by applicable statutes; or 

(b) A representation or warranty made by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate hereunder 
which is deemed materially incorrect when deemed made; or  

(c) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to perform any of the terms, conditions, 
obligations, or covenants hereunder (other than those under (a) above), which failure shall continue for a 
period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the County to the Company and such Sponsor Affiliate 
specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is diligently pursuing such action until 
the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be extended to cover such additional period 
during which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate is diligently pursuing corrective action; or 

(d) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 
hereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the 
Company to the County and any Sponsor Affiliates specifying such failure and requesting that it be 
remedied, unless the County shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is 
diligently pursuing such action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be 
extended to cover such additional period during which the County is diligently pursuing corrective action. 
 
Section 6.02  Remedies Upon Default 
 

(a) Whenever any Event of Default by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate (the 
“Defaulting Entity”) shall have occurred and shall be continuing, the County may take any one or more of 
the following remedial actions as to the Defaulting Entity, only: 

(i) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 
 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to 
collect the amounts due hereunder.   

In no event shall the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate be liable to the County or otherwise for 
monetary damages resulting from the Company’s (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) failure to meet 
the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement other than as expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement. 

 In addition to all other remedies provided herein, the failure to make FILOT Payments shall give 
rise to a lien for tax purposes as provided in Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act.  In this regard, and 



 

20 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the County may exercise the remedies 
that general law (including Title 12, Chapter 49 of the Code) provides with regard to the enforced 
collection of ad valorem taxes to collect any FILOT Payments due hereunder. 

(b) Whenever any Event of Default by the County shall have occurred or shall be continuing, 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate may take one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 
 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement as to the acting party; or 
 

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is 
appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law. 

Section 6.03  Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Expenses and Other Expenses 
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, 
should the County be required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection of 
payments due hereunder or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or 
agreement, the County shall be entitled, within thirty (30) days of demand therefor, to reimbursement of 
the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred.   

Section 6.04  No Waiver 
 

No failure or delay on the part of any party hereto in exercising any right, power, or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, 
power, or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, 
or remedy hereunder. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless the same shall be in 
writing and signed by the waiving party hereto. 
 

[End of Article VI] 



 

21 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

ARTICLE VII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 7.01  Notices 
 

Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be provided under this Fee 
Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited with the United 
States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or 
addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), 
except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such 
provision shall control: 

 
If to the Company: 
 
Plastic Omnium Auto Exteriors, LLC 
Attn:  Tammy Kerker 
US Accounting and Tax Manager 
310 Genoble Road 
Greer, South Carolina  29651 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Nexsen Pruet, LLC 
Attn:  James K. Price 
104 South Main Street, Suite 900 
Greenville, South Carolina  29601 
 
If to the County: 
 

 Anderson County 
Attn:  Rusty Burns, County Administrator 

 P.O. Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Anderson County Attorney 

 P.O. Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 

 
Section 7.02  Binding Effect 
 

This Fee Agreement and each document contemplated hereby or related hereto shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County, and their respective 
successors and assigns.  In the event of the dissolution of the County or the consolidation of any part of 
the County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights of the County to any other 
such political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements of this Fee 
Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any 
entity, officer, board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of 
the County has been transferred. 



 

22 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

Section 7.03  Counterparts 
 

This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and all of the counterparts 
taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 7.04  Governing Law 
 

This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection herewith shall be construed in 
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State. 

Section 7.05  Headings 
 

The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are inserted for convenience only 
and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.06  Amendments 
 

The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or amended in writing by any 
agreement or agreements entered into between the parties. 

Section 7.07  Further Assurance 
 

From time to time, and at the expense of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County 
agrees to execute and deliver to the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates such additional instruments 
as the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 
reasonably within the purposes and scope of the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the 
purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.08  Invalidity; Change in Laws 
 

In the event that the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue 
is unclear under this Fee Agreement, the County hereby expresses its intention that the interpretation of 
this Fee Agreement shall be in a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the 
terms of this Fee Agreement and the maximum incentive permissible under the FILOT Act, to the extent 
not inconsistent with any of the explicit terms hereof.  If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared 
illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, and 
such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision shall be reformed to effectuate most closely the legal, 
valid, and enforceable intent thereof and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the 
maximum benefits to be derived herefrom, it being the intention of the County to offer the Company and 
any Sponsor Affiliates the strongest inducement possible, within the provisions of the FILOT Act, to 
locate the Project in the County.  In case a change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws eliminates or 
reduces any of the restrictions or limitations applicable to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates and 
the FILOT incentive, the parties agree that the County will give expedient and full consideration to 
reformation of this Fee Agreement, and, if the County Council so decides, to provide the Company and 
any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits of such change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws. 

Section 7.09  Termination by Company 
 

The Company is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all or part 
of the Project upon providing the County with thirty (30) days’ written notice; provided, however, that (i) 
any monetary obligations existing hereunder and due and owing at the time of termination to a party 



 

23 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

hereto (including without limitation any amounts owed with respect to Section 4.03 hereof); and (ii) any 
provisions which are intended to survive termination shall survive such termination. In the year following 
such termination, all property shall be subject to ad valorem taxation or such other taxation or fee in lieu 
of taxation that would apply absent this Fee Agreement. The Company’s obligation to make FILOT 
Payments under this Fee Agreement shall terminate in the year following the year of such termination 
pursuant to this section. 

Section 7.10  Entire Understanding 
 

This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto 
with each other, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any 
representation to the other party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates 
delivered in connection with the execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 7.11  Waiver 
 

Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or condition of this Fee 
Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 7.12  Business Day 
 

In the event that any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee Agreement, required to 
be taken, made, or given on any day which is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the jurisdiction in 
which the person obligated to act is domiciled, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, made, or 
given on the following business day with the same effect as if given as required hereby, and no interest 
shall accrue in the interim. 

Section 7.13  Facsimile/Scanned Signature 
 

The parties agree that use of a fax or scanned signature and the signatures, initials, and 
handwritten or typewritten modifications to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to be valid and binding 
upon the parties as if the original signature, initials and handwritten or typewritten modifications were 
present on the documents in the handwriting of each party. 

[End of Article VII] 
 



 

24 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused 

this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the Chairman of County Council and to be 
attested by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Company has caused this Fee Agreement to be 
executed by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL)      By:       

     Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council, 
     Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Janie L. Turmon, Assistant Clerk to County Council, 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 
 



 

25 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

 
 PLASTIC OMNIUM AUTO EXTERIORS, LLC 
 
        
 By:         
 Its:         

 

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 

 



 

A-1 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land situate, lying and being in the County of Anderson, State of South 
Carolina, and being more particularly described on that certain plate of survey prepared for Plastic Omnium 
Industries, Inc. by J. Jetter Pittman, PLS, dated May 23, 1994, and recorded in the Office of the Clerk of Court for 
Anderson County on Plat Slide 515 at Page 9.  Said plat of survey showing the tract as containing 46.17 acres and 
being located on the northeast side of the intersection of Pearman located on the northeast side of the intersection of 
Pearman Dairy Road and Phil Watson Road; reference being made to said plat for a more complete and accurate 
description. 

TMS# 940003017 

 



 

B-1 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

EXHIBIT B 
 
 

INVESTMENT AND JOBS CREATION CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of __________ (the “Company”), do hereby certify in connection 
with Section 4.03 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of 
__________, 20__ between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Company (the “Agreement”), as 
follows: 
 
 (1) The total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the Project 
during the calendar year ending December 31, 20__ was $___________. 
 
 (2) The cumulative total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the 
Project from the period beginning __________, 20__ (that is, the beginning date of the Investment 
Period) and ending December 31, 20__, is $__________. 
 
 (3) The number of full-time jobs at the Company facilities where the Project is located was 
149_persons as of July 20, 2021_(the beginning date of the Investment Period). 
 
 (4) The number of net new, full-time jobs created at the Project since July 20, 2021 (the 
beginning date of the Investment Period)  is _____ persons and their average wage exceeds $29.19 per 
hour.  The total number of employees of the Company at the Project as of December 31, 20__ is ___  .  
 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 
             
      Name:       
      Its:       

 
 



 

C-1 
NPGVL1:2075727.4  

EXHIBIT C 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of __________ (the “Company”), do hereby certify in connection 
with Section 4.02 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of 
__________, 20__ between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Company (the “Agreement”), as 
follows: 
 
 (1) As of the date hereof, the aggregate amount of Special Source Credits previously received 
by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates is $_________. 
 
 (2) As of December 31, 20__, the aggregate amount of investment in costs of Infrastructure 
incurred by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period is not less than 
$_________. 

 
 (3) [Use only if expenditures for personal property will be used to account for Special 
Source Credits.]  Of the total amount set forth in (2) above, $________ pertains to the investment in 
personal property, including machinery and equipment, at the Project.  The applicable personal property, 
and associated expenditures, are listed below: 
 

Personal Property Description  Investment Amount 
   
   
   
   

 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
       
             
      Name:       
      Its:       
 
 
 
 



44496132 v1 
46114703 v2 

ANDERSON COUNTY 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-050 

 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING A FEE-IN-LIEU-OF-TAX 
ARRANGEMENT ON BEHALF OF TOP EDGE COMPONENTS, LLC (THE 
“COMPANY”) PURSUANT TO A FEE-IN-LIEU-OF-TAX AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (THE “COUNTY”) 
AND THE COMPANY; AUTHORIZING A 5-YEAR EXTENSION OF THE 
INVESTMENT PERIOD FOR ALL INVESTMENTS OVER THE MINIMUM 
INVESTMENT REQUIREMENT; AUTHORIZING THE GRANTING OF 
CERTAIN INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS TO THE COMPANY; 
AUTHORIZING THE CREATION OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
AND BUSINESS PARK WITH GREENVILLE COUNTY; AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATING TO THE FOREGOING.  

 
 

WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its 
County Council (the “County Council”) is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the 
provisions of the Code of Laws of the State of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Code”), 
including, without limitation, Titles 4 and 12, including, particularly, Chapter 44 of Title 12 of 
the Code (collectively, the “Act”), and the case law of the Courts of the State of South Carolina, 
to offer and provide certain privileges, benefits, and incentives to prospective developers as 
inducements for economic development within the County; to acquire, or cause to be acquired, 
properties (which such properties constitute “projects” as defined in the Act) and to enter into 
agreements with any business to construct, operate, maintain and improve such projects; to enter 
into or allow financing agreements with respect to such projects; and, to accept any grants for 
such projects through which powers the industrial and business development of the State of 
South Carolina will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State of South Carolina and thus utilize and 
employ the manpower, agricultural products and natural resources of the State and benefit the 
general public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, recreation, tourism or 
other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and 

WHEREAS, the County is authorized by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 
Constitution and Section 4-1-170 of the Code (the “Joint-County Industrial and Business Park 
Act”), to enter into agreements with one or more contiguous counties for the creation and 
operation of one or more joint-county industrial and business parks; and 

 
WHEREAS, Top Edge Components (the “LLC”), a South Carolina limited liability 

company, together with one or more Sponsor Affiliates (as defined in the Act)(the LLC and 
Sponsor Affiliates, collectively referred to as “Top Edge Components, LLC” or the “Company” 
herein) is considering acquiring by construction or purchase certain land, buildings, furnishings, 
fixtures, machinery, apparati, and equipment, for the development of a manufacturing facility in 
the County (the “Project”), which will result in the investment of an expected Two Million Nine 
Hundred Twenty Five Thousand ($2,925,000) in new investment in the County, all of which 
would be subject to the fee-in-lieu-of-tax addressed by this Agreement, all within the meaning of 



2 
44496132 v1 
46114703 v2 

the Act (the “Minimum Investment Requirement”), and the creation of an expected thirty two 
(32), but not fewer than twenty five (25) new, full-time jobs (the “Job Creation Requirement”), 
during the period beginning with the first day that real or personal property comprising the 
Project is purchased or acquired (expected to be in 2021) and ending five (5) years after the last 
day of the property tax year during which the Project is placed in service (expected to be in 
2021) (the “Initial Investment Period”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has determined that the Project would be aided by the 

availability of the assistance which the County might render through (1) the acquisition of the 
Project from the Company and the leasing of the Project to the Company pursuant to one or more 
lease agreements (each a “Lease Agreement”) or, alternatively, entering into a fee-in-lieu of tax 
agreement (“Fee Agreement”) with the Company with respect to the Project, under and pursuant 
to the Act (notwithstanding any other provision hereof, or of the Inducement Agreement 
authorized hereby, it is understood and agreed between the County and the Company that the 
possible use of a Lease Agreement to document and implement the new fee-in-lieu-of-tax 
arrangement for the Project, as described herein, refers to and would become applicable only in 
the event that a court of competent jurisdiction rules the provisions of Chapter 44 of Title 12 of 
the Code unconstitutional, invalid, or otherwise unenforceable); (2) the incentive of a negotiated 
fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes (a “FILOT”) as authorized by the Act; (3) the inclusion of the 
Project and the other real and personal property of the Company located at the Project site(s) in 
the County, in a joint-county industrial and business park which is either already in existence, or 
to be created by the County (the “Park” or the “Multi-County Industrial and Business Park” or 
“MCIP”); (4) the granting by the County to the Company of certain infrastructure credits, 
pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Code and other applicable provisions of the Act (the 
“Infrastructure Credits), to partially reimburse the Company for economic development 
infrastructure serving the County; and (5) the commitment by the County to certain other 
economic development incentives as an inducement to the Company to locate the Project in the 
County including, without limitation, the extension of the Initial Investment Period for an 
additional five (5) years (the “Extended Investment Period”) for investments in the Project if the 
Company has invested at least Two Million Nine Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 
($2,925,000) in the Project by the end of the Initial Investment Period; and, that the inducement 
will, to a great degree of certainty, result in the acquisition and construction of the Project in the 
County; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has given due consideration to the economic development 

impact of the Project, has found that the Project and the payments-in-lieu-of-taxes would be 
directly and substantially beneficial to the County, the taxing entities of the County, and the 
citizens and residents of the County, and that the Project would directly and indirectly benefit the 
general public welfare and serve a public purpose of the County by providing services, 
employment, recreation, promotion of tourism, or other public benefits not otherwise provided 
locally; and, that the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated 
municipality, or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; and, that the 
purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development and welfare, creation of 
jobs, promotion of tourism, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental 
and public purposes and that the inducement of the location or expansion of the Project within 



3 
44496132 v1 
46114703 v2 

the County and State is of paramount importance and that the benefits of the Project will be 
greater than the cost; and, has agreed to effect the issuance, execution and delivery of a Fee  
Agreement, with infrastructure credits, and an MCIP Agreement pursuant to this Ordinance of 
the County Council, and on the terms and conditions hereafter set forth: 

  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED by Anderson County, South Carolina, 
by and through the County Council, in meeting duly assembled, as follows: 
 
 Section 1. As contemplated by the Act and based on the representations of the Company 
as recited herein, it is hereby found, determined and declared by the County Council, as follows: 
 
 (a) The Project will constitute a “project” as said term is referred to and defined in the 

Act, and will subserve the purposes and in all respects conform to the provisions and 
requirements of the Act; 

 
 (b) It is anticipated that the Project will benefit the general public welfare of the County 

by providing employment, services, recreation, the creation of additional tax revenue, and 
other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

 
 (c) Neither the Project, nor any documents or agreements entered into by the County in 

connection therewith will constitute or give rise to any pecuniary liability of the County or 
any municipality thereof  or a charge against its general credit or taxing power; 

 
 (d) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, creation 

or retention of jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and 
public purposes; 

 
 (e) The benefits of the Project to the public are greater than the costs to the public; 
 
 (f) The Fee Agreement will require the Company to make fee-in-lieu of tax payments in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act; 
 
 (g) The fee-in-lieu-of-tax payments referred to in item (f) above shall be calculated as 

specified in Section 5.01 of the Fee Agreement, and using the Infrastructure Credit terms of 
the Fee Agreement; and 

 
 (h) The entire preamble of this Ordinance is hereby adopted as findings of fact, 

underpinning and supporting the approval of this Project by County Council. 
 
 Section 2. The form, terms, and provisions of the Fee Agreement (including, ‘without 
limitation, certain Infrastructure Credit terms) and the MCIP Agreement presented to this meeting 
and filed with the Clerk to the County Council be and they are hereby approved, and all of the terms, 
provisions, and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if the Fee 
Agreement and the MCIP Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in their entirety.  The Chairman 
of County Council, the County Administrator, and the Clerk to the County Council be and they are 



4 
44496132 v1 
46114703 v2 

hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to execute, acknowledge, and deliver the Fee 
Agreement and the MCIP Agreement in the name and on behalf of the County, and thereupon to 
cause the Fee Agreement to be delivered to the Company and the MCIP Agreement to be delivered 
to the Partner County.  The Fee Agreement and the MCIP Agreement are to be in substantially the 
form now before this meeting and hereby approved, or with such changes therein as shall not 
materially adversely affect the rights of the County thereunder and as shall be approved by the 
officials of the County executing the same upon the advice of counsel, their execution thereof to 
constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the 
form of Fee Agreement and the MCIP Agreement now before this meeting. 
 
 Section 3. Pursuant to Section 12-44-55(B) of the FILOT Simplification Act, the County 
hereby agrees that no recapitulation information, as set forth in Section 12-44-55(A) of the FILOT 
Simplification Act is required to be provided by the Company in the Fee Agreement, or in any other 
documents or agreements in connection with the fee-in-lieu of tax arrangement between the 
Company and the County, so long as and to the extent that the Company complies with this Section 
3.  The Company shall file a copy of the South Carolina Department of Revenue form PT-443, and 
any subsequent amendments thereto, with the County after the execution of the Fee Agreement by 
the County and the Company and shall comply in all other respects with the requirements set forth 
in Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Simplification Act and shall make all returns required by The Act 
and shall provide a copy of all such returns to the County Administrator within sixty (60) days of 
filing such action.  
 
 Section 4. The County and the Company believe that no Project sites are in a Park.  To 
the extent necessary to ensure that all Project sites are, in fact, in a Park, the County agrees to use its 
best efforts, as necessary, to enter into or amend a Park Agreement with one or more other 
contiguous counties to create or expand a Park, pursuant to Section 13 of Article VIII of the South 
Carolina Constitution and Section 4-1-170 of the Code, to include the Project and the other property 
of the Company located at the Company’s site(s) within the unincorporated portion of the County, 
and to use its best efforts to undertake and execute those procedures and documents necessary for 
the creation or expansion of such Park, and to keep the Project site(s) in such Park or any other Park 
of the County during the term of the incentives provided in the Inducement Agreement or 
subsequent ordinance(s) or agreement(s) that are contingent upon inclusion of the Project site(s) in a 
Park.  Further, the County shall use its best efforts and endeavor to work with one or more 
contiguous counties (and, to the extent any future Project site(s) is located within the corporate 
limits of a municipality, will work with such municipality), again if necessary, to establish such 
Park in accordance with the terms of the Inducement Agreement, and, in any event, to keep the 
Project site(s) as part of such Park or any other Park of the County throughout the term of the 
incentives provided in the Inducement Agreement or subsequent ordinance(s) or agreement(s) that 
are contingent upon inclusion of the Project site(s) in a Park .  To that end, the Joint County 
Industrial and Business Park Agreement (the “MCIP Agreement”) attached hereto is hereby 
approved for use for such purposes.  The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator, 
and the Clerk to the Council are hereby authorized to execute and deliver the MCIP Agreement to a 
contiguous county for execution.  The MCIP Agreement is to be in the form attached, or with such 
revisions as shall not be materially adverse to the County and as shall be approved by the County 
official executing the same, upon advice of counsel to the County, the execution of the MCIP 
Agreement to constitute conclusive evidence of the executing official‘s approval of the same.  



5 
44496132 v1 
46114703 v2 

Distribution of the fees in lieu of tax from the Project property in the Anderson County portion of 
the Park shall be distributed in accordance with one or more ordinances of Anderson County 
establishing such distribution schedule. 
 
 Section 5. The County hereby pre-approves and consents to a five (5) year extension of 
the Initial Investment Period for the Fee Agreement pursuant to Section 12-44-30(13) of the FILOT 
Simplification Act whereby the Company shall have an additional five (5) year period (added to the 5 
year Initial Investment Period to meet the Minimum Investment Requirement and the Job Creation 
Requirement) to subject additional investments over and above the Minimum Investment 
Requirement to fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax treatment, provided the Company invests at least the 
Minimum Investment Requirement, including in non-FILOT property, in the Project and meets the 
Job Creation Requirement  on or before the end of the five (5) year Initial Investment Period.   
 
 Section 6. All fee-in lieu of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the Fee Agreement received 
by the County for MCIP premises located in the County attributable to MCIP property added on and 
after November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net of the one percent (1%) payment to the partner 
county for the MCIP and the special source revenue credits provided by the County pursuant to 
Section 4-1-175 (“Net Park Fees”) as follows: First, 15% of Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond 
Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 and used as required or permitted thereby, Second, 35% of Net 
Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, shall be deposited to the Capital 
Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County, and Third, remaining Net Park Fees shall be 
disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in the County which levy an old ad valorem property tax in 
any of the areas comprising the County’s portion of the MCIP in the same percentage as is equal to 
that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of operating and debt service 
millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes. 
 

Section 7. The form, terms and provisions of the Inducement Agreement heretofore 
entered into by the County and the Company are hereby ratified and approved, and all of the terms, 
provisions, and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated by reference as if the Inducement 
Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. 
 
 Section 8. (a) The Company shall and, in the Fee Agreement, agrees to indemnify and 
save the County as well as its governing body members, employees, officers and agents harmless 
against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising from the 
conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the Project and the Company further 
shall indemnify and save the County harmless against and from all claims from (i) any condition of 
the Project, (ii) any breach or default on the part of the Company in the performance of any of its 
obligations or terms in the Fee Agreement, or the Lease Agreement (if any) (iii) any act of  the 
Company or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, (iv) any act of  any 
assignee or sublessee of the Company, or of any agents, contractors, servants, employees or 
licensees of any assignee or sublessee of the Company,  or (v) any environmental violation, 
condition or effect.  The Company shall indemnify and save the County as well as its governing 
body members, employees, officers and agents harmless from and against all costs and expenses 
incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising as aforesaid or in connection with any 
action or proceeding brought thereon, including, without limitation, ordinary and reasonable 
attorney’s fees, and upon notice from the County, the Company shall defend it in any such action, 



6 
44496132 v1 
46114703 v2 

prosecution or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County, whose approval of such 
counsel shall not unreasonably be withheld.  All such indemnification and save harmless provisions 
shall be, and are, set forth in the Fee Agreement. 
 
 (b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the County, its 
agents, officers, employees or governing body members, shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason 
of the terms of the Fee Agreement or terms, or the Lease Agreement (if any) or the undertakings 
required of the County hereunder by reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the 
Company, or by reason of the County’s ownership of the Project, if so owned pursuant to a lease 
agreement, or the operation of the Project, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in 
connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, 
if the County, its agents, officers employees or governing body members should incur any such 
pecuniary liability, then in such event the Company shall indemnify and hold them harmless against 
all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs 
and expenses incurred in connection with any such claim or in connection with any action or 
proceeding brought thereon, including, without limitation, ordinary and reasonable attorney’s fees, 
and upon notice, the Company shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel 
acceptable to the County, whose approval of such counsel shall not unreasonably be withheld. 
 
 (c) These indemnification covenants, at a minimum, shall be considered included in and 
incorporated by reference in subsequent documents after the closing which the County is requested 
to sign, and any other indemnification covenants in any subsequent documents shall not be 
construed to reduce or limit the above indemnification covenants, but may expand them or expound 
upon them, as may be shown in greater detail in such subsequent documents.  In the event of any 
conflict or inconsistency, the indemnification and save harmless provisions of the Fee Agreement 
shall always govern.  The indemnification and hold harmless provisions of this Section 8 shall not 
apply in the case of intentional misconduct or grossly negligent conduct by any indemnified person 
or entity, and such provisions shall be rendered cancelled and voided as to such person or entity in 
the event of such intentional misconduct or gross negligence being a proximate cause of the 
pecuniary liability in question. 
 
 Section 9. Whenever the County shall be required by any governmental or financial 
entity to file or produce any reports, notices, returns or other documents while the Fee Agreement is 
in effect, the Company or owner of the Project at the time shall promptly furnish to the County 
through the County Attorney the completed form of such required documents together with a 
certification by the Company or owner that such documents are accurate and not in violation of any 
provisions of law or of the other documents of this transaction, and that the documents meet the 
legal requirements of such filing or delivery.  In the event of the failure or refusal of the Company 
or owner to comply with this provision, the Company or owner agrees to pay the statement for 
attorneys fees and administrative time presented by the County for producing and filing such 
documents, such statement to be paid within thirty (30) days after presentation by the County, and 
to promptly pay any fees, penalties, assessments or damages imposed upon the County by reason of 
its failure to duly file or produce such documents. 

 
Section 10. Notwithstanding any other provisions, the County is executing the Fee 

Agreement and the MCIP Agreement  as statutory accommodation to assist the Company in 



7 
44496132 v1 
46114703 v2 

achieving the intended benefits and purposes of the Act.  The County has made no independent 
legal or factual investigation regarding the particulars of this transaction and it executes in reliance 
upon representations by the Company that the documents comply with all laws and regulations, 
particularly those pertinent to industrial development projects in South Carolina. 

 
Section 11. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator, and the Clerk to 

the County Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby each authorized and directed to do 
any and all things necessary or proper to effect the execution and delivery of the Fee Agreement and 
the MCIP Agreement and the performance of all obligations of the County under and pursuant to the 
Fee Agreement, the Inducement Agreement, and the MCIP Agreement. 
 
 Section 12. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator, and the Clerk to 
the County Council, and any other proper officer of the County, be and each of them is hereby 
authorized and directed to execute and deliver any and all documents and instruments and to do and 
to cause to be done any and all acts and things necessary or proper for carrying out the transactions 
contemplated by this Ordinance. 
 
 Section 13. The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if 
any section, phrase, or provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction 
to be invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the 
sections, phrases, and provisions hereunder.  Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning 
given in the Fee Agreement, if not provided herein. 
 
 Section 14. All orders, resolutions, ordinances, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, 
to the extent of such conflict only, hereby repealed and this Ordinance shall take effect and be in full 
force from and after its passage and approval. 



8 
44496132 v1 
46114703 v2 

 
       ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH  
       CAROLINA 
 
 
       _____________________________  
       Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
       Anderson County Council 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
________________________________ 
Janie L. Turmon, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
         
Approved as to form: 
 
________________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
Anderson County, South Carolina  
 
 
 
First Reading:  July 20, 2021 
Second Reading: August 2, 2021  
Third Reading:  August 17, 2021  
Public Hearing: August 17, 2021 
 
 
 
 



46114780 v3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 
 
 

between 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 

and 
 
 

TOP EDGE COMPONENTS, LLC 
 
 
 
 

Dated as of September 1, 2021 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



46114780 v3 

 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 

 
This FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of September 1, 

2021 by and between ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a body politic 
and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and TOP EDGE 
COMPONENTS, LLC (the “Company”), a South Carolina limited liability company, along with one 
or more Sponsor Affiliates (together with the Company, collectively referred to herein as the 
“Company” or “Top Edge Components, LLC”).  
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its 

County Council (the “County Council”) is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the 
provisions of the Code of Laws of the State of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Code”), 
including, without limitation, Titles 4 and 12, including, particularly, Chapter 44 of Title 12 of the 
Code (collectively, the “Act”), and the case law of the Courts of the State of South Carolina, to offer 
and provide certain privileges, benefits, and incentives to prospective developers as inducements for 
economic development within the County; to acquire, or cause to be acquired, properties (which such 
properties constitute “projects” as defined in the Act) and to enter into agreements with any business 
to construct, operate, maintain and improve such projects; to enter into or allow financing 
agreements with respect to such projects; and, to accept any grants for such projects through which 
powers the industrial and business development of the State of South Carolina will be promoted and 
trade developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the 
State of South Carolina and thus utilize and employ the manpower, agricultural products and natural 
resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 
employment, recreation, tourism or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County is authorized by Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 

Constitution and Section 4-1-170 of the Code (the “Joint-County Industrial and Business Park Act”), 
to enter into agreements with one or more contiguous counties for the creation and operation of one 
or more joint-county industrial and business parks; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Company (previously identified as Project NEW (the “LLC”)), a South 

Carolina limited liability company, together with one or more Sponsor Affiliates (as defined in the 
Act)(the Company and Sponsor Affiliates, collectively referred to as “Top Edge Components, LLC” 
or the “Company” herein) is considering acquiring by construction or purchase certain land, 
buildings, furnishings, fixtures, machinery, apparati, and equipment, for the development of a 
manufacturing facility in the County (the “Project”), which will result in the investment of an 
expected Two Million Nine Hundred Twenty Five Thousand ($2,925,000) in new investment in the 
County, all of which would be subject to the fee-in-lieu-of-tax addressed by this Agreement, all 
within the meaning of the Act (the “Minimum Investment Requirement”), and the creation of an 
expected thirty two (32), but not fewer than twenty five (25) new, full-time jobs (the “Job Creation 
Requirement”), during the period beginning with the first day that real or personal property 
comprising the Project is purchased or acquired (expected to be in 2020 or 2021 (the Company’s tax 



46114780 v3 

year ends on 9/30)) and ending five (5) years after the last day of the property tax year during which 
the Project is first placed in service (expected to be in 2021 or 2022) (the “Initial Investment 
Period”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has determined that the Project would be aided by the availability of 

the assistance which the County might render through (1) the acquisition of the Project from the 
Company and the leasing of the Project to the Company pursuant to one or more lease agreements 
(each a “Lease Agreement”) or, alternatively, entering into a fee-in-lieu of tax agreement (“Fee 
Agreement”) with the Company with respect to the Project, under and pursuant to the Act 
(notwithstanding any other provision hereof, or of the Inducement Agreement authorized hereby, it is 
understood and agreed between the County and the Company that the possible use of a Lease 
Agreement to document and implement the new fee-in-lieu-of-tax arrangement for the Project, as 
described herein, refers to and would become applicable only in the event that a court of competent 
jurisdiction rules the provisions of Chapter 44 of Title 12 of the Code unconstitutional, invalid, or 
otherwise unenforceable); (2) the incentive of a negotiated fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes (a 
“FILOT”) as authorized by the Act; (3) the inclusion of the Project and the other real and personal 
property of the Company located at the Project site(s) in the County, in a joint-county industrial and 
business park which is either already in existence, or to be created by the County (the “Park” or the 
“Multi-County Industrial and Business Park” or “MCIP”); (4) the granting by the County to the 
Company of certain infrastructure credits, pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Code and other 
applicable provisions of the Act (the “Infrastructure Credits), to partially reimburse the Company for 
economic development infrastructure serving the County; and (5) the commitment by the County to 
certain other economic development incentives as an inducement to the Company to locate the 
Project in the County including, without limitation, the extension of the Initial Investment Period for 
an additional five (5) years (the “Extended Investment Period”) for investments in the Project if the 
Company has invested at least Two Million Nine Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 
($2,925,000) in the Project by the end of the Initial Investment Period; and, that the inducement will, 
to a great degree of certainty, result in the acquisition and construction of the Project in the County; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has given due consideration to the economic development impact of 

the Project, has found that the Project and the payments-in-lieu-of-taxes would be directly and 
substantially beneficial to the County, the taxing entities of the County, and the citizens and residents 
of the County, and that the Project would directly and indirectly benefit the general public welfare 
and serve a public purpose of the County by providing services, employment, recreation, promotion 
of tourism, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally; and, that the Project 
gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated municipality, or a charge against the 
general credit or taxing power of either; and, that the purposes to be accomplished by the Project, 
i.e., economic development and welfare, creation of jobs, promotion of tourism, and addition to the 
tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes and that the inducement of the 
location or expansion of the Project within the County and State is of paramount importance and that 
the benefits of the Project will be greater than the cost; and, has agreed to effect the issuance, 
execution and delivery of this Fee  Agreement, with infrastructure credits, and an MCIP Agreement 



46114780 v3 

pursuant to an Ordinance of the County Council, and on the terms and conditions hereafter set forth; 
and 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements 

hereinafter contained, and the sum of $1.00 in hand, duly paid by the Company to the County, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the County and the Company agree as 
follows:  
 

ARTICLE I  
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

SECTION 1.01.  Definitions   In addition to the words and terms elsewhere defined in this 
Agreement, the following words and terms as used herein and in the preambles hereto shall have the 
following meanings unless the context or use indicates another or different meaning or intent.  
 

“Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code, as amended, and all future acts 
amendatory thereof.  The Act is also known as the FILOT Simplification Act. 
 

“Administration Expenses” shall mean the ordinary, reasonable, and necessary actual 
expenses including ordinary, actual, reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the County with respect 
to the Project and this Agreement; provided, however, that no such expense shall be considered an 
Administration Expense unless the County furnishes to the Company a statement in writing 
indicating the reason such expense has been or will be incurred and either estimating the amount of 
such expense or stating the basis on which the expense has been or will be computed.  
 

“Agreement” shall mean this Agreement as originally executed and from time to time 
supplemented or amended as permitted herein.  
 

“Authorized Company Representative” shall mean any person or persons at the time 
designated to act on behalf of the Company by written certificate furnished to the County containing 
the specimen signature of each such person and signed on behalf of the Company by any person to 
whom the Company has delegated authority to administer this Agreement.  

 
“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended through the date 

hereof unless the context clearly requires otherwise.  
 

“Commencement Date” shall mean, in accordance with Section 12-44-30(2) of the Act,  
September 30, 2021 or September 30, 2022, the last day of the property tax year during which real or 
personal property comprising the Project is first placed in service, based upon and as proven by the 
Company’s tax returns to the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 
 



46114780 v3 

“Company” shall mean Top Edge Components, LLC,  a South Carolina limited liability 
company, and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation, or transfer 
of assets permitted under Section 8.04 or Article IX hereof; or any assignee hereunder and any 
Sponsor Affiliate which is designated by the Company and approved by the County.  

 
“Cost” shall mean the cost of acquiring by construction and purchase, the Project, including 

real and personal property and any infrastructure improvements, and shall be deemed to include, 
whether incurred prior to or after the date of this Agreement:   (a) obligations incurred for labor, 
materials, and other expenses to contractors, builders, and materialmen in connection with the 
acquisition, construction, and installation of the Project; (b) the cost of contract bonds and of 
insurance of all kinds that may be required or necessary during the course of construction of the 
Project which are not paid by the contractor or contractors or otherwise provided for; (c) the 
expenses for test borings, surveys, test and pilot operations, estimates, plans and specifications and 
preliminary investigations therefor, and for supervising construction as well as for the performance 
of all other duties required by or reasonably necessary in connection with the acquisition, 
construction, and installation of the Project; (d) compensation of legal, accounting, financial, and 
printing expenses, fees, and all other expenses incurred in connection with the Project; (e) all other 
costs which the Company shall be required to pay under the terms of any contract or contracts for the 
acquisition, construction, and installation of the Project; and (f) any sums required to reimburse the 
Company for advances made for any of the above items, or for any other work done and costs 
incurred by the Company which are for the acquisition of land or property of a character subject to 
the allowance for depreciation provided for under Section 167 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 
as amended, and included in the Project; provided, however, such term shall include expenditures by 
the Company with respect to the Project only to the extent made during the Investment Period.  
 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and its successors and assigns.  
 

“County Council” shall mean the governing body of the County and its successors.  
 

“Department of Revenue” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue and 
Taxation.  
 

“Economic Development Property” shall mean each item of real and tangible personal 
property comprising a project within the meaning of Sections 12-44-30(6) or 12-44-40(C) of the 
Code.  
 

“Equipment” shall mean all machinery, equipment, furnishings, and other personal property 
acquired by the Company and installed as part of the Project during the Investment Period in 
accordance with this Agreement.  
 

“Event of Default” shall mean an Event of Default as defined in Section 11.01 hereof.  
 

“Existing Property” shall mean property that does not qualify to become Economic 
Development Property pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the Code.  



46114780 v3 

 
“Extended Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning October 1, 2026 or 2027 and 

ending September 30, 2031 or 2032, dependent on the Commencement Date, as authorized by 
Section 12-44-30(13) of the Code. 

 
“FILOT” shall mean the fee in lieu of taxes which the Company is obligated to pay to the 

County pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof.  
 

“FILOT Payments” shall mean the payments to be made by the Company pursuant to Section 
5.01 hereof.  
 

“FILOT Revenues” shall mean the revenues received by the County from the Company’s 
payment of the FILOT. 
 

“FILOT Simplification Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44, of the Code, as amended 
through the date hereof.  
 
 “Inducement Agreement” shall mean that certain Inducement Agreement and Millage Rate 
Agreement by and between the County and the Company dated as of August 25, 2020. 
 
 “Infrastructure Credit” or “Special Source Revenue Credit” shall mean that certain credit, or 
credits, pursuant to Sections 4-1-175, 4-29-68, and 12-44-70 of the Code, against the Company’s 
FILOT liability, as set forth in the infrastructure financing terms of Section 5.02, hereof. 
 
 “Initial Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the first day that real or 
personal property comprising the Project is acquired for the Project (although not placed in service) 
(October 1, 2020 or 2021) and ending on September 30, 2026 or 2027, dependent on the 
Commencement Date, the date that is five years after the Commencement Date (the Company’s 
fiscal year ends on September 30). 
 

“Investment Period” shall mean the combined Initial Investment Period and Extended 
Investment Period, beginning with the first day that real or personal property comprising the Project 
is acquired (although not placed in service) (October 1, 2020 or 2021, dependent on the 
Commencement Date) and ending September 30, 2031 or 2032. 
 

“Land” shall mean the real estate upon which the Project is located, as described in 
EXHIBIT “A” attached hereto, as EXHIBIT “A” may be supplemented from time to time in 
accordance with the provisions hereof.  

 
“Negotiated FILOT Payment” shall mean the FILOT due pursuant to Section 5.01(b)(ii) 

hereof with respect to that portion of the Project qualifying for the 6% assessment ratio and the 
millage rate described in subsection 5.01(c) of the Agreement.  
 

“Non-Economic Development Property” shall mean that portion of the Project consisting of: 
(i) property as to which the Company incurred expenditures prior to the Investment Period or, except 



46114780 v3 

as to Replacement Property, after the end of the Investment Period; (ii) property not placed in service 
during the Investment Period; (iii) Existing Property; and (iv) any other property which fails or 
ceases to qualify for Negotiated FILOT Payments pursuant to the Act.  
 

“Person” shall mean and include any individual, association, unincorporated organization, 
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, or government or agency or 
political subdivision thereof.  
 

“Project” shall mean, in connection with the Company’s manufacture and production of 
products in the County and only to the extent such items are either placed in service during the 
Investment Period or qualify as Replacement Property: (i) the Land; (ii) all buildings, structures, 
fixtures, and appurtenances which now exist or which are now under construction or are to be 
constructed on the Land in whole or in part during the Investment Period, including any air 
conditioning and heating systems (which shall be deemed fixtures); and (iii) the Equipment. 
 

“Released Property” shall mean any portion of the Project removed, scrapped, traded in, 
sold, or otherwise disposed of pursuant to Section 4.03 hereof, any portion of the Project stolen, 
damaged, destroyed, or taken by condemnation, or eminent domain proceedings as described in 
Article VII hereof. 
 

“Replaced Property” shall mean any Released Property for which the Company has 
substituted Replacement Property during the term hereof pursuant to Section 5.01(e) hereof.  
 

“Replacement Property” shall mean any portion of the Project substituted for Released 
Property pursuant to Section 5.01(e) hereof. 
 
 “Sponsor” and “Sponsor Affiliate” shall have the meanings ascribed to each by the Act. 
 

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina.  
 

“Streamlined FILOT Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 12, of the Code, as amended through 
the date hereof.  
 

“Term” shall mean the term of this Agreement, as set forth in Section 10.01 hereof.  
 

“Threshold Date” shall mean September 30, 2026 or September 30, 2027, dependent on the 
Commencement Date (the Company’s Fiscal Year ends on September 30). 
 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the Code, as 
amended.  

 
SECTION 1.02.  References to Agreement  The words “hereof”, “herein”, “hereunder”, and 

other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole, unless the context clearly requires 
otherwise.  



46114780 v3 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 
SECTION 2.01.  Representations and Warranties by County.  The County makes the 

following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein 
contained:  

 
(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of 

South Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder.  
 

(b) The County has determined that the Project will subserve the purposes of the Act, and 
has made all other findings of fact required by the Act in connection with the undertaking of the 
Project.  
 

(c) By proper action by the County Council, the County has duly authorized the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement and any and all actions necessary and appropriate to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby.  
 

(d) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered on behalf of the County.  
 

(e) No actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries, or investigations known to the undersigned 
representatives of the County are pending or threatened against or affecting the County in any court 
or before any governmental authority which would materially adversely affect the validity or 
enforceability of this Agreement; provided, however, that no representation is made by or on behalf 
of the County as to the validity or enforceability of this Agreement. 
 

(f) Notwithstanding any other provisions herein, the County is executing this Agreement as 
statutory accommodation to assist the Company in achieving the intended benefits and purposes of the 
Act.  The County has made no independent legal or factual investigation regarding the particulars of 
this transaction and it executes this Agreement in reliance upon representations by the Company that 
the documents comply with all laws and regulations, particularly those pertinent to industrial 
development projects in South Carolina.  No representation of the County is hereby made with regard 
to compliance by the Project or any Person with laws regulating (i) the construction or acquisition of 
the Project, (ii) environmental matters pertaining to the Project, (iii) the offer or sale of any 
securities, or (iv) the marketability of title to any property, including the Land.  
 

SECTION 2.02.  Representations and Warranties by Company.  The Company makes 
the following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein 
contained:  

 
(a) The Company is a South Carolina company; has all requisite power to enter into this 

Agreement; and by proper action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement.  



46114780 v3 

 
(b) The Company intends to operate the Project primarily for the purposes of 

manufacturing, and for other lawful purposes. 
 

(c) The agreements of the County with respect to the FILOT have been instrumental in 
inducing the Company to locate the Project within the County and the State.  
 

(d) No actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries, or investigations known to the undersigned 
representatives of the Company are pending or threatened against or affecting the Company in any 
court or before any governmental authority or arbitration board or tribunal, which could materially 
adversely affect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or which could, in any way, 
adversely affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement.  
 

(e) The Company expects to place in service the first phase of the Project during calendar 
year 2021, and to expend not less than Two Million Nine Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 
($2,925,000) of  investment for Costs of the Project and to create about thirty two (32) or more (but 
not fewer than twenty five (25)) new, full-time jobs, all during the Initial Investment Period.      
 

ARTICLE III 
 

UNDERTAKINGS OF COUNTY 
 

SECTION 3.01.  Agreement to Accept FILOT Payments.  The County hereby agrees to 
accept FILOT Payments made by the Company in accordance with Section 5.01 hereof in lieu of ad 
valorem taxes with respect to the Project until this Agreement expires or is sooner terminated.  
 

SECTION 3.02.  No Warranties by County.  The Company acknowledges that it has 
examined the Land and so much of the other property constituting the Project as is in existence on 
the date of execution and delivery hereof, as well as title thereto, prior to the making of this 
Agreement, and knows the condition and state thereof as of the day of the execution hereof, and 
accepts the same in said condition and state; that no warranties or representations as to the condition 
or state thereof have been made by representatives of the County; and that the Company in entering 
into this Agreement is relying solely upon its own examination thereof and of any portion of the 
Project acquired subsequent to the date hereof.  The County makes no warranty, either express or 
implied, as to title to any part of the Project or the design, capabilities, or condition of the Project or 
that it will be suitable for the Company’s purposes or needs.  

 
SECTION 3.03.  Execution of Lease, if necessary.  The parties acknowledge that the intent 

of this Agreement is to afford the Company the benefits of the Negotiated FILOT Payments in 
consideration of the Company’s decision to locate the Project within the County and that this 
Agreement has been entered into in reliance upon the FILOT Simplification Act.  Notwithstanding 
any other provision of this Agreement, in the event that a court of competent jurisdiction holds that 
the FILOT Simplification Act is unconstitutional, invalid or otherwise uninforceable or that this 
Agreement or agreements similar in nature to this Agreement are invalid or unenforceable in any 
material respect or should the parties determine that there is a reasonable doubt as to the validity or 



46114780 v3 

enforceability of this Agreement in any material respect, then the County, in accordance with Section 
12-44-160 of the Act, upon the conveyance of title to the Project to the County at the expense of the 
Company, and to the extent permitted by law, agrees to lease the Project to the Company pursuant to 
the Streamlined FILOT Act upon terms and conditions mutually agreeable to the County and the 
Company.   The Company acknowledges that any such sale/leaseback arrangement may not preserve 
the benefits of the Streamlined FILOT Act with respect to any portion of the Project placed in service 
prior to the effective date of any such sale/leaseback arrangement with the County, to the extent that 
the effective date of such sale/leaseback arrangement is later than December 31 of the year in which 
such portion of the Project is placed in service.  However, the County agrees that it will assist in 
efforts by the Company to have any such Economic Development Property included within the 
sale/leaseback arrangement under the Streamlined FILOT Act.  

 
ARTICLE IV 

 
INVESTMENT BY COMPANY IN PROJECT; 

MAINTENANCE AND MODIFICATION OF PROJECT 
 

SECTION 4.01.  Acquisition by Construction and Purchase of Project. 
 
(a) The Company hereby agrees to expend upon the Cost of the Project not less than an 

expected Two Million Nine Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($2,925,000)) or more 
investment in the County (including non-Economic Development Property), during the Initial 
Investment Period.  The Company shall use its best efforts to cause such acquisition as promptly as 
is, in the Company’s sole judgment, practicable.  

 
(b) Pursuant to Section 12-44-30(13) of the Code, the County hereby approves, pre-

approves, and grants to the Company an extension of five (5) years beyond the Threshold Date 
within which the Company may invest additional property in the County to complete the Project and 
have such additional property treated as Economic Development Property, if the Company invests 
the expected Two Million Nine Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($2,925,000)) in the Project 
 during the Initial Investment Period.  Accordingly, the total Investment Period shall end on 
September 30, 2031 or 2032 (dependent on the Commencement Date).  However, this subsection (b) 
shall not alter the requirement that the Company invest not less than the minimum investment, stated 
above, total, in the Project, including Non-Economic Development Property,  prior to the Threshold 
Date.     

 
(c) The Company shall retain title to the Project,  throughout the Term of this Agreement, 

subject to the Company’s rights hereunder to mortgage or encumber the Project as it deems suitable.  
 

SECTION 4.02.  Maintenance of Project.  The Company at its own expense during the 
Term of this Agreement will keep and maintain the Project, or cause any other owner of the Project 
to keep and maintain its respective portion of the Project, in good operating condition.  The 
Company will promptly make, or cause to be made, all repairs, interior and exterior, structural and 
nonstructural, ordinary and extraordinary, foreseen and unforeseen, that are necessary to keep the 
Project in good and lawful order and in good operating condition (wear and tear from reasonable use 



46114780 v3 

excepted) whether or not such repairs are due to any laws, rules, regulations, or ordinances hereafter 
enacted which involve a change of policy on the part of the government body enacting the same. 

 
SECTION 4.03.   Modification of Project.  
 

 (a) As long as no event of default exists hereunder, the Company shall have the right at 
any time and from time to time during the Term hereof to undertake any of the following: 
 

(i) The Company may, at its own expense, add to the Project all such real and 
personal property as the Company in its discretion deems useful or desirable.  

 
(ii) In any instance where the Company in its discretion determines that any items 

included in the Project have become inadequate, obsolete, worn out, unsuitable, undesirable, 
or unnecessary for operations at the Project, the Company may remove such items or portions 
from the Project and sell, trade in, exchange, or otherwise dispose of them (as a whole or in 
part) without the consent of the County.   The Company may sell, lease, or otherwise dispose 
of any portion of the Land, in which event the Company shall deliver to the County, within 
30 days thereafter, a new EXHIBIT “A” to this Agreement.  

 
(b) No release of Project property effected under the provisions of Section 7.01 or 7.02 

hereof or of this Section 4.03 shall entitle the Company to any abatement or diminution of the 
amounts payable by the Company hereunder except the FILOT payments as specified in Section 
5.01(d) hereof.  
 

SECTION 4.04. Records and Reports.   
 
(a) The Company agrees to maintain such books and records with respect to the Project 

as will permit the identification of those portions of the Project placed in service in each property tax 
year during the Investment Period, the amount of investment with respect thereto and its 
computations of all FILOT Payments made hereunder and will comply with all reporting 
requirements of the State and the County applicable to property subject to FILOT Payments under 
the Act, including without limitation the reports required by Section 12-44-90 of the Code 
(collectively, “Filings”).  
 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 4.04, the Company may designate 
with respect to any Filings delivered to the County segments thereof that the Company believes 
contain proprietary, confidential, or trade secret matters.  To the extent permitted by law, the County 
shall conform, at the sole cost and expense of the Company, with all reasonable, written requests 
made by the Company with respect to maintaining the confidentiality of such designated segments.  

 
ARTICLE V 

 
PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES; 

FUNDING FOR INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT 
 



46114780 v3 

SECTION 5.01.  Payments in Lieu of Taxes.  
 
(a) In accordance with the Act, the parties hereby agree that, during the Term of the 

Agreement, the Company shall pay with respect to the Project annually a fee in lieu of taxes (a 
“FILOT”) in the amount calculated as set forth in paragraph (b) below, on or before January 15 of 
each year commencing on January 15, 2020, and at the places, in the manner, and subject to the 
penalty assessments prescribed by the County or the Department of Revenue for ad valorem taxes.  
 

(b) The FILOT Payment due with respect to each property tax year shall equal the sum of 
(i) with respect to any portion of the Project consisting of undeveloped land or Non-Economic 
Development Property for which the Company is obligated, by law or agreement, to pay taxes, a 
payment equal to the taxes that would otherwise be due on such undeveloped land or Non-Economic 
Development Property were it subject to ad valorem taxes; (ii) with respect to those portions of the 
Project (other than undeveloped land and Non-Economic Development Property) placed in service 
during the Investment Period for each of the 30 consecutive years following the year in which such 
portion of the Project is placed in service, a payment calculated each year as set forth in paragraphs 
(c) through (e) below (a “Negotiated FILOT”); and (iii) with respect to increments of the Project 
constituting Economic Development Property after such 30-year period, a payment equal to the ad 
valorem taxes that are due or would otherwise be due on such property were it subject to ad valorem 
taxes, as the case may be, with appropriate reductions with respect to the property described in 
clauses (i) and (ii) above, similar to the tax exemption, if any, which would be afforded to the 
Company if ad valorem taxes were paid, only to the extent permitted by the Act for Economic 
Development Property.  For the purposes of clause (ii) above, there shall be excluded any Released 
Property and any other portion of the Project which ceases to qualify for a FILOT hereunder or under 
the Act. 
 

(c) (i) The Negotiated FILOT Payment with respect to any property tax year shall be 
 calculated in accordance with subparagraph (c)(ii) or (c)(iii) below.   
 

(ii) The Negotiated FILOT Payments shall be calculated with respect to each 
property tax year based on (1) the fair market value of the improvements to real property and 
Equipment included within the Project theretofore placed in service (less, for Equipment, 
depreciation allowable for property tax purposes), (2) a fixed millage rate in effect for the 
Project site on June 30, 2019, which the parties hereto believe to be 326.3 mils, for all 
Project property, which millage rate shall remain fixed for the Term and (3) a fixed 
assessment ratio of 6%.  The fair market value of the of the improvements to real property 
shall be determined by using the original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for 
any improvements without regard to depreciation and the fair market value of the Equipment 
shall be determined by using the original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for 
any personal property less depreciation for each year allowable for property tax purposes, 
except that no extraordinary obsolescence shall be allowable.  Such fair market value must be 
that determined by the Department of Revenue, in accordance with the Act.  All such 
calculations shall take into account all deductions for depreciation or diminution in value 
allowed by the Code or by the tax laws generally, as well as tax exemptions which would 
have been applicable if such property were subject to ad valorem taxes, except the exemption 



46114780 v3 

allowed pursuant to Section 3(g) of Article X of the Constitution of the State of South 
Carolina and the exemption allowed pursuant to Sections 12-37-220(B)(32) and (34) of the 
Code.  

 
(iii) If legislation generally reducing the applicable minimum assessment ratio 

shall be enacted, the County shall, to the extent permitted by law, amend this Agreement to 
afford the Company the lowest assessment ratio permitted by law, if so approved by the 
County Council then in office.  Moreover, if taxes on real and personal property shall be 
abolished in the County or in the State, the Company may terminate this Agreement 
immediately without further obligation other than those already accrued.  

 
(d) The FILOT Payments are to be recalculated (i) to reduce such payments in the event 

the Company disposes of any part of the Project within the meaning of Section 12-44-50(B) of the 
Code, as provided in Section 4.03, by the amount thereof applicable to the Released Property; 
provided, however, that any disposal of Released Property need not result in a recalculation of the 
FILOT Payments unless the Company so elects; or (ii) to increase such payments in the event the 
Company adds property (other than Replacement Property) to the Project. To the extent that any 
Infrastructure Credit against FILOT Payments as provided under the Infrastructure Credits Section 
5.02, below, is used as payment for personal property, including machinery and equipment, and the 
personal property is removed from the Project at any time during the life of the FILOT, the amount 
of the FILOT Payments due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property was 
removed from the Project also shall be due for the two years immediately following the removal. 

 
(e) Upon the Company’s installation of any Replacement Property for any portion of the 

Project removed under Section 4.03 hereof and sold, scrapped, or disposed of by the Company, such 
Replacement Property shall become subject to FILOT Payments to the extent permitted by, and in 
accordance with the Act.   

 
(f) Should the Company not invest at least the minimum investment stated herein (Two 

Million Nine Hundred Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($2,925,000))  in the Project in the timeframe 
provided (during the Initial Investment Period) and maintain at least that amount of investment 
(without regard to depreciation) in the Project during the term of the Special Source Revenue Credits 
described in this paragraph and Section 5.02, hereof, the Company shall lose the benefit of some or 
all of the Special Source Infrastructure Credits (as defined in Section 5.02, hereof). 
 
 SECTION 5.02.  Infrastructure Credits or Special Source Revenue Credits.   
 
 During the first ten (10) consecutive years that Payments In Lieu Of Taxes are made for 
the Project in accordance with Section 5.01, hereof, the Company shall also be entitled to claim 
Infrastructure Credits, or Special Source Revenue Credits (“SSRCs”) of Forty Percent (40%) of 
the calculated Payment In Lieu of Taxes due for Project Property, each of the ten years.  The 
Infrastructure Credit due to the Company shall be shown on the annual tax bill issued to the 
Company by the County for Project property.  The Infrastructure Credit shown on the Project 
tax bill by the County shall never exceed the actual infrastructure expenditures by the 
Company, annually or cumulatively, as certified to the County by the Company, if and when so 



46114780 v3 

requested by the County.  Should the Company not achieve the investment or job creation 
requirements stated in Section 2.02(e) hereof by the end of the fifth (5th) year following the end of 
the first year in which Project Property is placed in service, the SSRCs described in this Section 
5.02 will terminate.  However, should the investment and jobs creation requirements of Section 
2.02(e) subsequently be met by the Company by the end of the sixth (6th) year following the end 
of the first year in which Project Property is placed in service, the credits described herein will be 
reinstated for the duration of the credits – but no credit already lost/forfeited will be reimbursed.  
The Company’s tax year ends on September 30.  As provided in Section 4-29-68(A)(2)(ii) of the 
Code, to the extent any SSRC is used for reimbursement for economic development 
infrastructure that is personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project at 
any time during the term of the SSRCs (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), 
the amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the 
personal property was removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately 
following such removal. 
  

ARTICLE VI 
 

PAYMENT OF EXPENSES BY COMPANY 
 

SECTION 6.01.  Payment of Administration Expenses.  The Company will pay to the 
County from time to time amounts equal to the Administration Expenses of the County promptly 
upon written request therefor, but in no event later than 45 days after receiving written notice from 
the County specifying the nature of such expenses and requesting payment of the same.  Such 
expenses shall include, without limitation, the County’s ordinary and reasonable actual fees for legal 
services related to the Project and the negotiation, authorization, and execution of the Fee 
Agreement, the Lease Agreement (if any), the Inducement Agreement, and any other legal 
agreements or political procedural documents that may be necessary in connection therewith, not to 
exceed Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000). 

 
SECTION 6.02.  Defaulted Payments.  In the event the Company should fail to make any of 

the payments required under this Agreement, the item or installment so in default shall continue as 
an obligation of the Company until the amount in default shall have been fully paid.   If any such 
default relates to its obligations to make FILOT Payments or payments of Administration Expenses 
hereunder, the Company agrees to pay the same with interest thereon at the rate per annum provided 
by the Code for late payment of ad valorem taxes together with any penalties provided by the Code 
for late payment of ad valorem taxes or for non-payment of FILOT Payments. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

CASUALTY AND CONDEMNATION 
 

SECTION 7.01.  Damage and Destruction.  If all or any part of the Project shall be lost, 
stolen, destroyed, or damaged, the Company in its discretion may repair or replace the same.  If the 
Company shall determine to repair or replace the Project, the Company shall forthwith proceed with 
such rebuilding, repairing, or restoring and shall notify the County upon the completion thereof.  The 



46114780 v3 

County shall not have any responsibility to complete such rebuilding, repair or restoration  thereof  or 
pay any portion of the costs thereof including, without limitation, in the event any insurance proceeds 
are not sufficient to pay in full the costs of such rebuilding, repair or restoration, any costs in excess 
of the amount of said proceeds. The Company shall not by reason of any such damages or destruction 
or the payment of any excess costs be entitled to any reimbursement from the County or, except as 
set forth in Section 7.03 hereof, any abatement or diminution of the amounts payable hereunder.  

 
SECTION 7.02.  Condemnation.  In the event that title to or the temporary use of the 

Project, or any part thereof, shall be taken in condemnation or by the exercise of the power of 
eminent domain, there shall be no abatement or reduction in the payments required by be made by 
the Company hereunder except as set forth in Section 7.03 hereof.   The Company shall promptly 
notify the County, as to the nature and extent of such taking and, as soon as practicable thereafter, 
notify the County whether it has elected to restore the Project.  If it shall be determined to restore the 
Project, the Company shall forthwith proceed with such restoration, and shall notify the County, 
upon the completion thereof. 
 

SECTION 7.03.  Adjustments in the Event of Damage and Destruction or 
Condemnation.  In the event that the Project or any portion thereof is damaged or destroyed, lost or 
stolen, or the subject of condemnation proceedings, which damage, destruction, loss, theft and/or 
condemnation would substantially impair the operating ability of the Project or such portion thereof, 
the parties hereto agree that the FILOT Payments required pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof shall be 
abated in the same manner and in the same proportion as if ad valorem taxes were payable with 
respect to the Project, subject, always, to the requirements of Section 5.01 hereof and the Act.  

 
ARTICLE VIII 

 
PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 
SECTION 8.01.   Use of Project for Lawful Activities.  The Company is hereby granted 

and shall have the right during the Term of this Agreement to occupy and use the Project for any 
lawful purpose authorized pursuant to the Act.  Insofar as it is practicable under existing conditions 
from time to time during the Term of this Agreement, the Project shall be used primarily as a 
manufacturing facility.  

 
SECTION 8.02.   Right to Inspect.  The Company agrees that the County and its authorized 

agents shall have the right at all reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice to enter upon and 
examine and inspect the Project and to have access to and examine and inspect all the Company’s 
books and records pertaining to the Project.  The County and its authorized agents shall also be 
permitted, at all reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice, to examine the plans and 
specifications of the Company with respect to the Project.   The aforesaid rights of examination and 
inspection shall be exercised only upon such reasonable and necessary terms and conditions as the 
Company shall prescribe, which conditions shall be deemed to include, but not be limited to, those 
necessary to protect the Company’s trade secrets and proprietary rights.  In no way shall this 
requirement of confidentiality be deemed to apply to or restrict the rights of the United States 



46114780 v3 

Government and the State of South Carolina or its political subdivisions in the exercise of their 
respective sovereign duties and powers.  
 

SECTION 8.03.  Limitation of Pecuniary Liability for County.  Anything herein to the 
contrary notwithstanding:  (a) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or charge 
against its general credit or taxing powers; and (b) the County may require as a condition to the 
participation by it with the Company in any contests or in obtaining any license or permits or other 
legal approvals a deposit by the Company of such amount as reasonably determined by the County to 
be appropriate to assure the reimbursement to the County of the costs incurred by it in such 
participation, with any amount of such deposit in excess of such costs to be returned to the Company; 
provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent the Company from enforcing its rights 
hereunder by suit for mandamus or specific performance or any other remedy available at law or in 
equity.  
 

SECTION 8.04.  Maintenance of Existence.  The Company covenants that any alteration of 
its separate existence, dissolution, consolidation, merger, transfer, or disposition of substantially all 
of its assets to any other entity shall be done in accordance and compliance with the Transfer 
Provisions.  Subject to the Transfer Provisions, the Company may permit one or more other Persons 
to consolidate or merge into it without the consent of the County, provided no default shall have 
occurred and be continuing at the time of such proposed transaction or would result therefrom.     
 

SECTION 8.05.  Indemnification Covenants.  
 
 (a) Company shall and agrees to indemnify and save the County as well as the members of 

its governing body, its employees, officers and agents harmless against and from all claims by or on 
behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising from the conduct or management of, or from any 
work or thing done on the Project, and, Company further, shall indemnify and save the County 
harmless against and from all claims arising from (i) any condition of the Project, (ii) any breach or 
default on the part of Company in the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement, 
(iii) any act of Company or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, related to 
the Project (iv) any act of any assignee, sublessee or subcompany of Company, or of any agents, 
contractors, servants, employees or licensees of any assignee, sublessee or subcompany of Company, 
related to the Project or (v) any environmental violation, condition, or effect, related to the Project. 
Company shall indemnify and save the County harmless from and against all costs and expenses 
incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising as aforesaid or in connection with any action 
or proceeding brought thereon, including, without limitation, ordinary and reasonable, actual, 
attorney’s fees, and upon notice from the County, Company shall defend it in any such action, 
prosecution or proceeding with counsel acceptable to the County, approval of whom shall not 
unreasonably be withheld by the County. 
 
 (b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the County, its agents, 
officers, employees or governing body members, shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the 
terms of this Agreement, or the undertakings required of the County thereunder, by reason of the 
performance of any act requested of it by the Company, or by reason of the County’s ownership of 
the Project (if so owned),the operation of the Project including all claims, liabilities or losses arising 



46114780 v3 

in connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, 
nevertheless, if the County, its agents, officers employees or governing body members should incur 
any such pecuniary liability, then in such event the Company shall indemnify and hold them 
harmless against all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the 
same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection with any such claim or in connection with 
any action or proceeding brought thereon, including, without limitation, ordinary and reasonable, 
actual, attorney’s fees, and upon notice, the Company shall defend them in any such action or 
proceeding with counsel acceptable to the County, approval of whom shall not unreasonably be 
withheld by the County.  These indemnification provisions of Section 8.05 shall not be available to 
or for agents, officers employees or governing body members of the County whose liability or 
exposure is caused by their own gross negligence or willful misconduct. 
 

These indemnification covenants shall be considered included in and incorporated by 
reference in subsequent documents after the closing which the County is requested to sign, and any 
other indemnification covenants in any subsequent documents shall not be construed to reduce or 
limit the above indemnification covenants. 

 
SECTION 8.06.  INSURANCE COVENANTS. If the Company is required to utilize a 

Lease Agreement, as described herein, the Company will provide insurance coverage for the Project 
in the types and amounts acceptable to the County, whose approval thereof will not be unreasonably 
withheld.  More specifically, the Company will, and to the extent there are any other owners of the 
Project,  will cause such owners, to the extent of their respective portion of the Project, to:  (i) keep 
the Project insured against loss or damage or perils generally insured against by industries or 
businesses similar to the Company, and will carry public liability insurance covering personal injury, 
death or property damage with respect to the Project; or (ii) self-insure with respect to such risks in 
the same manner as it does with respect to similar property owned by the Company; or (iii) maintain 
a combination of insurance coverage and self-insurance as to such risks. 

 
ARTICLE IX 

 
FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS; CONVEYANCES; ASSIGNMENTS 

 
SECTION 9.01.  Transfers of Interest in Agreement and Economic Development 

Property; Financing Arrangements. The Company and the County agree that any transfers of 
interest in this Agreement or Economic Development Property, and the entering into of any financing 
arrangement concerning any part of the Project shall be undertaken in compliance with the Transfer 
Provisions.   

 
SECTION 9.02.  Access.  In lieu of and/or in addition to any subleasing by the Company 

pursuant to Section 9.01, the Company may, without any approval by the County, grant such rights 
of access to the Project and the buildings thereon as the Company may decide in its sole discretion.  

 
SECTION 9.03.  Relative Rights of County and Financing Entities as Secured Parties. 

The parties acknowledge that the County’s right to receive FILOT Revenues hereunder shall have a 
first priority lien status pursuant to Section 12-44-90 of the Code, and Chapters 4 and 54 of Title 12 



46114780 v3 

of the Code.   The County consents and agrees that its rights under this Agreement, except for its 
rights to receive FILOT Revenues, Administration Expenses and Indemnification, pursuant to 
Section 8.05, shall be subordinate to the rights of the secured party or parties under any financing 
arrangements undertaken by the Company with respect to the Project pursuant to Section 9.01 
hereof, such subordination to be effective without any additional consent or action on the part of the 
County; provided, however, that the County hereby agrees, at the sole cost and expense of the 
Company,  to execute such agreements, documents, and instruments, in form and substance 
agreeable to the County and the Company, as may be reasonably required by such secured party or 
parties to effectuate or document such subordination.  The County hereby authorizes the then current 
County Administrator to execute such agreements, documents, and instruments as necessary 
therefore, upon advice of legal counsel.  



46114780 v3 

ARTICLE X 
 

TERM; TERMINATION 
 

SECTION 10.01.   Term.  Unless sooner terminated pursuant to the terms and provisions 
herein contained, this Agreement shall be and remain in full force and effect for a term commencing 
on the date on which the Company executes this Agreement, and ending at midnight on the last day 
of the property tax year in which the last Negotiated FILOT Payment is due hereunder.  The 
County’s rights to receive defaulted FILOT payments, indemnification and payment of 
Administration Expenses pursuant hereto shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement.  
 

SECTION 10.02.  Termination.  The Company may terminate this Agreement at any time, 
in which event the Project shall be subject to ad valorem taxes from the date of termination.  

 
ARTICLE XI 

 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

 
SECTION 11.01.  Events of Default by Company.   Any one or more of the following 

events (herein called an “Event of Default”, or collectively “Events of Default”) shall constitute an 
Event of Default by the Company:  
 

(a) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any FILOT 
Payments, Administration Expenses or indemnification required hereunder, which default shall not 
have been cured within 30 days following receipt of written notice thereof from the County; or 

 
(b) if default shall be made by the Company in the due performance of or 

compliance with any of the terms hereof, including payment, other than those referred to in the 
foregoing paragraph (a), and such default shall continue for 90 days after the County shall have given 
the Company written notice of such default, the Company shall fail to  use best, commercially 
reasonable efforts to cure the same.  
 

SECTION 11.02.  Remedies on Event of Default by Company.  Upon the occurrence of 
any Event of Default and without limiting any other remedy or right  which the County might have at 
law or in equity,, the County may exercise any of the following remedies, any of which may be 
exercised at any time during the periods permitted under the following clauses:  
 

(i) declare immediately due and payable all payments due hereunder 
including, without limitation, any such FILOT payments, payments of Administration 
Expenses or indemnification payments;  

 
(ii) terminate this Agreement by delivery of written notice to the 

Company not less than 30 days prior to the termination date specified therein;  
 



46114780 v3 

(iii) have access to and inspect, examine, and make copies of the books, 
records, and accounts of the Company pertaining to the construction, acquisition, or 
maintenance of the Project; or  

 
(iv) take whatever action at law or in equity as may appear necessary or 

desirable to collect the amounts then due and thereafter to become due or to enforce 
observance or performance of any covenant, condition, or agreement of the Company 
under this Agreement.  

 
SECTION 11.03.  Application of Moneys Upon Enforcement of Remedies. Any moneys 

received by the County upon enforcement of its rights hereunder shall be applied as follows:  first, to 
the reasonable costs associated with such enforcement proceedings; second, to pay Administration 
Expenses; third, to pay any indemnification amounts owed to the County hereunder; fourth, to pay 
the FILOT; and fifth, to pay any other amount due to the County under this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 11.04.  Default by County.  Upon the default of the County in the performance 
of any of its obligations hereunder, the Company may take whatever action at law or in equity as may 
appear necessary or desirable to enforce its rights under this Agreement, including without limitation 
a suit for mandamus or specific performance.  
 

ARTICLE XII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

SECTION 12.01.  Rights and Remedies Cumulative.  Each right, power, and remedy of 
the County or of the Company provided for in this Agreement shall be cumulative and concurrent 
and shall be in addition to every other right, power, or remedy provided for in this Agreement or now 
or hereafter existing at law or in equity, in any jurisdiction where such rights, powers, and remedies 
are sought to be enforced, and the exercise or the failure to exercise by the County or by the 
Company of any one or more of the rights, powers, or remedies provided for in this Agreement or 
now or hereafter existing by law or in equity or by statute or otherwise shall not preclude the 
simultaneous or later exercise by the County or by the Company of any or all such other rights, 
powers, or remedies.  
 

SECTION 12.02.  Successors and Assigns.   The terms and provisions of this Agreement 
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors 
and assigns as permitted hereunder.  
 

SECTION 12.03.  Notices; Demands; Requests.   All notices, demands, and requests to be 
given or made hereunder to or by the County or the Company shall be in writing and shall be deemed 
to be properly given or made if sent by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, or via 
facsimile transmission or reputable courier service, addressed as follows or to such other persons and 
places as may be designated in writing by such party.  

 
 



46114780 v3 

(a) As to County:  
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 Attn:  Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
 P. O. Box 8002 
 Anderson, South Carolina  29622-8002 

 
with a copy to: 
 
Anderson County Attorney 
P. O. Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina  29622-8002 
 

(b) As to Company:  
 
   Mr. Dave Rollins 

CFO 
Yoder’s Building Supply 
500 East Fair play Boulevard 
Fair Play, SC 29643 

 
 
   with a copy to: 
 
    
   Burr & Forman 

Attn: Thomas L. Martin 
P. O. Box 447 
Greenville, South Carolina 29601-2970 

    
 
 
 
 SECTION 12.04.  Applicable Law.   This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the law of the State of South Carolina.  
 

SECTION 12.05.  Entire Understanding.  This Agreement expresses the entire 
understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto with each other as to its subject matter, and 
neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any representation to the other 
party which is not expressly set forth in this Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection with 
the execution and delivery hereof.  
 

SECTION 12.06.  Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement 
shall be held to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions hereof.  
 



46114780 v3 

SECTION 12.07.  Headings and Table of Contents:  References.   The headings of the 
Agreement and any Table of Contents or Index annexed hereto are for convenience of reference only 
and shall not define or limit the provisions hereof or affect the meaning or interpretation hereof.   All 
references in this Agreement to particular Articles or Sections or subdivisions of this Agreement are 
references to the designated Articles or Sections or subdivisions of this Agreement.  
 

SECTION 12.08.  Multiple Counterparts.   This Agreement may be executed in multiple 
counterparts, each of which shall be considered an original but all of which taken together shall 
constitute but one and the same instrument.  Facsimile signatures may be relied upon as if originals.  
 

SECTION 12.09.  Amendments.   Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 12-44-
40(J)(2) of the FILOT Simplification Act, this Agreement may be amended, or the rights and 
interests of the parties hereunder surrendered, only by a writing signed by both parties.  
 

SECTION 12.10.  Waiver.   Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any 
term or condition of this Agreement only in writing signed by the waiving party.  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first 

above written.  
 
 

(signatures on following pages)



46114780 v3 

      ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
      By:_______________________________________  
          Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council 
       Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Janie L. Turmon, Assistant Clerk to County Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 



46114780 v3 

      TOP EDGE COMPONENTS, LLC 
 
 
      BY:       
 
      NAME:      
 
      ITS:       
 
 



46114780 v3 

 
EXHIBIT “A” 

 
LAND DESCRIPTION 

 
ALL that certain piece, parcel or lot of land, together with any and all improvements located thereon, 
lying and being situate in the State of South Carolina, County of Anderson containing 35.864 ACRES, 
more or less, as shown and more fully described on a Plat of Surver prepared by Stephen R. Edwards, 
dated December 3, 2018 and recorded in Plat Book S 2601at Page 2, records of the Register of Deeds 
Office for Anderson County, South Carolina; having the metes and bounds, courses and distances as 
appear upon said Plat, being incorporated herein by reference thereto. 
 
TMS # 150-00-03-015 
 



Ordinance #2021-032 
Page 1 of 3 

Jackson Circle 

 
Ordinance #2021-032 

 
An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning 
Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 1.03 acres from R-20 (Single Family 
Residential) to R-D (Residential Duplex) on a parcel of land, identified as 
Jackson Circle in the Fork No. 1 Precinct shown in Deed Book 13059 page 
164. The parcel is further identified as part of TMS #46-00-02-002 (Lot 1-A & Lot 
2-A). 
 
Whereas, Anderson County, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”) has previously adopted Anderson County 
Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), 
which Ordinance contains the Anderson County Official Zoning Map (the “Map”); 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Ordinance contains provisions providing for the amendment of the 
Map; and, 
 
Whereas, County Council desires to amend the Map by adopting a zoning map 
amendment from R-20 to R-D for +/- 1.03 acres of TMS #46-00-02-002 (Lot 1-A & 
Lot 2-A) described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 
Public Hearing on April 14, 2021, during which it reviewed the proposed rezoning 
from to R-20 to R-D +/- 1.03 acres of TMS #46-00-02-002 (Lot 1-A & Lot 2-A) 
described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Council has duly advertised and held a Public 
Hearing on August 17, 2021 regarding said amendment of the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map:  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
  



Ordinance #2021-032 
Page 2 of 3 

Jackson Circle 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 
 
 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that this proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Anderson County Comprehensive Plan and in accord 
with requirements of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29, 
Article 5. 

 
2. The Anderson County Council hereby amends the Anderson County 

Official Zoning Map as previously adopted July 20, 1999, by Anderson 
County Ordinance #99-004 to rezone from R-20 to R-D +/- 1.03 acres of 
TMS 46-00-02-002 (Lot 1-A & Lot 2-A) described above.         

 
3. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remaining terms and provisions of this 
ordinance, all of which  are hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 
5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and 

after third reading and enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-032 
Page 3 of 3 

Jackson Circle 
 
 
ATTEST:  Ordinance 2021-032 
 
 
 
_____________________________         __________________________________   
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
_____________________________    
Janie L. Turmon      
Assistant Clerk to Council 
              
   
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
        
 
 
     
Anderson County Attorney  
     
 
1st Reading:      June 1, 2021 
 
2nd Reading:      June 14, 2021 
 
3rd Reading:  August 17, 2021 
 
Public Hearing:  August 17, 2021 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-033 
Page 1 of 3 

Jackson Circle 

 
Ordinance #2021-033 

 
An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning 
Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 1.25 acres from R-20 (Single Family 
Residential) to R-D (Residential Duplex) on 2 parcels of land, identified as 
Jackson Circle in the Fork No. 1 Precinct shown in Deed Book 14195 page 
183. The parcels are further identified as TMS #46-00-03-026 & #46-00-03-027. 
 
Whereas, Anderson County, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”) has previously adopted Anderson County 
Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), 
which Ordinance contains the Anderson County Official Zoning Map (the “Map”); 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Ordinance contains provisions providing for the amendment of the 
Map; and, 
 
Whereas, County Council desires to amend the Map by adopting a zoning map 
amendment from R-20 to R-D for +/- 1.25 acres of TMS #46-00-03-026 & #46-00-03-
027 described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 
Public Hearing on April 14, 2021, during which it reviewed the proposed rezoning 
from to R-20 to R-D +/- 1.25 acres of TMS #46-00-03-026 & #46-00-03-027 described 
above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Council has duly advertised and held a Public 
Hearing on August 17, 2021 regarding said amendment of the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map:  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
  



Ordinance #2021-033 
Page 2 of 3 

Jackson Circle 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 
 
 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that this proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Anderson County Comprehensive Plan and in accord 
with requirements of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29, 
Article 5. 

 
2. The Anderson County Council hereby amends the Anderson County 

Official Zoning Map as previously adopted July 20, 1999, by Anderson 
County Ordinance #99-004 to rezone from R-20 to R-D +/- 1.25 acres of 
TMS #46-00-03-026 & #46-00-03-027 described above.         

 
3. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remaining terms and provisions of this 
ordinance, all of which  are hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 
5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and 

after third reading and enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-033 
Page 3 of 3 

Jackson Circle 
 
 
ATTEST:  Ordinance 2021-033 
 
 
 
_____________________________         __________________________________   
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
_____________________________    
Janie L. Turmon       
Interim Clerk to Council 
              
   
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
        
 
 
     
Anderson County Attorney  
     
 
1st Reading:      June 1, 2021 
 
2nd Reading:      June 14, 2021 
 
3rd Reading:  August 17, 2021 
 
Public Hearing:  August 17, 2021 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-034 
Page 1 of 3 

104 & 106 Chippewa Ln, Williamston 

 
Ordinance #2021-034 

 
An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning 
Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 1.08 acres from C-2 (Highway Commercial) 
to S-1 (Service District) on a parcel of land, identified as 104 & 106 Chippewa 
Ln in the Williamston Mill Precinct shown in Deed Book 14262 page 300. The 
parcel is further identified as TMS #220-06-01-003 & TMS #220-06-01-004. 
  
Whereas, Anderson County, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”) has previously adopted Anderson County 
Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), 
which Ordinance contains the Anderson County Official Zoning Map (the “Map”); 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Ordinance contains provisions providing for the amendment of the 
Map; and, 
 
Whereas, County Council desires to amend the Map by adopting a zoning map 
amendment from C-2 to S-1 for +/- 1.08 acres of TMS #220-06-01-003 & TMS #220-
06-01-004. described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 
Public Hearing on April 14, 2021, during which it reviewed the proposed rezoning 
from to C-2 to S-1 +/- 1.08 acres of TMS #220-06-01-003 & TMS #220-06-01-004. 
described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Council has duly advertised and held a Public 
Hearing on August 17, 2021 regarding said amendment of the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map:  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
  



Ordinance #2021-034 
Page 2 of 3 

104 & 106 Chippewa Ln, Williamston 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 
 
 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that this proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Anderson County Comprehensive Plan and in accord 
with requirements of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29, 
Article 5. 

 
2. The Anderson County Council hereby amends the Anderson County 

Official Zoning Map as previously adopted July 20, 1999, by Anderson 
County Ordinance #99-004 to rezone from C-2 to S-1 +/- 1.08 acres of 
TMS #220-06-01-003 & TMS #220-06-01-004. described above.         

 
3. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remaining terms and provisions of this 
ordinance, all of which  are hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 
5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and 

after third reading and enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-034 
Page 3 of 3 

104 & 106 Chippewa Ln, Williamston 
 
 
ATTEST:  Ordinance 2021-034 
 
 
 
_____________________________         __________________________________   
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
_____________________________    
Janie L. Turmon       
Assistant Clerk to Council 
              
   
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
        
 
 
     
Anderson County Attorney  
     
 
1st Reading:      June 1, 2021 
 
2nd Reading:      June 14, 2021 
 
3rd Reading:  August 17, 2021 
 
Public Hearing:  August 17, 2021 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-035 
Page 1 of 3 

702 Belton Highway, Williamston 

 
Ordinance #2021-035 

 
An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning 
Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 18.07 acres from PD (Planned 
Development) & R-20 (Single Family Residential) to R-A (Residential 
Agricultural) on 3 parcels of land, identified as 702 Belton Highway in the 
Williamston Mill Precinct shown in Deed Book 10154 page 39, Deed Book 
13038 page 54 & Deed Book 13038 page 50. The parcels are further identified 
as TMS #222-00-03-007, TMS #221-00-09-042 & TMS #221-00-09-043. 
 
Whereas, Anderson County, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”) has previously adopted Anderson County 
Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), 
which Ordinance contains the Anderson County Official Zoning Map (the “Map”); 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Ordinance contains provisions providing for the amendment of the 
Map; and, 
 
Whereas, County Council desires to amend the Map by adopting a zoning map 
amendment from PD & R-20 to R-A for +/- 18.07 acres of TMS #222-00-03-007, TMS 
#221-00-09-042 & TMS #221-00-09-043. described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 
Public Hearing on April 14, 2021, during which it reviewed the proposed rezoning 
from to PD & R-20 to R-A +/- 18.07 acres of TMS #222-00-03-007, TMS #221-00-09-
042 & TMS #221-00-09-043. described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Council has duly advertised and held a Public 
Hearing on August 17, 2021 regarding said amendment of the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map:  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
  



Ordinance #2021-035 
Page 2 of 3 

702 Belton Highway, Williamston 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 
 
 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that this proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Anderson County Comprehensive Plan and in accord 
with requirements of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29, 
Article 5. 

 
2. The Anderson County Council hereby amends the Anderson County 

Official Zoning Map as previously adopted July 20, 1999, by Anderson 
County Ordinance #99-004 to rezone from PD & R-20 to R-A +/-18.07 
acres of TMS #222-00-03-007, TMS #221-00-09-042 & TMS #221-00-09-
043 described above.         

 
3. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remaining terms and provisions of this 
ordinance, all of which  are hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 
5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and 

after third reading and enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-035 
Page 3 of 3 

702 Belton Highway, Williamston 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  Ordinance 2021-035 
 
 
 
_____________________________         __________________________________   
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
_____________________________    
Janie L. Turmon       
Assistant Clerk to Council 
              
   
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
        
 
 
     
Anderson County Attorney  
     
 
1st Reading:      June 1, 2021 
 
2nd Reading:      June 14, 2021 
 
3rd Reading:  August 17, 2021 
 
Public Hearing:  August 17, 2021 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO.: 2021-036 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 38-311 (e), SECTION 38-313(3), AND SECTION 
38-43(d) OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH
CAROLINA SO AS TO UPDATE THE STORMWATER PROVISIONS OF THESE
ORDINANCES; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.

WHEREAS, Anderson County has been designated as a regulated small municipal 
separate storm sewer system (SMS4) and operates under a General NDPES Permit issued by the 
South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC); 

WHEREAS, the SMS4 General Permit requires the SMS4 Permittee, among other things, 
to require stormwater controls for disturbance of sites of one acre or more, including those sites 
that disturb less than one acre that are part of a larger common plan of development; 

WHEREAS, Article V of Chapter 38 of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South 
Carolina sets forth the requirements for stormwater management and sedimentation control; and 

 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council, consistent with the DHEC requirements for 
stormwater management within SMS4s, desires to update the stormwater provisions of various 
sections of Chapter 38 of the Code of Ordinances. 

NOW THEREFORE, be it ordained in meeting duly assembled that: 

1. Section 38-311(e) of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina
is hereby amended to read as follows: 

(e) Approval of the preliminary plat constitutes general approval by the
planning commission of the road alignments, dimensions, layout, shape
of lots and proposed right of ways.  However, review and approval by
other departments and governmental agencies must also be obtained,
including, but not limited to, Stormwater permits from Anderson
County Stormwater Managements and the Department of Health and
Environmental Control (DHEC), which must be obtained prior to
beginning land disturbing activity. A list of appropriate review agencies
shall be maintained and available at the planning commission office.
This list shall be periodically reviewed and updated.

2. Section 38-313 (3) of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County,
South Carolina, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

(3) The proposed Stormwater Management and Sediment Control Plan, as
submitted to Anderson County Stormwater Management and/or DHEC,
showing proposed structures, pipe sizes, drainage easements, pipe
locations, basins (if required), approximate cross section details for
handling water from roads and property and all associated calculations



to substantiate the drainage plan.  Upon receipt of the approved plan 
from Anderson County Stormwater Management and DHEC, and prior 
to commencement of grading, the approved plan shall be submitted to 
the subdivision administrator. 

3. Section 38-314(d) of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina
is hereby amended to read as follows: 

(d) In the case of summary plats which contain up to seven lots, the
subdivider shall not be required to submit a drainage plan or contour
maps required by section 38-312(9) for the purpose of obtaining
summary plat approval.  However, if a total of one acre or more of land
will  collectively be disturbed on the lots, regardless of timing, drainage
and contour maps will be necessary to meet the requirements of
Anderson County Stormwater Management and DHEC.

4. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances
not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

5. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

6. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 

7. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2021. 

ATTEST:     FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 

Rusty Burns   Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 

Janie L. Turmon
 Assistant Clerk to 
Council 



APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

1st Reading: June 1, 2021
2nd Reading: June 14, 2021

 3rd Reading: August 17, 2021

Public Hearing:August 17, 2021 



 
Ordinance 2021-031 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 38-353 OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA SO AS TO 
AMEND SECTION 38-353(A) AND ADD A NEW SECTION 38-353(D) 
REGARDING PRIVATE ROAD STANDARDS; AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERETO  

 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council has the authority to amend the 
Anderson County Code of Ordinances from time to time; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council desires to allow the owners of real 
property located in Anderson County to subdivide property into ten or fewer lots with a 
minimum lot size of 2 acres through the use of a private road; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County has determined that a development on 
private roads with ten or fewer lots of a minimum of 2 acres each will assist citizens of 
Anderson County to better utilize their property. 
 
 NOW, THERFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in 
meeting duly assembled that: 
 
 1. Section 38-353 (a) of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South 
Carolina is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 

Sec. 38-353. - Access.  
(a) All lots developed in the county from the date of the 
adoption of this article must be situated on or have direct access by 
right-of-way or easement to an approved county, state maintained 
road, or private road built to county standards. Direct access to any 
new lot must be in the form of an individual right of way or easement 
for each lot, not less than 20 feet in width to a county road or private 
road built to county standards. Direct access to a state road must be 
in the form of an individual right of way or easement for each lot, 
not less than 20 feet in width. All accesses onto state roads shall be 
approved in writing by the SCDOT prior to plat approval by the 
subdivision administrator with the exception of subsection (d) 
below.  

 
 2. Section 38-353 of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South 
Carolina is hereby amended to add Section 38-353 (d) to read as set forth in Exhibit A 
attached hereto. 



 3. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of 
Ordinances not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 
 4. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed 
unconstitutional or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby 
deemed separable. 
 
 5. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County 
Council inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 
 
 6. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third 
Reading and Enactment by Anderson County Council. 
 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 
2021. 
 
 
 
 

 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 

Janie L. Turmon 
Assistant Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 

1st Reading: May 4, 2021 

2nd Reading: May 18, 2021 

3rd Reading: August 17, 2021 

Public Hearing: August 17, 2021 
 
  



Exhibit A 
 
Section 38-353 (d). – Private Road Standards 
Anderson County shall have no responsibility for nor control of the design, engineering, 
construction, inspection or maintenance of private driveways, drives and roads in 
Anderson County and shall only be involved with private driveways, drives and roads 
to enforce these regulations and to the extent required for the county to carry out its 
other duties and functions, such as approving the subdivision of property. 
 
Private roads. Private roads shall provide vehicular access and road frontage to 
developments, or sections of developments, containing ten or fewer dwellings. All 
private, nondedicated roads shall be prominently indicated as such on plats prior to 
subdivision approval. Maintenance arrangements for such roads must be noted in 
writing on subdivision plat submittals and must be subsequently recorded. The 
development served by a private road shall have direct access onto a public road, with 
no private roads off another private road. No such private road shall be laid out so as to 
serve property outside the development. All private roads shall: 

 
(1) Serve a maximum of 10 lots per private road with each lot containing a minimum 
of 2 acres.  
 
(2) Have a minimum road right-of-way width of 50 feet;  
 
(3) Have a minimum driving surface width of 18 feet constructed of no less than six 
inches of compacted crushed stone or gravel base; a minimum height clearance of 13½ 
feet; and appropriate documentation from a professional engineer licensed by the State 
of South Carolina certifying the maximum weight limit of any bridge or culvert located 
along the drive. All bridges and any culvert over which a private drive crosses a 
perennial stream must include appropriate signage (located at each end of the bridge) 
displaying the structure's weight limits. Cul-de-sacs must have a radius of at least 50 
feet; 
 
(4) Be maintained by an association of property owners or the developer and be 
designated on all plats and recorded in appropriate deed covenants and restrictions, and 
an appropriately executed road maintenance agreement as defined by these regulations; 
 
(5) Parcel boundaries may extend to the centerline of the road, with the appropriate 
right-of-way designated on all plats and deeds; 
 
(6) Be legally certified for compliance by a surveyor/engineer licensed by the State 
of South Carolina; 
 
(7) Be named in accordance with adopted E-911 addressing regulations; 
 
(8) Meet all stormwater management and sediment control regulations: 

 



(9) Have installed signs that control the traffic flow in a safe manner as specified by 
standards in the Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices; 
 
(10) Have a speed limit between 10 & 25 miles per hour, with corresponding speed 
limit signs; 
 
(11) Be properly approved in writing by land development administrator prior to 
submission of plat(s) to the Register of Deeds for recording.  The following shall be 
prominently printed on the plat(s): 
 

ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY SHOWN ON THIS PLAT SHALL BE A 
PRIVATE ROAD, NOT OWNED, MAINTAINED OR SUPERVISED BY 
ANDERSON COUNTY AND NOT CONSTRUCTED PURSUANT TO 
ANY PLAN FOR FUTURE ACCEPTANCE BY ANDERSON COUNTY. 
ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY SHOWN UPON THE PLAT SHALL NOT BE 
ACCEPTED FOR MAINTENANCE BY ANDERSON COUNTY AT ANY 
TIME IN THE FUTURE UNLESS CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH ALL ANDERSON COUNTY REGULATIONS. MAINTENANCE 
OF THE RIGHT-OF-WAY SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE 
HOME OWNERS ASSOCIATION AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
ROAD MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT. 

 
(12) With the exception of the requirements put forth in this section, all private roads 
shall meet the requirements for all public roads as defined by this article. 
 
(13) A road maintenance agreement draft must be approved before a “Preliminary 
Plat Approval” can be given to a project. The attached sample agreement should be 
modified to suit the particular needs of a project, such as basing the costs in paragraph 
3 on acreage or front-foot dimensions instead of lots. If these provisions are incorporated 
into a master deed or other document containing covenants and restrictions for the 
subdivision, that document may be submitted in addition to a road agreement. The 
developer should also note that this sample agreement contains certain provisions, which 
are considered essential by the Planning Commission.  
 
(14) “Final Plat Approval” is granted on the same basis as a standard subdivision with 
the addition of the Road Maintenance Agreement. (Exhibit 1 below) 
  



Exhibit 1 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )               ROAD MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT  
                                                     )                         FOR    _____________________ SUBDIVISION  
COUNTY OF ANDERSON          ) 
 

WHEREAS, the undersigned, ________________________ is the owner and 
developer of the property described below, and;  
 

WHEREAS, (the owner/developer) desires to impose restrictions and conditions for 
the use and maintenance of the (description of the road) to be jointly owned by any and all 
purchasers of the lots set forth hereinafter below.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that the (the 
owner/developer) does hereby impose the following restrictions and conditions and 
covenants upon the lands described as follows:  

“Legal description, to include the name of the subdivision  
and the plat book location in the Office of the Register of Deeds” 

 
THE CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS imposed on the aforesaid property are as 

follows:  
 

1. The (description of the road) running through said property as shown on the aforesaid 
plat is for the joint use of the owners of lots (description of the lots) , their heirs, 
successors, and assigns, for ingress and egress to and from the respective lots and for 
the installation of public utilities. These owners shall be called the (subdivision name) 
Property Owners Association hereinafter called the Association.  
 

2. A property owner is a person, firm, corporation, partnership, association, trust, or other 
legal entity, or any combination thereof, which is the holder of a deed to a lot in 
__(Subdivision Name)__ subdivision. It is the responsibility of each present and 
subsequent member of the Association to assist in keeping the road in a high state of 
maintenance and to respect the rights of the other property owners in its use. Since this 
road is not being engineered and constructed according to Anderson County standards, 
it will not be the responsibility of Anderson County to maintain this road.  

 
3. Maintenance costs to the said roadway shall be borne in accordance with the 

percentage of ownership of the lots hereinabove set forth; said interest at this state 
being solely in the name of (the owner/developer) . Percentage shall be divided equally 
for each lot owned, therefore, with the property subdivided into (number) lots, the 
ownership of each lot represents (fraction) of the maintenance cost to be shared. The 
developer shall carry all the  



 
4. responsibilities of a lot owner in proportion to the number of lots owned. There shall 

also be no further subdividing of lots within this subdivision.  
 

5. The Association in January of each year shall elect a Board of Directors consisting of 
(number) members. This Board shall be responsible for the care and maintenance of the 
roadways in __(Subdivision Name)__ subdivision, and is authorized to direct the 
financial matters of the property owners concerning collection of assessments and 
necessary expenditures of joint funds of the property owners. To carry out these duties, 
the Board shall elect a President, Vice-President, Secretary, and Treasurer.  

 
6. Upon the initial sale of each lot, __________ dollars shall be set aside in escrow by the 

developer to be drawn upon as determined by the Board of Directors stipulated above 
to provide maintenance to the aforesaid roadway.  

7. There shall also be an annual assessment upon each lot owner, which shall be due on 
July 1st of each year. Initially this assessment shall be __________ dollars per lot per 
year. This amount may be changed at any time by a two-thirds vote of the members of 
the Association. The obligation of each lot owner to pay this assessment shall be a 
continuing lien upon the lot, subject only to the lien on a bona fide first mortgage upon 
such real property held by a reputable financial institution; and said lien may be 
enforced by the Association in all respects as though secured by a recorded mortgage as 
provided by the laws of the State of South Carolina.  

 
NOTE: For unpaved roads the escrow amount and annual assessment shall be equal to the 
annual maintenance cost divided by the number of lots. For paved roads the annual 
assessment shall be equal to the replacement cost of the roadway divided by the number of 
lots and also divided by 20, representing the life of the road. 

NOTE: Escrowed funds are not mandatory on paved road projects, however, on unpaved 
roads the amount per lot shall not be less than $100.  

 

8. This instrument is to be recorded in the Anderson County Office of the Register of 
Deeds, and the undersigned, (the owner/developer) , and all future owners shall cause 
the following statement to be placed in every contract and deed conveying lots out of 
this subdivision. This statement shall be signed by the grantee(s) and shall be placed 
immediately below the grantor's signature and shall be binding on all parties thereof. 
Failure of any subsequent purchaser to comply with this provision shall in no way 
diminish or impair the terms of this agreement and the conditions, benefits, and 
obligations imposed and granted thereunder.  
 



“I, the undersigned, as purchaser of the above lot described in this deed/contract, 
acknowledge the existence of the road maintenance agreement as recorded in the 
Office of the Register of Deeds for Anderson County in Deed Book _____ at Page _____, 
do hereby confirm by acceptance of this deed/contract all the terms and conditions 
thereof. I understand that since the road described in that agreement is not being 
engineered and constructed according to Anderson County standards, it will not be the 
responsibility of Anderson County to maintain that road. I further acknowledge that the 
lot owners subject to that agreement shall be responsible for the maintenance and 
upkeep of that road.” 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused these presents to be executed this 
the ________ day of ______, 20_____ in Anderson, South Carolina. 
 
WITNESSES:    BY: Property Owner(s) 
 
_______________________  _____________________ 
  (Witness #1 sign) 
 
________________________  ______________________ 
 (Witness #2 sign)    (Owner or Owners sign) 
 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
        ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON     ) 
 
 PERSONALLY APPEARED before me the undersigned witnesses, who, being duly sworn, 
deposes and says that he/she saw the within named property owner(s) sign and seal the 
within Road Maintenance Agreement for the uses and purposes therein mentioned and 
that he/she with the other witness, witnessed the execution thereof. 
 
SWORN TO BEFORE ME THIS  ) 
______ day of ________, 20____ ) 
     ) 
________________________(L.S.) ) ________________________ 
Notary Public for South Carolina ) (Witness #1 or #2 sign) 
My Commission Expires:________ ) 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
     )  ORDINANCE NO. 2021-029 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON  ) 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING PURSUANT TO TITLE 12, CHAPTER 44 OF 
THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED, THE 
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF ONE OR MORE INCENTIVE 
AGREEMENTS, BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA AND HARTWELL SOLAR, LLC (FORMERLY IDENTIFIED BY THE 
COUNTY AS PROJECT MULLET), AS SPONSOR, AND ONE OR MORE 
EXISTING OR TO-BE-FORMED OR ACQUIRED SUBSIDIARIES, OR 
AFFILIATED OR RELATED ENTITIES AND CERTAIN SPONSOR AFFILIATES, 
TO PROVIDE FOR A FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES INCENTIVE AND 
CERTAIN SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS; AUTHORIZING THE 
EXPANSION OF THE BOUNDARIES OF A MULTI COUNTY PARK TO 
INCLUDE THE PROJECT; TO ENTER INTO ANY OTHER NECESSARY 
AGREEMENTS WITH THE SPONSOR TO EFFECT THE INTENT OF THIS 
ORDINANCE; AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS 

 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County 

Council (“County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of Title 
12, Chapter 44 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Act”) and Article VIII, 
Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution (i) to enter into agreements with qualifying companies to 
encourage investment in projects constituting economic development property through which the economic 
development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted by inducing new and existing 
manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus utilize and employ 
manpower and other resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such industry to accept certain fee 
payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes (“FILOT”) with respect to such investment (“FILOT Payments”); (iii) 
under Section 4-1-170 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“MCIP Act”) to create 
multi-county industrial parks with one or more contiguous counties and include certain properties therein, 
and, in its discretion, include within the boundaries of these parks the property of qualifying industries, and 
under the authority provided in the MCIP Act, the County enacted Ordinance 2010-026 and created a multi-
county park with Greenville County, South Carolina (“Park”) and entered into that Agreement for the 
Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park) (the “Park Agreement”); and (iv) 
to make and execute contracts of the type hereinafter described pursuant to Section 4-9-30 of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Hartwell Solar, LLC (formerly identified by the County as Project Mullet), along with 

one or more existing or to be formed or acquired subsidiaries, or affiliated or related entities, as Sponsor, 
(“Company”) and any Sponsor Affiliates (as defined under the Act and the Fee Agreement) that the 
Company may designate and have the County approve in accordance with the Act, contingent upon 
satisfaction of certain commitments made by and on behalf of the County, as set forth herein, plans to 
construct a solar energy generation facility in the County through the acquisition, construction, purchase, 
and lease of certain land, buildings, furnishings, fixtures, apparatuses, and equipment (“Project”), which 
will result in new investment in real and personal property estimated to be no less than $68,000,000 in the 
County; and  

 
 WHEREAS, by its Resolution adopted on April 20, 2021 (“Resolution”), the County identified the 

Project, as required by the Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Project will be located on one or more parcels of real property or a portion thereof 

within the County, with improvements thereon, as further described in Exhibit A (“Project Site”); and 



 2 

 WHEREAS, County established a Park in that certain “Agreement for the Development of a Joint 
County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park)” with Greenville County (the “Park Agreement”) effective 
December 1, 2010 (“Park Agreement”) and pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Park Agreement the County 
desires to enlarge the boundaries of the Park to include the Project and Project Site and to ensure that the 
Project and Project Site remain in the Park or any other multi-county park created under the MCIP Act for 
no less than the duration of the Fee Agreement; and 

 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the Project, the Company has requested and the County desires to 

offer, as an inducement for the Project: (i) the incentive of a FILOT arrangement for a term of 30 years, 
plus an extension for 10 years for a total of 40 years, and having a fixed assessment ratio of 6% with a fixed 
millage rate equal to the lowest millage rate permitted pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(D) of the Act, 
the terms of which shall be further set forth in a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes agreement between the 
County and the Company (“Fee Agreement”), the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B; (ii) the 
placement and maintenance of the Project in a Park of which the County is a member county; (iii) an annual 
Special Source Revenue Credit against those FILOT payments made by the Company and to the County, 
for the duration of the Fee Agreement, equal to the difference between a net FILOT Payment liability of a 
multiplier of $3,100 per megawatt of alternating current and such FILOT Payments due (which is based 
upon the Company’s projection of 50 megawatts, the annual net FILOT Payment is anticipated to be 
$155,000 annually); and (iv) other incentives that may be further described in the Fee Agreement 
(collectively, the “Incentives”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Company has requested that Martha E. Mullikin, Robert F. Mullikin Jr., and 

Mullikin Family Limited Partnership, a South Carolina limited partnership, each be approved as Sponsor 
Affiliates (as defined in the Act) to the Project and Fee Agreement; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the parties recognize and acknowledge that the Company would not otherwise 

undertake the Project in the County but for the delivery of the Incentives as set forth herein. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council: 
 
 Section 1.  Project Finding.  The County hereby finds and affirms, based on information provided 

by the Company: (i) the Project will benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 
employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; (ii) the Project gives rise to 
no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality and to no charge against its general 
credit or taxing power; (iii) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and 
public purposes; and (iv) the benefits of the Project to the public are greater than the costs to the public. 

 
 Section 2. Approval of 10 Year Extension to Term of FILOT Payments. In accordance with 

Section 12-44-30(21) of the Act, County Council hereby finds an extension of the termination date of the 
Fee Agreement by an additional 10 years to be a substantial public benefit and hereby approves such 
extension for a total term of 40 years for each Phase (as defined in the Fee Agreement) of the Project. 

 
 Section 3.   Authorization to Execute and Deliver Fee Agreement.  The form, terms, and 

provisions of the Fee Agreement presented to this meeting and filed with the Clerk to County Council are 
hereby approved, and all of the terms, provisions, and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by 
reference as if the Fee Agreement was set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chair of County Council 
is authorized and directed to execute the Fee Agreement with any minor modifications and revisions as may 
be approved by the Chair of County Council, the County Administrator, and the County Attorney, in the 
name of and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is authorized and directed to attest 
the same; and the Chair of County Council, the County Administrator, and the County Attorney are further 
authorized and directed to deliver the executed Fee Agreement to the Company.  

 



 3 

 Section 4.  Inclusion and Maintenance of the Project in the Park. The expansion of the Park 
boundaries to include the Project and the Project Site is hereby approved. The County will use its best 
efforts to ensure that the Project is incorporated into and will remain in the Park (or a successor multi-
county industrial park) for no less than the term of the Fee Agreement. 

 
 Section 5.  Approval of Sponsor Affiliate. The County approves Martha E. Mullikin, Robert F. 

Mullikin Jr., and Mullikin Family Limited Partnership, a South Carolina limited partnership, as Sponsor 
Affiliates as contemplated under the Act and the Fee Agreement. 

 
 Section 6.  No Recapitulation Required.  Pursuant to Section 12-44-55(B) of the FILOT Act, the 

County hereby agrees that no recapitulation information, as set forth in Section 12-44-55(A) of the FILOT 
Act is required to be provided by the Company in the Fee Agreement, or in any other documents or 
agreements in connection with the fee-in-lieu of tax arrangement between the Company and the County, so 
long as the Company shall file a copy of the South Carolina Department of Revenue form PT-443, and any 
subsequent amendments thereto, and all filings required by the FILOT Act with the County after the 
execution of the Fee Agreement by the County and the Company.      

 
 Section 7.  Further Acts.  The County Council authorizes the County Administrator, other County 

staff, and the County Attorney, along with any designees and agents who any of these officials deems necessary 
and proper, in the name of and on behalf of the County (each an “Authorized Individual”), to take whatever 
further actions, and enter into whatever further agreements, as any Authorized Individual deems to be 
reasonably necessary and prudent to effect the intent of this Ordinance and induce the Company to locate the 
Project in the County. 

 
 Section 8.  General Repealer.  All ordinances, resolutions, and their parts in conflict with this 

Ordinance are, to the extent of that conflict, repealed.  
 
 Section 9.  Severability.  Should any part, provision, or term of this Ordinance be deemed 

unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such finding or 
determination shall not affect the rest and remainder of the Ordinance or any part, provision or term thereof, 
all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

 
 This Ordinance takes effect and is in full force only after the County Council has approved this 

Ordinance following three readings and a public hearing. 
 
 Done in meeting duly assembled this 17th day of August, 2021.    
 
  



 4 

 
       ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA: 
 
       _____________________________  
       Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
                   
________________________________    
Rusty Burns 
County Administrator  
   
________________________________    
Janie L. Turmon, Assistant Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
                   
________________________________    
Leon C. Harmon 
County Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
READINGS: 
First reading:  April 20, 2021  
Second reading:  May 4, 2021 
Public hearing:  August 17, 2021 
Third reading:  August 17, 2021 



 5 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Property Description 
 

TMS # 115-00-02-010 
 
TMS # 114-00-07-008 
 
TMS # 114-00-08-003 
 
TMS # 114-00-02-011 
 
TMS # 114-00-06-010 
 
TMS # 114-00-02-003 



 6 

EXHIBIT B 
 

Fee Agreement 
 

[ATTACHED] 
 

 



PPAB 6126410v6 

 
 

 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

HARTWELL SOLAR, LLC, 

MARTHA E. MULLIKIN, 

ROBERT F. MULLIKIN, JR., 

MULLIKIN FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,  

AND 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

EFFECTIVE AS OF AUGUST 17, 2021 

PREPARED BY: 
 

PARKER POE ADAMS & BERNSTEIN LLP 
POST OFFICE BOX 1509 

COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA 29202-1509 
(803) 255-8000 

 
 
 

        



 2 
PPAB 6126410v6 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
        

Page 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1  Terms ..................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 1.2 Amendments ........................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1  Representations of the County ............................................................................... 8 
Section 2.2 Representations of the Company ........................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE III 
FILOT PAYMENTS 

Section 3.1  Negotiated Payments ............................................................................................. 9 
Section 3.2 Special Source Revenue Credit ............................................................................ 10 
Section 3.3 FILOT Payments on Replacement Property ........................................................ 10 
Section 3.4 Reductions in Payments of Taxes Upon Removal, Condemnation 
  or Casualty ........................................................................................................... 11 
Section 3.5 Place and Allocation of FILOT Payments ........................................................... 11 
Section 3.6 Removal of Equipment ......................................................................................... 11 
Section 3.7 Damage or Destruction of Project ....................................................................... 11 
Section 3.8 Condemnation ...................................................................................................... 12 
Section 3.9 Maintenance of Existence .................................................................................... 12 
Section 3.10 Confidentiality/Limitation on Access to Project .................................................. 12 
Section 3.11 Assignment and Subletting ................................................................................... 13 
Section 3.12 Addition of Sponsor Affiliates .............................................................................. 13 
Section 3.13 Events of Default .................................................................................................. 13 
Section 3.14 Remedies on Default ............................................................................................ 13 
Section 3.15 Remedies Not Exclusive ....................................................................................... 14 
Section 3.16 Leased Equipment ................................................................................................ 14 
Section 3.17 Waiver of Recapitulation Requirements .............................................................. 14 
Section 3.18 Fiscal Year; Property Tax Year ........................................................................... 14 
Section 3.19 Reports; Filings ................................................................................................... 14 
Section 3.20 Payment of Administrative Expenses ................................................................... 14 
Section 3.21 Termination .......................................................................................................... 15 

ARTICLE IV 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 4.1  Notices ................................................................................................................. 15 
Section 4.2 Binding Effect ...................................................................................................... 15 
Section 4.3 Counterparts ........................................................................................................ 16 
Section 4.4 Governing Law .................................................................................................... 16 
Section 4.5 Headings .............................................................................................................. 16 
Section 4.6 Amendments ......................................................................................................... 16 
Section 4.7 Further Assurance ............................................................................................... 16 
Section 4.8 Severability .......................................................................................................... 16 
Section 4.9 Limited Obligation ............................................................................................... 16 
Section 4.10 No Liability of County’s Personnel...................................................................... 16 



 3 
PPAB 6126410v6 

Section 4.11 Indemnification Covenants .................................................................................. 16 
Section 4.12 Force Majeure ..................................................................................................... 17 
Section 4.13 Decommissioning ................................................................................................. 17 

 
EXHIBIT A:  Legal Description of Property 
 



 

 4 
PPAB 6126410v6 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT 
 

THIS FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT (“Fee Agreement” or 
“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of August 17, 2021, by and between Anderson County, South 
Carolina (“County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina 
(“State”), acting by and through the Anderson County Council (“County Council”) as the governing body 
of the County, Hartwell Solar, LLC, a company formerly known to the County as Project Mullet, a South 
Carolina limited liability company, along with affiliated or related entities, and assigns, as Sponsor 
(collectively, “Company”), Martha E. Mullikin (a “Sponsor Affiliate”), Robert F. Mullikin Jr. (a “Sponsor 
Affiliate”), and Mullikin Family Limited Partnership, a South Carolina limited partnership (a “Sponsor 
Affiliate”), and any other entity that may also join as a Sponsor Affiliate as the term is defined in this Fee 
Agreement (hereinafter, the County, the Company, and the Sponsor Affiliates are referred to individually 
as a “Party” and, collectively, as “Parties”).  

WITNESSETH: 

(a) The County, acting by and through its County Council, is authorized and empowered under and 
pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(the “Act”) and Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution (i) to enter into agreements with 
qualifying companies to encourage investment in projects constituting economic development property 
through which the economic development of the State of South Carolina will be promoted by inducing new 
and existing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus utilize 
and employ manpower and other resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such industry to accept certain 
fee payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes (“FILOT”) with respect to such investment (“FILOT Payments”); 
(iii) under Section 4-1-170 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“MCIP Act”) to create 
multi-county industrial parks with one or more contiguous counties and include certain properties therein, 
and, in its discretion, include within the boundaries of these parks the property of qualifying industries, and 
under the authority provided in the MCIP Act, by enacting Ordinance 2010-026 the County previously 
created a multi-county park with Greenville County, South Carolina (“Park”) and entered into that 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park) (the “Park 
Agreement”); and (iv) to grant credits against FILOT Payments to qualifying companies to offset qualifying 
infrastructure related expenditures (“Special Source Revenue Credits”) pursuant to Sections 4-1-175, 4-29-
68 and 12-44-70 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 as amended (collectively, the “Infrastructure 
Credit Act”); and (v) to make and execute contracts of the type hereinafter described pursuant to 
Section 4-9-30 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended; and 

 
 (b) Pursuant to the Act, the County has determined that (i) the Project (as defined herein) will 

benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other 
public benefits not otherwise provided locally; (ii) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the 
County or any incorporated municipality and to no charge against its general credit or taxing power; (iii) the 
purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (iv) the 
benefits of the Project to the public will be greater than the costs to the public; and 

(c) The Company, as Sponsor, along with one or more existing, or to-be-formed or acquired 
subsidiaries, or affiliated or related entities and any Sponsor Affiliates (as defined under the Act) that the 
Sponsor may designate and have the County approve in accordance with the Act, contingent upon 
satisfaction of certain commitments made by and on behalf of the County, as set forth herein and, to the 
extent allowed by law, is planning the acquisition, construction, lease and purchase of certain land, 
buildings, furnishings, fixtures, apparati, and equipment, for the purpose of establishing a solar energy 
generation facility to be located in the County (collectively, “Project”) through an investment consisting of 
the expenditure of approximately $68,000,000 (“Investment”); and  



 

 5 
PPAB 6126410v6 

(d) Pursuant to a Resolution adopted April 20, 2021, the County Council identified the Project, 
as required under the Act, and pursuant to County Council Ordinance No. ______ adopted on August 17, 
2021, authorized (i) the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement with the Company, (ii) the grant of 
Special Source Revenue Credits in amounts more fully described in this Fee Agreement; (iii) extension of 
the 30 year Term (defined below) by an additional 10 years; and (iv) the inclusion of the Project in the Park; 
and (v) other incentives as may be further described in this Fee Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows, with the understanding that no 
obligation of the County described herein shall create a pecuniary liability or charge upon its general credit 
or taxing powers, but shall be payable solely out of the sources of payment described herein and shall not 
under any circumstances be deemed to constitute a general obligation to the County: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Terms.  The terms defined in this Article shall for all purposes of this Fee 
Agreement have the meaning herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise. 

“Abandonment” means the failure of the Company to achieve Substantial Energy Generation at the 
Project for a period of one year after the Project has been placed in service.  

“Chair” means the Chairman of the County Council. 

“Clerk of County Council” means the Clerk to the County Council. 

“Code” means the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, as amended. 

“Commencement Date” means the last day of the first property tax year during which Economic 
Development Property (defined below) is placed in service except that this date may not be later than the 
last day of the property tax year which is three years from the year in which the County, the Sponsor and 
the Sponsor Affiliates entered into this Fee Agreement. 

“County” means Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the Anderson 
County Council as the governing body of the County. 

“County Council” means the Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“Department” and “SCDOR” mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Decommissioning” shall mean the removal and proper disposal of all Equipment, stabilization and 
rehabilitations of the real property comprising the Project Site, and restoration of the real property to its 
original state.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no obligation to remove roads 
constructed on the Project Site, or to remove fencing that the then current landowner requests to remain, or 
to remove subsurface improvements below 30 inches of depth. 

“Diminution of Value” with respect to any Phase of the Project means any reduction in the value 
based on original fair market value as determined in Step 1 of Section 3.1 of this Fee Agreement, of the 
items which constitute a part of the Phase which may be caused by (i) the Company’s removal of equipment 
pursuant to Section 3.6 of this Fee Agreement, (ii) a casualty to the Phase of the Project, or any part thereof, 



 

 6 
PPAB 6126410v6 

described in Section 3.7 of this Fee Agreement, or (iii) a condemnation to the Phase of the Project, or any 
part thereof, described in Section 3.8 of this Fee Agreement. 

“Economic Development Property” means all items of real and tangible personal property 
comprising the Project which qualify as economic development property under the Act, become subject to 
this Fee Agreement, and which are identified by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate in 
connection with its annual filing of a SCDOR PT-300 or comparable forms with the Department (as such 
filing may be amended from time to time) for each year within the Investment Period, as that period may 
be extended by subsequent, formal action of County Council, or automatically as permitted under the Act 
or under this Fee Agreement. Title to all Economic Development Property shall at all times remain vested 
in the Company and, as applicable, in any Sponsor Affiliate, except as may be necessary to take advantage 
of the effect of Section 12-44-160 of the Act. 

“Equipment” means all machinery, apparatus, equipment, fixtures, office facilities, furnishings, and 
other personal property together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutes 
thereto or therefor acquired by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, during the 
Investment Period as a part of the Project under this Fee Agreement. The Equipment and its constituent 
parts together with any and all improvements or other features constructed on, or personal property  installed 
or placed on the Project Site (defined below) by or for the Company, or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
including without limitation, machinery, fixtures, trade fixtures, and other personal property are personal  
property for purposes of applicable South Carolina law.   

“Event of Default” means any Event of Default specified in Section 3.13 of this Fee Agreement. 

“Fee Term” or “Term” means the period from the date of delivery of this Fee Agreement until the 
last Phase Termination Date (defined below) unless sooner terminated or extended pursuant to the terms of 
this Fee Agreement. 

“FILOT” means fee in lieu of ad valorem tax(es). 

“FILOT Payment(s)” means the payment(s) in lieu of ad valorem tax(es) which the Company and, 
as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, are obligated to pay to the County. 

“Improvements” mean improvements, together with any and all additions, accessions, 
replacements and substitutions thereto or therefore acquired by the Company during the Investment Period.  

 “Investment” shall mean that amount set forth in the recitals of this Fee Agreement and shall 
include but not be limited to (i) taxable and non-taxable capital expenditures, without regard to depreciation, 
which are made by the Company and, as applicable,  any Sponsor Affiliate towards or for the benefit of the 
Project; (ii) capital expenditures, whether considered Economic Development Property or non-Economic 
Development Property, without regard to depreciation, which are made by the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate towards or for the benefit of the Project, regardless of the source of payment of such 
expenditures; (iii) the value of any assets leased by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
without regard to depreciation, regardless of the source of payment of such expenditures so long as the 
value of such leased assets are reported by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate on their 
respective SCDOR PT-100 or PT-300 or comparable forms; and (iv) any other expenditures made by the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate that the County and the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate, may mutually agree upon in a writing that is executed by an authorized representative 
of the Company, the applicable Sponsor Affiliate and the County Administrator. The Investment for 
purposes of the Investment stated herein shall include those expenditures made by both the Company and, 
as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate by the end of the Investment Period. 



 

 7 
PPAB 6126410v6 

“Investment Period” means the period beginning with the first day that Economic Development 
Property is purchased or acquired and ending five years after the Commencement Date. The minimum 
investment must be completed within five years of the Commencement Date. Pursuant to Section 12-44-
30(13) of the Act, the County may, at its discretion, extend this period for up to an additional five years 
upon passage of a resolution. 

“Net FILOT Payment” shall mean a total annual payment to the County of $3,100 per megawatt 
AC measured at the point of interconnection to the grid, at the Project for the entire term of this Fee 
Agreement as set forth in Section 3.1 for those years for which a FILOT Payment is due hereunder. It is 
anticipated that the first net FILOT Payment due hereunder shall be payable for property tax year 2022, due 
and payable to the County on or before January 15, 2023. The Company shall provide the County 
Administrator and Finance Director with reports (including third party reports, if applicable,) not less 
frequently than annually, at the end of the calendar year, providing conclusive evidence of the actual power 
production of the Project since the last such report. 

“Phase” or “Phases” in respect to the Project means the Economic Development Property placed 
in service during each year of the Investment Period, as extended. 

“Phase Termination Date” means, with respect to each Phase of the Project, the day thirty-nine 
years after each such Phase of the Project becomes subject to the terms of this Fee Agreement. Anything 
contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the last Phase Termination Date shall be no later than 
December 31 of the year of the expiration of the 40th full calendar year, after the end of the Investment 
Period. 

“Project” is further defined herein to mean the Equipment, Improvements, and the Project Site, 
together with the acquisition, construction, installation, design and engineering thereof, in phases.  

“Project Site” means the real property upon which any part of the Project is to be constructed and 
expanded, as described in Exhibit A attached hereto, as may be amended from time to time by approval of 
the County Administrator or by adoption of a Resolution by County Council, together with all and singular, 
the rights, members, hereditaments, and appurtenances belonging or in any way incident or appertaining 
thereto acquired or constructed by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate; all Improvements 
now or hereafter situated thereon; and all fixtures now or hereafter attached thereto, but only to the extent 
such Improvements and fixtures are deemed to become part of the Project under the terms of this Fee 
Agreement. 

“Removed Components” means the following types of components or Phases of the Project or 
portions thereof, all of which the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, 
shall be entitled to remove from the Project with the result that the same shall no longer be subject to the 
terms of the Fee Agreement: (a) components or Phases of the Project or portions thereof which the Company 
and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, in their sole discretion, determine to be inadequate, obsolete, 
worn-out, uneconomic, damaged, unsuitable, undesirable or unnecessary; or (b) components or Phases of 
the Project or portions thereof which the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, in their sole 
discretion, elect to remove pursuant to Section 3.7(c) or Section 3.8(b)(iii) of this Fee Agreement. 

“Replacement Property” means any property which is placed in service as a replacement for any 
item of Equipment or any Improvement which is scrapped or sold by the Company and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate and treated as a Removed Component under Section 3.6 hereof regardless of whether 
such property serves the same function as the property it is replacing and regardless of whether more than 
one piece of property replaces any item of Equipment or any Improvement. 



 

 8 
PPAB 6126410v6 

“Sponsor Affiliate” means an affiliate that joins with or is an affiliate of the Company, and have 
met the requirements of the Act, and whose Investment with respect to the Project shall be considered 
Economic Development Property, part of the Investment and qualify for FILOT Payments. 

“Substantial Energy Generation” means the generation of at least 50% of energy capacity of the 
Project which shall mean a production of less than 25 megawatts annually. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 
is deemed to include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement 
or document. 

Section 1.2 Amendments. Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or 
otherwise in this Fee Agreement is deemed to include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and 
modifications to such agreement or document. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1 Representations of the County.  The County hereby represents and warrants to the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliate as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State which 
acts through the County Council as its governing body and by the provisions of the Act is authorized and 
empowered to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Fee Agreement and to carry out its 
obligations hereunder. The County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement 
and any and all other agreements described herein or therein. 

(b) The Project constitutes a “project” within the meaning of the Act. 

(c) By due corporate action, the County has agreed that, subject to compliance with applicable 
laws, each item of real and tangible personal property comprising the Project shall be considered Economic 
Development Property under the Act.  

(d) No actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries, or investigations known to the undersigned 
representatives of the County are pending or threatened against or affecting the County in any court or 
before any governmental authority or arbitration board or tribunal, which could materially adversely affect 
the transactions contemplated by this Fee Agreement or which could, in any way, adversely affect the 
validity or enforceability of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 2.2 Representations of the Company.  The Company hereby represents and warrants 
to the County as follows: 

(a) The Company is a corporate entity, authorized or to be authorized to transact business 
under the laws of the State of South Carolina, has the power to enter into this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company’s execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and its compliance with the 
provisions hereof do not result in a default, not waived or cured, under any Company restriction or any 
agreement or instrument to which the Company is now a party or by which it is bound. 

(c) The Company intends to operate the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the Act 
as in effect on the date hereof. The Company intends to operate the Project for such purposes as permitted 
under the Act, as the Company may deem appropriate. 



 

 9 
PPAB 6126410v6 

(d) The availability of the FILOT with regard to the Economic Development Property 
authorized by the Act, along with other incentives provided by the County, have induced the Company to 
undertake the Project in the County. 

ARTICLE III 
FILOT PAYMENTS 

Section 3.1 Negotiated Payments. 

(a) Pursuant to Section 12-44-50 of the Act, the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor 
Affiliate, are required to make FILOT Payments on all Economic Development Property comprising the 
Project and placed in service, as follows: (i) the Company shall make FILOT Payments in lieu of ad valorem 
taxes with respect to each Phase of the Project placed in service on or before each December 31 within the 
Investment Period. 

(b) The amount of such annual FILOT Payments shall be determined by the following 
procedure: 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Phase of the Project placed in service in any given 
year for such year and for the following 39 years, unless extended by the Parties in 
accordance with the Act, using original income tax basis for State income tax purposes 
for any real property (provided, if real property is constructed for the fee or is purchased 
in an arms-length transaction, fair market value is deemed to equal the original income 
tax basis, otherwise, the Department will determine fair market value by appraisal) and 
original income tax basis for State income tax purposes less depreciation for each year 
allowable to the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, for any personal 
property as determined in accordance with Title 12 of the Code, as amended and in effect 
on December 31 of the year in which each Phase becomes subject to the Fee Agreement, 
except that no extraordinary obsolescence shall be allowable but taking into account all 
applicable property tax exemptions which would be allowed to the Company, and, as 
applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, under State law, if the property were taxable, except 
those exemptions specifically disallowed under Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the Act, as 
amended and in effect on December 31 of the year in which each Phase becomes subject 
to the Fee Agreement. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of 6.0% to the fair market value as determined for each year 
in Step 1 to establish the taxable value of each Phase of the Project in the year it is placed 
in service and in each of the 39 years thereafter or such longer period of years that the 
annual FILOT Payment is permitted to be made by the Company and, as applicable, by 
any Sponsor Affiliate, under the Act. 

Step 3: Multiply the taxable value determined in the preceding step by a millage rate equal to 
326.8 mills, which the parties believe to be that rate in effect on June 30, 2021, for all 
taxing entities for the Project Site (which millage rate shall be a fixed rate for the term 
of this Fee Agreement), to determine the amount of the FILOT Payments which would 
be due in each year of the Fee Term on the payment dates prescribed by the County for 
such payments for a total of 40 years for each item of eligible Project property, or such 
longer period of years that the annual fee payment is permitted to be made by the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, under the Act. 

Step 4: With respect to each annual FILOT Payment paid to the County, the County shall 
subtract from the FILOT Payment to be invoiced to the Company an amount equal to the 



 

 10 
PPAB 6126410v6 

value of the annual Special Source Revenue Credits as further defined under Section 3.2 
of this Fee Agreement. 

(c) The County agrees to use its best efforts to ensure that the Project is incorporated and 
remains in the Park during the Fee Term. If, for any reason, the MCIP Agreement is modified, or otherwise 
terminated, then the County shall ensure that the Project shall be immediately placed into another multi-
county park arrangement established pursuant to the MCIP Act, to which the County is a party and that 
would enable the Company to receive the benefits afforded by having the Project incorporated into the Park. 

(d) In the event that the Act, the above-described FILOT Payments or both are declared invalid 
or unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express their intentions that such payments 
and this Fee Agreement be reformed so as to most closely effectuate the legal, valid, and enforceable intent 
thereof and so as to afford the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, with the benefits to be 
derived hereunder. If the Project is deemed to be subject to ad valorem taxation, the payment in lieu of ad 
valorem taxes to be paid to the County by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, shall 
become equal to the amount which would result from taxes levied on the Project by the County, 
municipality or municipalities, school district or school districts, and other political units as if the Project 
was and had not been Economic Development Property under the Act. In such event, any amount 
determined to be due and owing to the County from the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
as the case may be, with respect to a year or years for which payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes have 
been previously remitted by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, to the County 
hereunder, shall be reduced by the total amount of payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes made by the 
Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, with respect to the Project pursuant to the terms hereof, 
and further reduced by any abatements provided by law. 

Section 3.2 Special Source Revenue Credit. As an inducement for the Investment in 
accordance with Section 12-44-70 of the Act, the County grants to the Company an annual Special Source 
Revenue Credit (“SSRC”) equal to the difference between a net FILOT Payment liability (after application 
of the SSRC) of a multiplier of $3,100 per megawatt of alternating current produced at the Project and each 
annual FILOT Payment due (the Project’s estimated output being 50 megawatts, the annual FILOT Payment 
would be $155,000). The Company shall certify in writing to the County, prior to the issuance of the first 
annual FILOT bill for the Project, the total megawatt alternating current produced at the Project. 

With respect to the SSRC, the County shall automatically reflect the SSRC against the FILOT 
Payment on those FILOT invoices provided by the County to the Company. The Company shall be 
permitted to utilize the SSRC to offset any qualifying expenditures as provided under the Infrastructure 
Credit Act. 

Section 3.3 FILOT Payments on Replacement Property.  If the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate, elect to replace any Removed Components and to substitute such Removed 
Components with Replacement Property as a part of the Project, then, pursuant and subject to Section 12-
44-60 of the Act, the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate shall make statutory payments in 
lieu of ad valorem taxes with regard to such Replacement Property as follows: 

(a) to the extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property (“Replacement Value”) 
is less than or equal to the original income tax basis of the Removed Components (“Original Value”) the 
amount of the FILOT Payments to be made by the Company and, as applicable, the Sponsor Affiliate, with 
respect to such Replacement Property, shall be calculated in accordance with Section 3.1 hereof; provided, 
however, in making such calculations, the original cost to be used in Step 1 of Section 3.1 shall be equal to 
the lesser of (x) the Replacement Value or (y) the Original Value, and the number of annual payments to 
be made with respect to the Replacement Property shall be equal to forty (40) (or, if greater, the maximum 
number of years for which the annual FILOT Payments are available to the Company and any Sponsor 



 

 11 
PPAB 6126410v6 

Affiliate for each portion of the Project under the Act, as amended) minus the number of annual payments 
which have been made with respect to the oldest Removed Components disposed of in the same property 
tax year as the Replacement Property is placed in service; and  

(b) to the extent that the Replacement Value exceeds the Original Value of the Removed 
Components (“Excess Value”), the FILOT Payments to be made by the Company and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, with respect to the Excess Value, shall be equal to the payment that would be due if the 
property were not Economic Development Property. Notwithstanding the existence of any Excess Value as 
a result of the installation of Replacement Property at the Project, the total amount of the annual payment(s) 
due to the County, including the Net FILOT Payment, for the Project shall not exceed in the aggregate the 
value of the Net FILOT Payment due under this Amended Fee Agreement. If legally necessary to ensure 
this obligation by the County to the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, the County would take necessary 
action, including but not limited to, the provision of additional property tax abatements against the payments 
due for the Excess Value.  

Section 3.4 Reductions in Payments of Taxes Upon Removal, Condemnation or Casualty.  
In the event of a Diminution in Value of any Phase of the Project after the Investment Period and during 
the remainder of the Fee Term, the FILOT Payments with regard to that Phase of the Project shall be reduced 
in the same proportion as the amount of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market value of 
that Phase of the Project as determined pursuant to Step 1 of Section 3.1 hereof. 

Section 3.5 Place and Allocation of FILOT Payments.  The Company and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, shall make the above-described FILOT Payments directly to the County in accordance 
with applicable law as to payment, collection and enforcement of FILOT Payments. FILOT Payments are 
to be allocated in accordance with the Act. 

Section 3.6 Removal of Equipment. Subject always to Section 3.3, the Company shall be 
entitled to remove the following types of components or Phases of the Project from the Project with the 
result that said components or Phases (“Removed Components”) shall no longer be considered a part of the 
Project and shall no longer be subject to the terms of this Fee Agreement: (a) components or Phases which 
become subject to statutory payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes; (b) components or Phases of the Project 
or portions thereof which Company, in its sole discretion, determines to be inadequate, obsolete, 
uneconomic, worn-out, damaged, unsuitable, undesirable or unnecessary; or (c) components of Phases of 
the Project or portions thereof which the Company, in its sole discretion, elects to remove pursuant to 
Section 3.7(c) or Section 3.8(b)(iii) hereof.   

Section 3.7 Damage or Destruction of Project. 

(a) Election to Terminate.  In the event the Project is damaged by fire, explosion, or any other 
casualty, the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, shall be entitled to terminate this Fee 
Agreement in accordance with Section 3.21. 

(b) Election to Rebuild.  In the event the Project is damaged by fire, explosion, or any other 
casualty, and if the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, do not elect to terminate this Fee 
Agreement, the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate may, in their sole discretion, commence 
to restore the Project with such reductions or enlargements in the scope of the Project, changes, alterations, 
and modifications (including the substitution and addition of other property) as may be desired by the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate. All such restorations and replacements shall be 
considered substitutions of the destroyed portions of the Project and shall be considered part of the Project 
for all purposes hereof, including, but not limited to, any amounts due by the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate, to the County under Section 3.1 hereof, to the extent allowed by the Act. 



 

 12 
PPAB 6126410v6 

(c) Election to Remove.  In the event the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
elect not to terminate this Fee Agreement pursuant to subsection (a) and elects not to rebuild pursuant to 
subsection (b), the damaged portions of the Project shall be treated as Removed Components. 

Section 3.8 Condemnation. 

(a) Complete Taking.  If, at any time during the Fee Term, title to or temporary use of the entire 
Project should become vested in a public or quasi-public authority by virtue of the exercise of a taking by 
condemnation, inverse condemnation or the right of eminent domain, or by voluntary transfer under threat 
of such taking, or in the event that title to a portion of the Project shall be taken rendering continued 
operation of the Project commercially infeasible in the judgment of the Company and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, then the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate (with respect to its Project 
property only) shall have the option to terminate this Fee Agreement in accordance with Section 3.21. 

(b) Partial Taking.  In the event of a partial taking of the Project or transfer in lieu thereof, the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, may elect: (i) to terminate this Fee Agreement in 
accordance with Section 3.21 (with respect to its Project property only); (ii) to repair and restore the Project, 
with such reductions or enlargements in the scope of the Project, changes, alterations and modifications 
(including the substitution and addition of other property) as may be desired by the Company and, as 
applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate; or (iii) to treat the portions of the Project so taken as Removed 
Components. 

Section 3.9 Maintenance of Existence.  The Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor 
Affiliate agree (i) that it shall not take any action which will materially impair the maintenance of its 
corporate existence and (ii) that it will maintain its good standing under all applicable provisions of State 
law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any changes in the corporate existence of the Company or, as 
applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, that result from internal restructuring or reorganization of the Company 
or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or their parents are specifically authorized hereunder. Likewise, 
benefits granted to the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, under this Fee Agreement shall, 
in the event of any such restructuring or reorganization, be transferred to the successor entity under the 
provisions of Section 3.12 hereof. Such transfers to a successor entity substantially similar in nature and 
function to the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, are specifically approved and authorized 
by the County without any further action by the County Council. 

Section 3.10 Confidentiality/Limitation on Access to Project.  The County acknowledges and 
understands that the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, utilize confidential and proprietary 
“state-of-the-art” information and data in their operations, and that a disclosure of any information, 
including, but not limited to, disclosures of financial or other information concerning the Company’s 
operations and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate’s operations, could result in substantial and irreparable 
harm to them and could thereby have a significant detrimental impact on their employees and also upon the 
County. Therefore, the County agrees that, except as required by law and pursuant to the County’s police 
powers, neither the County nor any employee, agent, or contractor of the County:  (i) shall request or be 
entitled to receive any such confidential or proprietary information; (ii) shall request or be entitled to inspect 
the Project or any property associated therewith; provided, however, that if an Event of Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing hereunder, the County shall be entitled to inspect the Project provided they shall 
comply with the remaining provisions of this Section; or (iii) shall knowingly and intentionally disclose or 
otherwise divulge any such confidential or proprietary information to any other person, firm, governmental 
body or agency, or any other entity unless specifically required to do so by State law. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, whenever the County shall be required by any governmental or financial entity to file or produce 
any reports, notices, returns or other documents while the Fee Agreement is in effect, the Company, and, 
as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or owner of the Project at the time shall promptly furnish to the County 
through the County Attorney the completed form of such required documents together with a certification 



 

 13 
PPAB 6126410v6 

by the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or owner that such documents are accurate and 
not in violation of any provisions of law or of the other documents of this transaction, and that the 
documents meet the legal requirements of such filing or delivery. In the event of the failure or refusal of 
the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate or owner to comply with this provision, the 
Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or owner agrees to pay the statement for attorneys’ 
fees and administrative time presented by the County for producing and filing such documents, such 
statement to be paid within thirty (30) days after presentation by the County, and to promptly pay any fees, 
penalties, assessments or damages imposed upon the County by reason of its failure to duly file or produce 
such documents. With respect to such fees, penalties, assessment or damages imposed by the County, only 
the individual party failing or refusing to furnish such information shall be liable therefor. Prior to disclosing 
any confidential or proprietary information or allowing inspections of the Project or any property associated 
therewith, the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or owner may require the execution of 
reasonable, individual confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements by any officers, employees or agents 
of the County or any supporting or cooperating governmental agencies who would gather, receive or review 
such information or conduct or review the results of any inspections. 

Section 3.11 Assignment and Subletting. This Fee Agreement may be assigned in whole or in 
part and the Project may be subleased as a whole or in part by the Company so long as such assignment or 
sublease is made in compliance with Section 12-44-120 of the Act. To the extent any further consent is 
required by the Act and requested, the County may grant such consent by adoption of a Resolution, not to 
be unreasonably withheld. 

Section 3.12 Addition of Sponsor Affiliates.  Subject to any applicable state law, the County 
agrees to approve any future Sponsor Affiliate that would qualify for the benefits offered under this Fee 
Agreement. Pursuant to Section 12-44-130 of the Act, the Company may request the addition of a Sponsor 
Affiliate and, upon approval by resolution of the County Council shall become eligible for the benefits 
under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 3.13 Events of Default.  The following are “Events of Default” under this Fee 
Agreement, and the term “Events of Default” means, whenever used with reference to this Fee Agreement, 
any one or more of the following occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, to make, upon levy, the 
FILOT Payments described in Section 3.1 hereof; provided, however, that the Company or, as applicable, 
the Sponsor Affiliate, shall be entitled to all redemption rights for non-payment of taxes granted by 
applicable statutes; or 

(b) Failure of the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, to perform any of the other 
material terms, conditions, obligations or covenants of the Company hereunder, which failure shall continue 
for a period of ninety (90) days after written notice from the County to the Company specifying such failure 
and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County shall agree in writing to an extension of such time 
prior to its expiration.  

Section 3.14 Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default shall have occurred and 
shall be continuing, the County, after having given written notice to the Company or, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, of such default and after the expiration of a ninety (90) day cure period shall have the 
option to take any one or more of the following remedial actions: 

(a) Terminate the Fee Agreement; or 

(b) Take whatever action at law or in equity that may appear necessary or desirable to collect 
the other amounts due and thereafter to become due or to enforce performance and observance of any 



 

 14 
PPAB 6126410v6 

obligation, agreement or covenant of the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, under this Fee 
Agreement. 

Section 3.15 Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the County 
under this Fee Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedies, but each and every 
remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other lawful remedy now or hereafter existing. 
No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any continuing default hereunder shall 
impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and power 
may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. In order to entitle the County 
to exercise any remedy reserved to it, it shall not be necessary to give notice, other than such notice as may 
be herein expressly required and such notice required at law or equity which the Company is not competent 
to waive. 

Section 3.16 Leased Equipment.  To the extent that applicable law allows or is revised or 
construed to allow the benefits of the Act, in the form of FILOT Payments as described in Section 3.1 
hereof, to be applicable to personal property to be installed at the Project and leased to but not purchased 
by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, from at least one third party, under any form of 
lease, then that personal property, at the Company’s or Sponsor Affiliates’ sole election, will become 
subject to FILOT Payments to the same extent as the Equipment under this Fee Agreement, upon proper 
application of the law and applicable procedures by the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate.  

Section 3.17 Waiver of Recapitulation Requirements.  As permitted under Section 12-44-55 of 
the Act, the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, and the County hereby waive application 
of any of the recapitulation requirements as set forth in Section 12-44-55, to the extent that, and so long as, 
the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, provides the County with copies of all filings which 
the Company is required to make pursuant to the Act. 

Section 3.18 Fiscal Year; Property Tax Year.  If the Company’s and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliates, fiscal year changes so as to cause a change in the Company’s or Sponsor Affiliates’ 
property tax year, then the timing of the requirements of this Fee Agreement are automatically revised 
accordingly but only with respect to the party whose fiscal year changes.  

Section 3.19 Reports; Filings. 

(a) Each year during the term of this Fee Agreement, the Company, and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, shall deliver to the Anderson County Auditor a copy of their most recent annual property 
tax returns filed with the Department with respect to the applicable portions of the Project. 

(b) The Company shall file a copy of this Agreement, as well as a copy of the completed forms 
PT-443 of the Department, with the Anderson County Auditor, the Anderson County Assessor, and the 
Department within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 3.20 Payment of Administrative Expenses. The Company will reimburse, or cause 
reimbursement to, the County from time to time for reasonable and necessary amounts that are customary 
and standard, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs, actually incurred, or that will be actually 
incurred, by the County with respect to the County’s fulfillment of its obligations under the Fee Agreement 
and other related documents (“Transaction Documents”) in the implementation of its terms and provisions 
(“Administrative Expenses”). The Company will make such reimbursement of Administrative Expenses 
upon written request therefor, but in no event later than sixty (60) day after receiving written notice from 
the County specifying the nature of such expense and requesting the payment of the same. The County 
acknowledges that it imposes no charges in the nature of impact fees or recurring fees in connection with 
the incentives authorized by the Transaction Documents, and, aside from reasonable attorney’s fees set 



 

 15 
PPAB 6126410v6 

forth below, or as may be necessitated in the future by request of the Company pertaining to matters outside 
of the immediate scope of this Agreement, the County anticipates (but cannot guarantee) that no out of 
pocket expenses in connection with the Transaction Documents and the transactions authorized hereby 
should arise in the future. The parties understand that counsel to the County may invoice the Company for 
those expenses related to the review of the Transaction Documents and all resolutions, ordinances and other 
documentation related thereto in an amount not to exceed $5,000. 

Section 3.21 Termination.  Prior to the stated expiration of the Term of this Agreement, the 
Company may, at any time by written notice to the County, provide for the termination of this Agreement, 
effectively immediately upon giving such notice or upon such date as may be specified in the notice; 
provided that the Company shall have made payment to the County of all applicable payments payable 
under this Agreement as of such time. Upon any such termination, and subject to any provisions herein 
which shall by their express terms be deemed to survive any termination of this Agreement, the sole 
consequence to the Company shall be that it shall no longer be entitled to the benefit of the FILOT Payments 
provided herein and the property constituting the Project shall thereafter be subject to ad valorem tax 
treatment required by law and, except as may be expressly provided herein, in no event shall the Company 
be required to repay to the County the amount of any tax benefit previously received hereunder.   

ARTICLE IV 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 4.1 Notices.  Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be 
provided under this Fee Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or three 
business days after deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, 
postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party may hereafter furnish 
in writing to the other party), except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any 
notice, in which case such provision shall control: 

AS TO THE COUNTY:  Anderson County, South Carolina 
ATTN: County Administrator 
Post Office Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina  29622 

 
WITH A COPY TO:  Anderson County, South Carolina 
(shall not constitute notice) ATTN: County Attorney 

Post Office Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina  29622 

 
AS TO THE COMPANY: Hartwell Solar, LLC 

c/o Legal Department 
3402 Pico Blvd. 
Santa Monica, CA 90405 

 
 
WITH A COPY TO:  Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP 
(shall not constitute notice) ATTN: Sam Moses 

1221 Main Street, Suite 1100 
Columbia, SC 29201 

Section 4.2 Binding Effect.  This Fee Agreement is binding, in accordance with its terms, upon 
and inure to the benefit of the Company, any Sponsor Affiliate and the County, and their respective 
successors and assigns, to the extent allowed by law. In the event of the dissolution of the County or the 



 

 16 
PPAB 6126410v6 

consolidation of any part of the County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights of 
the County to any other such political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises and 
agreements of this Fee Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from 
time to time and any entity, officer, board, commission, agency or instrumentality to whom or to which any 
power or duty of the County has been transferred. 

Section 4.3 Counterparts.  This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, and all of the counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same 
instrument. 

Section 4.4 Governing Law.  This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection 
herewith shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State. 

Section 4.5 Headings.  The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are 
inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 4.6 Amendments.  The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or 
amended in writing by an agreement or agreements lawfully entered into between the parties. 

Section 4.7 Further Assurance.  From time to time, and at the Company’s and Sponsor 
Affiliates’ expense, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Company and Sponsor Affiliates such 
additional instruments as either may reasonably request to effectuate the purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 4.8 Severability.  If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, and such illegal, invalid 
or unenforceable provision shall be reformed so as to most closely effectuate the legal, valid and enforceable 
intent thereof and so as to afford the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, with the maximum 
benefits to be derived herefrom, it being the intention of the County to offer the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate, the strong inducement to locate the Project in the County. 

Section 4.9 Limited Obligation.  NEITHER THE PROJECT NOR THE NEGOTIATION, 
EXECUTION, DELIVERY, OR IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS FEE AGREEMENT SHALL GIVE 
RISE TO ANY PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY OR ANY INCORPORATED 
MUNICIPALITY NOR TO ANY CHARGE AGAINST THEIR GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING 
POWER. 

Section 4.10 No Liability of County’s Personnel. All covenants, stipulations, promises, 
agreements and obligations of the County a contained herein shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, 
promises, agreements and obligations of the County and shall be binding upon any member of the County 
Council or any officer, agent, servant, or employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and 
not in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse shall be had for the payment of any moneys hereunder 
against any member of the governing body of the County or any officer, agent, servants or employee of the 
County and no recourse shall be had against any member of the County Council or any officer, agent, 
servant or employee of the County for the performance of any of the covenants and agreements of the 
County herein contained or for any claims based thereon except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 4.11 Indemnification Covenants.  

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Agreement or in any other agreements with 
the County, the Company agrees to indemnify and save the County, its County Council members, elected 
officials, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”) harmless against and 
from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising from the conduct or management 



 

 17 
PPAB 6126410v6 

of, or from any work or thing done on the Project by the Company, its members, officers, employees, 
servants, contractors, and agents during the Term, and, the Company further, shall indemnify and save the 
Indemnified Parties harmless against and from all claims arising during the Term from (i) any condition of 
the Project, (ii) any breach or default on the part of the Company in the performance of any of its obligations 
under this Agreement, (iii) any act of negligence of the Company or any of its agents, contractors, servants, 
employees or licensees pertaining to the Project or this Agreement, (iv) except in such cases where the 
County has released the Company pursuant to an approved assignment of this Agreement, any act of 
negligence of any assignee or sublessee of the Company, or of any agents, contractors, servants, employees 
or licensees of any assignee or sublessee of the Company pertaining to the Project or this Agreement, or (v) 
any environmental violation, condition, or effect with respect to the Project. The Company shall indemnify 
and save the County harmless from and against all costs and expenses incurred in or in connection with any 
such claim arising as aforesaid or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon 
notice from the County, the Company shall defend it in any such action, prosecution or proceeding with 
counsel reasonably acceptable to the County.  

 
(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified Parties 

shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Agreement, or the undertakings required of 
the county hereunder, by reason of the granting of the FILOT, by reason of the execution of this Agreement, 
by reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the company, or by reason of the county’s 
relationship to the Project or by the operation of the Project by the Company, including all claims, liabilities 
or losses arising in connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, 
nevertheless, if the County or any other Indemnified Party should incur any such pecuniary liability, then 
in such event the Company shall indemnify and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of 
any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection 
with any such claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the 
Company shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with counsel reasonably acceptable to the 
County; provided, however, that the Indemnified Parties notify the Company as soon as it is aware of any 
pending claim, liability or loss, and that such indemnity shall not apply to the extent that any such claim is 
attributable to (i) the negligent or grossly negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct of the County, 
its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any material breach of this Agreement by the County. 

 
(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 

covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party resulting 
from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company, shall survive any termination of 
this Agreement with respect to the Company. 

Section 4.12 Force Majeure.  The Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, shall 
not be responsible for any delays or non-performance caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by 
strikes, accidents, freight embargoes, fire, floods, inability to obtain materials, conditions arising from 
government orders or regulations, war or national emergency, acts of God, and any other cause, similar or 
dissimilar, beyond the Company’s, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliates’ reasonable control. 

Section 4.13 Decommissioning.  Once any portion of the Project has been placed in service, the 
Company shall obtain a bond listing the County as obligee in the amount of $10,000 per megawatt of output 
AC produced by the Project to ensure performance of Company’s Decommissioning obligations within six 
(6) months of the Company’s Abandonment of the Project Site, termination of the lease governing the 
Project Site, or other termination of the Project by the Company.  The obligations arising under this section 
survive termination of the Fee Agreement.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused this 
Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council and to be 



 

 18 
PPAB 6126410v6 

attested by the Clerk to County Council; and the Company and Sponsor Affiliate have each caused this Fee 
Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 

 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

_______________________________________ 
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 
 
 
 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Janie L. Turmon, Assistant Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
  



 

 19 
PPAB 6126410v6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused this 
Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council and to be 
attested by the Clerk to County Council; and the Company and Sponsor Affiliate have each caused this Fee 
Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 

 
HARTWELL SOLAR, LLC 
 
        
 
 
By:        
 
 
Title:        
 
 
 
        
Martha E. Mullikin 
 
 
 
        
Robert F. Mullikin Jr. 
 
 
 
 
MULLIKIN FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
 
        
 
 
By:        
 
 
Title:        
 
 
 

  



 

 20 
PPAB 6126410v6 

EXHIBIT A 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

 
TMS # 115-00-02-010 
 
TMS # 114-00-07-008 
 
TMS # 114-00-08-003 
 
TMS # 114-00-02-011 
 
TMS # 114-00-06-010 
 
TMS # 114-00-02-003 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-039 
Page 1 of 3 

Welpine Rd @ Memory Ln 

 
Ordinance #2021-039 

 
An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning 
Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 11.23 acres from I-2 (Industrial District) to S-
1 (Services District) on a parcel of land on Welpline Rd, in the Denver-Sandy 
Springs Precinct shown in Deed Book 14951 page 58. The parcel is further 
identified as TMS #93-00-04-004. 
 
Whereas, Anderson County, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”) has previously adopted Anderson County 
Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), 
which Ordinance contains the Anderson County Official Zoning Map (the “Map”); 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Ordinance contains provisions providing for the amendment of the 
Map; and, 
 
Whereas, County Council desires to amend the Map by adopting a zoning map 
amendment from I-2 to S-1 for +/- 11.23 acres of TMS #93-00-04-004 described 
above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 
Public Hearing on June 8, 2021, during which it reviewed the proposed rezoning from 
I-2 to S-1 for +/- 11.23 acres of TMS #93-00-04-004 described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Council has duly advertised and held a Public 
Hearing on August 17, 2021 regarding said amendment of the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map:  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
  



Ordinance #2021-039 
Page 2 of 3 

Welpine Rd @ Memory Ln 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 
 
 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that this proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Anderson County Comprehensive Plan and in accord 
with requirements of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29, 
Article 5. 

 
2. The Anderson County Council hereby amends the Anderson County 

Official Zoning Map as previously adopted July 20, 1999, by Anderson 
County Ordinance #99-004 to rezone from I-2 to S-1 +/- 11.23 acres of 
TMS #93-00-04-004 described above.         

 
3. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remaining terms and provisions of this 
ordinance, all of which  are hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 
5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and 

after third reading and enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-039 
Page 3 of 3 

Welpine Rd @ Memory Ln 
 
 
ATTEST:  Ordinance 2021-039 
 
 
 
_____________________________         __________________________________   
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
_____________________________    
Janie L. Tuirmon       
Interim Clerk to Council 
              
   
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
        
 
 
     
Anderson County Attorney  
     
 
1st Reading:      August 3, 2021 
 
2nd Reading:      August 17, 2021 
 
3rd Reading:  September 7, 2021 
 
Public Hearing:  August 17, 2021 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-038 
Page 1 of 3 

Highway 187; Fants Grove Rd; Burns Bridge Rd.  

 
Ordinance #2021-038 

 
An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning 
Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 136.83 acres from R-20 (Single-Family 
Residential) to IZD (Innovative Zoning District) on three parcels of land in the 
Mt. Tabor Precinct shown in Deed Book 11262, 11262, and 12920 page 00024, 
00024, and 00087 respectively; and including the Statement of Intent for 
“Cornerstone” dated April 30, 2021. The parcels are further identified as TMS 
#043-00-01-006, 043-00-01-020 and 043-00-11-021. 
 
Whereas, Anderson County, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”) has previously adopted Anderson County 
Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), 
which Ordinance contains the Anderson County Official Zoning Map (the “Map”); 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Ordinance contains provisions providing for the amendment of the 
Map; and, 
 
Whereas, County Council desires to amend the Map by adopting a zoning map 
amendment from R-20 to IZD for +/- 136.83 acres of TMS #043-00-01-006, 043-00-01-
020 and 043-00-11-021 described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 
Public Hearing on June 8, 2021, during which it reviewed the proposed rezoning from 
R-20 to IZD +/- 136.83 acres of TMS #043-00-01-006, 043-00-01-020 and 043-00-11-021 
including the Statement of Intent dated April 30, 2021; and,  
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Council has duly advertised and held a Public 
Hearing on August 17, 2021, regarding said amendment of the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map:  
 
 
 

 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-038 
Page 2 of 3 

Highway 187; Fants Grove Rd; Burns Bridge Rd.  
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 
 
 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that this proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Anderson County Comprehensive Plan and in accord 
with requirements of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29, 
Article 5. 

 
2. The Anderson County Council hereby amends the Anderson County 

Official Zoning Map as previously adopted July 20, 1999, by Anderson 
County Ordinance #99-004 to rezone from R-20 to IZD +/- 136.83 acres of 
TMS #043-00-01-006, 043-00-01-020 and 043-00-11-021 described above, 
including the Statement of Intent dated April 30, 2021.        

 
3. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remaining terms and provisions of this 
ordinance, all of which  are hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 
5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and 

after third reading and enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-038 
Page 3 of 3 

Highway 187; Fants Grove Rd; Burns Bridge Rd.  
 
ATTEST:  Ordinance 2021-038 
 
 
 
_____________________________         __________________________________   
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
_____________________________    
Seth A. Riddley       
Interim Clerk to Council 
              
   
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
        
 
 
     
Anderson County Attorney  
     
 
1st Reading:      August 3, 2021 
 
2nd Reading:      August 17, 2021 
 
3rd Reading:  September 7, 2021 
 
Public Hearing:  August 17, 2021 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-037 
Page 1 of 3 

Tract 1-B Bowen Rd 

 
Ordinance #2021-037 

 
An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning 
Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 2.193 acres from C-1N (Neighborhood 
Commercial) to R-20 (Single-Family Residential) on a parcel of land, 
identified as Tract 1-B Bowen Rd in the Hopewell Precinct shown in Deed Book 
S2763 page 00006. The parcel is further identified as part of TMS #145-07-01-
010.  
  
Whereas, Anderson County, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”) has previously adopted Anderson County 
Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), 
which Ordinance contains the Anderson County Official Zoning Map (the “Map”); 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Ordinance contains provisions providing for the amendment of the 
Map; and, 
 
Whereas, County Council desires to amend the Map by adopting a zoning map 
amendment from C-1N to R-20 for +/- 2.193 acres of TMS #145-07-01-010 described 
above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 
Public Hearing on June 8, 2021, during which it reviewed the proposed rezoning from 
to C-1N to R-20 +/- 2.193 acres of TMS #145-07-01-010 described above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Council has duly advertised and held a Public 
Hearing on August 17, 2021 regarding said amendment of the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map:  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
  



Ordinance #2021-037 
Page 2 of 3 

Tract 1-B Bowen Rd 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 
 
 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that this proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Anderson County Comprehensive Plan and in accord 
with requirements of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29, 
Article 5. 

 
2. The Anderson County Council hereby amends the Anderson County 

Official Zoning Map as previously adopted July 20, 1999, by Anderson 
County Ordinance #99-004 to rezone from C-1N to R-20 +/- 2.193 acres 
of TMS #145-07-01-010 described above.         

 
3. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remaining terms and provisions of this 
ordinance, all of which  are hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 
5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and 

after third reading and enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-037 
Page 3 of 3 

Tract 1-B Bowen Rd 
 
 
ATTEST:  Ordinance 2021-037 
 
 
 
_____________________________         __________________________________   
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
_____________________________    
Janie L. Turmon       
Assistant Clerk to Council 
              
   
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
        
 
 
     
Anderson County Attorney  
     
 
1st Reading:      August 3, 2021 
 
2nd Reading:      August 17, 2021 
 
3rd Reading:  September 7, 2021 
 
Public Hearing:  August 17, 2021 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-051 
 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE AGREEMENT FOR DEVELOPMENT OF A 

JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK BY AND BETWEEN 
GREENVILLE COUNTY AND ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, SO AS 
TO INCLUDE ADDITIONAL PROPERTY IN GREENVILLE COUNTY AS PART 
OF THE JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK, AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATING THERETO. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Greenville County, South Carolina (“Greenville County”) and Anderson County, South 
Carolina (“Anderson County” and together with Greenville County, the “Counties”) are authorized under 
Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Section 4-1-170 of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Act”), to jointly develop an industrial or business park within the 
geographical boundaries of one or more of the member Counties; 
 
 WHEREAS, in order to promote the economic welfare of the citizens of the Counties by providing 
employment and other benefits to the citizens of the Counties, the Counties agreed to so jointly develop an 
industrial and business park (the “Park”) through the delivery by the parties of an Agreement for Development 
of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park dated as of December 31, 2015, as amended (collectively, the 
“Park Agreement”);  
 
 WHEREAS, the Park Agreement, by its terms, contemplates the expansion of the Park by inclusion 
of additional parcels within the Park from time to time, pursuant to ordinances of the county councils of 
Greenville County and Anderson County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Counties now desire to amend the Park Agreement to expand the Park to include 
certain parcels in Greenville County as additional parcels in the Park;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL: 

 SECTION 1: It is hereby determined that the Park Agreement is hereby amended for purposes of 
expanding the Park premises located in Greenville County to include the property described in Schedule I 
attached hereto (the “Property”). Accordingly, upon enactment of a corresponding ordinance of approval by 
Greenville County Council, Exhibit A to the Park Agreement shall hereby be deemed amended, without further 
action by the Counties, to include the Property. 
 
 SECTION 2: This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon enactment. 
 
 



2 

 ENACTED this _______ day of _____________, 2021.  
 
 
      ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
      ______________________________________________  
      Chairman, Anderson County Council  
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Janie L. Turmon, Assistant Clerk to County Council 
 
1st Reading:   
2nd Reading:   
3rd Reading:   
 
Public Hearing:  
 



I-1 

SCHEDULE I 
 

Addition to Exhibit A 
to Agreement for Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park  

dated as of December 31, 2015, as amended, 
between Greenville County and Anderson County 

 
Tax map number 0542 01010 2009 
Tax map number 0542 01010 2011 
Tax map number 0542 01010 2006 
Tax map number 0542 01010 2007 
Tax map number 0542 01010 2008 
Tax map number 0542 01010 2010 
 
 
 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 

I, the undersigned Clerk of the County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby 
certify that the foregoing is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of __________, 20__, _________, 20__ and 
________, 20__, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and an 
original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 WITNESS MY HAND this _____ day of ___________, 2021.  
 
 
 
 ____________________________________ 
 Clerk to County Council of  
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 



ANDERSON COUNTY 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-052 

 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING A FEE-IN-LIEU-OF-TAX 
ARRANGEMENT ON BEHALF OF PROJECT WOODMONT (THE 
“COMPANY”) PURSUANT TO A FEE-IN-LIEU-OF-TAX AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (THE “COUNTY”) 
AND THE COMPANY; AUTHORIZING A 5-YEAR EXTENSION OF THE 
INVESTMENT PERIOD FOR ALL INVESTMENTS OVER THE MINIMUM 
INVESTMENT REQUIREMENT; AUTHORIZING THE GRANTING OF 
CERTAIN INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS TO THE COMPANY; AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATING TO THE FOREGOING. (TITLE ONLY) 

 



RESOLUTION NO.  2021-040 
 

A RESOLUTION TO NAME JANIE L. TURMON AS ASSISTANT CLERK TO COUNTY 
COUNCIL TO SERVE DURING THE ABSENCE OF THE CLERK TO COUNCIL; AND 
OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2-36(3) of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, 

South Carolina the County Council may appoint and has appointed a person, not a member of the 

County Council, to serve as Clerk at the pleasure of County Council; and 

 WHEREAS, the County Council finds it advisable to name an Assistant Clerk to Council 

to serve during any absence of the Clerk to Council. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 

assembled that: 

 1. The County Council hereby names Janie L. Turmon to serve as Assistant Clerk to 

Council during any absence of the clerk to council. 

 2. All orders and resolutions in conflict herewith are, to the extent of such conflict 

only, repealed and rescinded.   

 3. Should any part or portion of this resolution be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such finding shall not affect the 

remainder hereof, all of which is hereby deemed separable.  

 4. This resolution shall take effect and be in force immediately upon enactment.  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 RESOLVED this 17th day of August, 2021, in meeting duly assembled. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
              
Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator   
    
       
Janie L. Turmon 
Assistant Clerk to County Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
  
 
 



 

MEMORANDUM 
ANDERSON COUNTY DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

 
 

DATE: August 2, 2021 
 

TO: Janie Turmon 
Assistant Clerk to Council 

 
FROM: Tim Cartee 

Land Development Administrator 
 

CC: Holt Hopkins, Alesia Hunter 
 

SUBJECT: The Estates at Pine Lake   
 

 

Based on the recommendation of the Roads and Bridges Department, would you please place on 
the next County Council Agenda for consideration of acceptance for the following roads into the 
County Maintenance System at their next meeting. 
 
This will add 1,580 feet of paved roads to the county maintenance system. 
 
Developer:   D SQUARED, LLC  
Location:     Lakeside Dr. 
County Council District:  2 
Roads:   Estateside Drive 
 
Please feel free to contact me at (260-4719) if you need more information. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District 5 

 
Brett Sanders 
V. Chairman, District 4 

John B Wright 
Council District 1 

 
Glenn Davis 
Council District 2 

Ray Graham 
Council District 3 

 
Jimmy Davis 
Council District 6 

Cindy Wilson 
Council District 7 

 
Lacey Croegaert 
Clerk to Council 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns | County Administrator 
rburns@andersoncountysc.org 

 
401 E Rivers Street, Anderson, SC 29621 | www.andersoncountysc.org 

mailto:rburns@andersoncountysc.org
mailto:rburns@andersoncountysc.org
http://www.andersoncountysc.org/


                 
                MEMORANDUM 
                                     ANDERSON COUNTY ROADS AND BRIDGES 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District 5 

 

Brett Sanders 
V. Chairman, District 4 

 

John B. Wright 
Council District 1 

 

Glenn Davis 
Council District 2 

Ray Graham 
Council District 3  

 

Jimmy Davis 
Council District 6 
 

Cindy Wilson 
Council District 7 

 

Lacey Croegaert 
Clerk to Council 

 
 

 
 

Roads & Bridges Department 

735 Michelin Boulevard, Anderson, SC 29626  |  (864) 260-4190 |   Fax (864) 260-4629 |  www.andersoncountysc.org 

 
 

 

Rusty Burns | County Administrator 
rburns@andersoncountysc.org 

DATE:             7/30/2021 

 

TO:   Alesia Hunter 

                                    Development Standards 

 

FROM:   Norman McGill    

Roadway Management Supervisor 

 

CC:                             Holt Hopkins 

    

 

     SUBJECT:                     Estates at Pinelake 

 
To the best of my ability, I certify that there are no known drainage issues in Estates at Pinelake on the 

roads listed below. All drainage facilities and roadways within the proposed county right of way meet the 

county standards that were approved by the Planning Commission from the preliminary plat. The roads of this 

phase of the subdivision are now eligible to be considered for acceptance into the county maintenance system. 

This will add 1,580 feet of paved roads to the county maintenance system. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
District: 2 

Location:            Estates at Pinelake 

Roads:    Estateside Drive (P-14-0118) 

 


















































































	Agenda August 17, 2021
	2a. R 2021-035
	2b. R2021-038
	2c. R2021-039
	3. Minutes July 20, 2021
	6a. Ordinance 2021-046 3rd Reading
	6b. Ordinance 2021-050 3rd Reading
	6c. Ordinance 2021-032 3rd Reading
	6d. Ordinance 2021-033 3rd Reading
	6e. Ordinance 2021-034 3rd Reading
	6f. Ordinance 2021-035 3rd Reading 
	6g. Ordinance 2021-036 3rd Reading
	6i. Ordinance 2021-031 3rd Reading
	6h. Ordinance 2021-029 3rd Reading
	7a. Ordinance 2021-039 2nd Reading
	7b. Ordinance 2021-038 2nd Reading
	7c. Ordinance 2021-037 2nd Reading
	8a. Ordinance 2021- 051 1st Reading
	8b. Ordinance No. 2021-052 1st Reading
	9a. R2021-040
	10a. Road Acceptance
	11a. Bid Approval Wellington Park
	14a. Cesa
	14b. Friends of Broadway Lake
	14c. Town Of West Pelzer
	15a. Building and Codes
	15b. Special Projects
	15c. Transfers
	15d. Paving



